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our most popular 
check-in date

HomeToGo
2022 wrapped

our top travel 
destination

Heringsdorf, 
Germany

August 6, 
2022

36,300+
pets stayed 
with us



60 guests
our record for biggest 
group in one rental in 
Liege, Belgium 

364 days
our longest stay 
was at a rental in 
Biassono, Italy

the location of our 
most booked 
rental

Oosterhout, 
Netherlands

the location of our 
biggest splurge 
rental 

Cape Coral, 
Florida
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Key Business Highlights
The marketplace with the world's largest 
selection of vacation rentals 

Demand

offers

monthly visits in
peak months

~50m

 trusted
partners

60k+

15m+

Supply

countries 
globally

25

EUR 146.8m

Technology
platform

Consumers
Travelers

Online 
Travel Agencies
Property managers
Homeowners

IFRS Revenues 
in 2022

KEY BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

HomeToGo's technology platform self-accelerates a virtuous cycle 
of growth and innovation as we use data to drive better outcomes 
for our partners. This leads to accelerated adoption of our technology 
solutions, which drives long-term growth and margins, and in return 
allows us to fund our efforts to attract and retain consumers – in 
return creating a highly scalable flywheel effect.

8
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About HomeToGo

Our brands

HomeToGo was founded in 2014 with a vision 
to make incredible homes easily accessible 
to everyone. To pursue this vision, HomeToGo 
was able to build and constantly grow a 
trusted and easy-to-use technology platform 
that brings together property suppliers with 
travelers from all across the world.

HomeToGo operates a marketplace for vaca-
tion rentals that connects millions of travelers 
searching for a perfect place to stay with 
thousands of inventory suppliers across the 
globe, resulting in the world's most compre-
hensive inventory coverage in the alternative 
accommodation space. HomeToGo's market-
place is beneficial to both of its 

customer groups: Consumers who visit 
HomeToGo's websites gain access to the 
largest inventory in one place, and supply 
partners who use the platform's reach and 
technology solutions are better able to serve 
a wide range of customers and generate 
more high-quality demand. While HomeToGo 
SE's registered office is located in Luxem-
bourg, HomeToGo GmbH is headquartered 
in Berlin, Germany. HomeToGo operates 
localized apps and websites in 25 countries, 
including brands Agriturismo.it, AMIVAC, 
Atraveo, Casamundo, CaseVacanza.it,  
e-domizil, EscapadaRural, Tripping.com and 
Wimdu, as well as software brands SECRA 
and Smoobu.

Local apps & websites
in 25 countries

600+
employees

Founded
in 2014

Listed as ‘HTG’ on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange



10  2022 Top
Booked 
Destinations

Germany
 Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
 Schleswig-Holstein
 Lower Saxony

France
 Provence-Alpes-Côte D’Azur
 Brittany
 Occitanie

United Kingdom
 England
 Scotland
 Wales

United States
 Florida
 Texas
 California



 

Croatia
 Istria
 Primorje-Gorski Kotar County 
 Split-Dalmatia County

Spain
 Andalusia
 Catalonia
 Valencian Community

Austria
 Tyrol
 Salzburg
 Carinthia

Denmark
 Syddanmark Region
 Central Denmark Region
 North Denmark Region

Italy
 Tuscany
 Veneto
 Lombardy

Netherlands
 North Holland
 Zeeland
 Gelderland
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KPIs Overview 
Duravel (France)



2022 At a Glance

Booking 
Revenues
vs 2021
vs 2019

€ 31.4m
36%
125%

€ 163.7m
32%

106%

Booking Revenues –  
CPA Onsite
vs 2021
vs 2019

€ 14.6m
65%

277%

€ 76.7m
53%

283%

Booking Revenues  
Onsite Share 
vs 2021
vs 2019

62%
+19pp
+32pp

54%
+11pp
+28pp

IFRS  
Revenues
vs 2021
vs 2019

€ 20.7m
(3)%
114%

€ 146.8m
55%
111%

IFRS Revenues – 

vs 2021
vs 2019

€ 7.1m
178%
645%

€ 23.7m
169%
517%

Adj. EBITDA

vs 2021
vs 2019

€ (16.1)m
(263)%
(90)%

€ (20.7)m
2%

(29)%

Adj. EBITDA Margin

vs 2021
vs 2019

(77.7)%
(56.9)pp
+9.7pp

(14.1)%
+8.1pp
+9.0pp

Q4 2022 Full Year 2022

Note: Please refer to corresponding definitions in the Glossary

Subscriptions & Services

HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022
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KPIs Overview

Q4/2019 Q4/2021 Q4/2022 22 vs. 19 22 vs. 21 2019 2021 2022 22 vs. 19 22 vs. 21

Booking Revenues1 

(€'000)
13,949 23,146 31,410 125% 36% 79,649 123,555 163,711 106% 32%

CPA Onsite 3,879 8,830 14,612 277% 65% 20,017 50,168 76,730 283% 53%

CPA Offsite 6,547 6,585 7,247 11% 10% 36,635 44,350 33,965 (7)% (23)%

CPC + CPL 2,572 5,177 1,781 (31)% (66)% 19,162 20,249 30,582 60% 51%

Subscriptions & 
Services

952 2,553 7,769 716% 204% 3,835 8,788 22,433 485% 155%

Booking Revenues 
Onsite share2 30% 43% 62% +32pp +19pp 26% 44% 54% +28pp +11pp

IFRS Revenues 
(€'000)

9,659 21,206 20,658 114% (3)% 69,564 94,839 146,839 111% 55%

CPA Onsite 1,461 6,585 6,763 363% 3% 17,195 31,523 66,877 289% 112%

CPA Offsite 4,714 6,735 4,905 4% (27)% 29,538 34,127 25,716 (13)% (25)%

CPC + CPL 2,532 5,333 1,897 (25)% (64)% 18,996 20,401 30,587 60% 50%

Subscriptions & 
Services

952 2,553 7,093 645% 178% 3,835 8,788 23,660 517% 169%

Adjusted EBITDA3 
(€'000)

(8,447) (4,424) (16,060) (90)% (263)% (16,041) (21,070) (20,661) (29)% 2%

Adjusted EBITDA 
margin

n/a (20.9)% (77.7)% n/a (57)pp (23.1)% (22.2)% (14.1)% +9pp +8pp

Net Income n/a (12,344) (17,026) n/a (38)% (29,373) (177,025) (53,499) 82% 70%

Cash & cash 
equivalents + other 
highly liquid 
short-term financial 
assets (€'000)

10,972 252,910 161,557 1372% (36)% 10,972 252,910 161,557 1372% (36)%

Equity (€'000) 35,480 290,451 263,697 643% (9)% 35,480 290,451 263,697 643% (9)%

Equity ratio 55% 80% 77% +22pp (3)pp 55% 80% 77% +22pp (3)pp

Gross Booking 
Value (GBV) 
(€'000)

211,171 243,691 300,500 42% 23% 1,226,312 1,437,515 1,644,265 34% 14%

CPA (Onsite + 
Offsite)

151,744 185,000 212,293 40% 15% 827,939 1,134,000 1,149,011 39% 1%

Bookings (#) 173,353 140,776 195,811 13% 39% 1,018,815 929,419 1,026,097 1% 10%

CPA Onsite 40,041 82,176 144,086 260% 75% 211,301 492,281 745,293 253% 51%

CPA Offsite 133,312 58,600 51,725 (61)% (12)% 807,514 437,138 280,804 (65)% (36)%

CPA Basket Size4 (€) 884 1,057 1,084 23% 3% 818 1,252 1,120 37% (11)%

CPA Take Rate5 6.9% 8.3% 9.9% +3.0pp +1.6pp 6.8% 8.3% 9.6% +2.8pp +1.3pp

Cancellations 
(€'000)

(2,409) (3,035) (4,310) (79)% (42)% (7,275) (24,797) (22,286) (206)% 10%

Cancellation Rate 17% 16% 14% +4pp +2pp 9% 20% 14% (5)pp +6pp

KPIs OVERVIEw

1  Non-IFRS operating metric to measure intra-month performance view defined as net Euro value of the commission generated by 
 transactions (CPA, CPC, CPL etc.) before cancellation. Booking Revenues do not correspond to, and should not be considered as alternative  
 or substitute for, IFRS Revenues recognized in accordance with IFRS
2  Percentage of the value of CPA Onsite Booking Revenues relative to Booking Revenues net of Subscriptions & Services
3  Net income (loss) before (i) income taxes; (ii) finance income, finance expenses; (iii) depreciation and amortization; adjusted for (iv) expenses  
 for share-based compensation and (v) one-off items. One-off items relate to one-time and therefore non-recurring expenses and income 
 outside the normal course of operational business. Among others those would include for example income and expenses for business 
 combinations and other merger & acquisitions (M&A) activities, litigation, restructuring, government grants and other items that are not 
 recurring on a regular basis and thus impede comparison of the underlying operational performance between financial periods.
4 CPA basket size defined as CPA Gross Booking Value per booking, before cancellations
5   CPA Take Rate is the margin realized on the gross booking amount and defined as CPA Booking Revenues divided by GBV from CPA Booking 

Revenues (excl. Revenues from Hotels and Subscriptions & Services)
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2022 was a year of outstanding accomplishments 
and milestones. The post-pandemic travel rebound 
proved to deliver record performance across all parts 
of our business amidst global macroeconomic un-
certainty, proving that vacation rentals remain one of 
the most resilient travel verticals.

We recognize this is contrasted with a series of chal-
lenging events in 2022 that affected the global land-
scape at an unforeseen pace. The war in Ukraine 
captured the world’s attention and was a devastation 
to many. We continue to stand in solidarity with 
Ukraine and hope for a peaceful resolution as soon 
as possible.

The impact of the halting of gas supplies from Rus-
sia to the European Union resulted in rising energy 
prices and high inflation, rapidly increasing global 
interest rates, and a drop in global stock markets. 

Despite the complex, dynamic situation and global 
impact, our perseverance and performance proves 
that we operate in a highly resilient growth market. 
This is underlined by the minimal to no direct impact 
the difficult year had on our business performance, 
whilst continuing to selectively grow our team in 
contrast to the layoffs running rampant through the 
tech sector. 

People always travel. 

The mainstreaming of vacation rentals was acceler-
ated by the pandemic and persists even in a crisis, 
only further driving repeat demand. This can be 
traced back to its high flexibility by nature, the often 
convenient and short distances to domestic loca-
tions, the offering of maximum independence and 
seclusion, as well as a wide range of amenities that 
help travelers control their budget. In 2022, once 
again, HomeToGo has proven that we are exactly the 
right marketplace for this: to offer the widest choice 
and be the first choice for travelers, again and again. 

1 Booking Revenues generated in 2022 or prior with IFRS Revenues recognition in FY2023, incl. SECRA and e-domizil

The development of HomeToGo's share price re-
mains unsatisfactory despite our record business 
performance. Looking at comparable peer groups, 
this is a market trend that is not limited to our sector. 
We are confident as we move into the new year that 
we will continue to prove resilient in our operating 
performance. We began 2023 with a strong trading 
and a Booking Revenues Backlog1 of EUR 32.5 million 
at the start of 2023 (72% YoY vs. EUR 18.9 million at 
the start of 2022). 

Overall for 2022 we have generated a record of 
EUR 163.7 million in Booking Revenues, the highest 
value in HomeToGo’s history, growing by 32% YoY in 
2022 (vs. EUR 123.6 million in 2021), resulting in an 
IFRS Revenues growth of 55% YoY to EUR 146.8 million. 
In Q3/22, we delivered a record quarter with the high-
est profit ever, which prompted us to raise our full-
year guidance for the second time this year, having 
already updated it together with our Q1/22 reporting. 

On the demand side, our product and efficient mar-
keting approach has led to incredible performance 
in core regions such as the DACH market  –  a play-
book we aim to replicate globally. We are delivering 
an unparalleled traveler experience with an intuitive 
product that smartly matches demand with any trav-
el use case, tapping into our 15 million+ offers. Our 
travelers increasingly come back to book again, driv-
ing efficient repeat demand. This gives us confi-
dence in our strategic focus on repeat purchases, 
supported by a tailored content and recommenda-
tion strategy that leverages traveler insights. 

On the supply side, we demonstrated how we are fue-
ling growth and continued performance for our 
60,000+ partners, delivering tangible solutions for the 
large and fragmented accommodation market. Our 
partners value both the large and diverse traveler base 
as well as the advanced software solutions we offer. 
With a growth in CPA Take Rate to 9.6% and an Onsite 
Share of 54% – with the DACH region having a notably 

Dear Shareholders, 
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high Onsite Share around 75% – we continue to suc-
cessfully execute on growing our global footprint.

The core of our business – Technology & Data – con-
tinues to solve key pain points of the market to 
match the right travelers with the right partners. We 
are an early adopter when it comes to creating new 
products based on our wealth of traveler insights 
and data. Our data-driven recommendation engine 
enhances the booking experience and ensures con-
version-optimized demand, which is in turn driving 
growth for our valued partners. 

Our innovative technology, data and supply solu-
tions – such as our all-in-one SaaS solution Smoobu 
that connects self-service focused hosts more easily 
to our partners – underlines our commitment to en-
able the whole industry by building the operating 
system that will help the entire alternative accom-
modation ecosystem be more successful. Our Sub-
scriptions & Services IFRS Revenues grew 169% YoY 
in 2022 to EUR 23.7 million. 

In addition, our targeted M&A activity has under-
lined our strategy of acquiring and scaling healthy, 
profitable businesses that contribute directly to 
HomeToGo's operational and financial performance. 
During the year, we successfully completed the ac-

quisition of AMIVAC, a leading provider of vacation 
rentals in France, e-domizil, one of our core and 
trusted partners primarily operating in Germany and 
Switzerland, and acquired the remaining 81% stake 
of SECRA, taking full ownership of a key software 
and service solution provider for the industry.

For 2023, we have taken great strides 
towards another major goal on our path 
to profitability: to break-even on an
Adjusted EBITDA basis. 

The resilient travel sector, strong market, our healthy 
cash position and strong backlog heading into 2023 
makes us very confident to reach this milestone. 

The year 2022 is one of which we are particularly 
proud and we thank everyone who has greatly con-
tributed to this tremendous success: To our current 
and former colleagues, shareholders, partners and 
travelers – we appreciate your tireless commitment, 
dedication and feedback. 

The enormous opportunities that lie ahead give us 
strong motivation to reach new heights in 2023 as 
we embark on this next chapter in our journey.

wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin Gruber
COO

Steffen Schneider
CFO

Dr. Patrick Andrae
Co-founder & CEO
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California (USA)

a home to go
explore
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HomeToGo: Making 
incredible homes 
easily accessible to 
everyone
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we are demonstrating high  
performance and stability  
in a resilient growth market

The evolution of our business model

Launched 
2015

Launched 
2017

Launched 
2020

Deeper customer 
relationships

Offsite 
(metasearch)

Take Rate
~ 5 – 8 %

Take Rate
~ 8 – 15 %

Onsite
(integrated 

marketplace)

Offsite 
(metasearch)

Va
lu

e 
se

gm
en

ts

Offsite 
(metasearch)

Enabling Partners 
(like OTAs) 
with tech & supply  

Onsite
(integrated 

marketplace)

Subscriptions 
& Services (around 
the marketplace)

“Take Rate”
15+ %

2022 marked another year of reaching record perfor-
mance and achieving significant milestones on our 
path to make incredible homes easily accessible to 
everyone. HomeToGo sets out to fulfill the desire of 
every traveler – a mission that is visually embodied by 
the “dash” at the end of the HomeToGo logo: Whether 
travelers are looking for a home to go_relax, _ski, _sun-

bathe or _work remote – HomeToGo has the perfect 
vacation rental for every traveler. This year we con-
tinued to build this “dash promise” into HomeToGo’s 
brand and product experience, further growing our 
trajectory to make incredible homes easily accessi-
ble to everyone.
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Ever since our founding in 2014, we have continu-
ously pioneered in bringing new innovation and 
technologies to the market, whilst utilizing radically 
different and highly efficient marketing tactics. 
HomeToGo's aim is to consolidate the vastly frag-
mented vacation rental market, removing the fric-
tion between supply and demand by providing an 
unparalleled experience for both parties on our on-
line hybrid marketplace. 

HomeToGo is the marketplace with the world’s 
largest selection of vacation rentals, offering 
15 million+ offers from 60,000+ partners. 
~50 million visitors globally in high demand 
months, capturing a vast amount of travelers 
across our local apps and websites in 25 countries.
HomeToGo's family of brands includes  
Agriturismo.it, AMIVAC, atraveo, Casamundo, 
CaseVacanza.it, e-domizil, EscapadaRural, 
Tripping.com and Wimdu, as well as software 
service providers SECRA and Smoobu.

HomeToGo has undergone a significant evolution of 
our business model: from purely aggregating offers as 
a starting point as a metasearch and generating reach 
for partners to a SaaS-enabled marketplace with a vari-
ety of service offers. In 2017, we evolved our meta-
search approach into a hybrid marketplace with the 
addition of Onsite, particularly enabling smaller part-
ners to generate more bookings with high conversion 
rates using our technology and data solutions. Further-
more, we developed our brand to build deeper and 
more data-enhanced relationships with our travelers. 
Since adding Subscriptions & Services to our business 
model in 2020, we further advanced our proven tech-
nology value proposition, gradually paving the way to 
become the industry's operating system and enable 
growth for the entire vacation rental ecosystem. 

Our technology platform self-accelerates a virtuous 
cycle of growth and innovation as we use data to 
drive better outcomes for our partners. This leads to 
accelerated adoption of our technology solutions, 
which drives long-term growth and margins, and in 
return allows us to fund our efforts to attract and re-
tain consumers – in return creating a highly scalable 
flywheel effect. 

Our impressive business performance 
in 2022 continues to prove we are on 
a strong and consistent track record, 
operating in a resilient growth market 
despite a year of global macroeconomic 
uncertainty. 

The year was one of tremendous performance, once 
again demonstrating our ability to be agile, flexible 
and adaptable to an ever-changing market, whilst 
continuously developing our scalable tech backbone.

Onsite Booking Revenues grew 53% YoY to 
EUR 76.7 million, underlining our key strategic prior-
ity, elevating our repeat share. Our overall CPA Take 
Rate increased from 8.3% in 2021 to 9.6% in 2022. We 
achieved the highest Booking Revenues ever, with a 
growth of 32% YoY to EUR 163.7 million in 2022 (vs. 
EUR 123.6 million in 2021), which resulted in an IFRS 
Revenues growth of 55% YoY, with EUR 146.8 million 
in IFRS revenues.

Our strong trajectory and performance 
resulted in us positively upgrading our 
guidance twice throughout the financial 
year 2022.
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January 2022: AMIVAC, a 
leading vacation rental business 
in France that provides sub-
scription listing services for 
both homeowners and profes-
sional agencies and includes 
the brands amivac.com and 
vacances.com. This acquisition 
benefited AMIVAC’s customers 
and professional agencies with 
the advanced technology 
solutions that HomeToGo offers, 
while also serving our travelers 
with an expanded offering of 
unique, high quality vacation 
rentals in France. With this key 
integration we increased our 
position in the French market 
and our Subscriptions & Ser-
vices portfolio for private hosts. 

April 2022: e-domizil, a special-
ist for vacation rentals compris-
ing brands such as e-domizil, 
tourist-online.de, and atraveo. 
With strong inventory across 14 
countries including Austria, 
Croatia, Denmark, France, 
Germany, Italy, Spain and 
Switzerland, our travelers have 
access to a wide range of 
vacation rentals, notably across 
the most attractive holiday 
destinations in Europe. Com-
bining this with e-domizil's 
continued profitable growth as 
well as accretive Take Rate was 
an ideal complement to our 
growing Onsite business.

May 2022: the remaining 81% 
stake in SECRA following our 
19% acquisition in 2021. As a 
property management system 
(PMS) for agencies and destina-
tions focused on the DACH 
market, SECRA also supports 
multi-channel inventory 
distribution. This integration 
further strengthened our 
position in our home turf of 
DACH, whilst expanding our 
software and service portfolio 
for professional partners. 

Looking ahead, we will continue to form new synergies and advance the technical 
integration of our acquisitions, while growing our service portfolio, both 
organically and through targeted M&A when suitable opportunities arise. 

Growing our global footprint and  
strategic pillars with key acquisitions 
In 2022 we also focused on growing our regional foot-
print, with an emphasis on acquisitions that would 
feed into our strategic pillars of Onsite and Subscrip-

tions & Services. Our targeted M&A selected compa-
nies with profitable business fundamentals to scale 
them further. Key 2022 acquisitions include: 
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Continuing on our path  
to profitability 
We delivered a record 2022 performance comple-
mented by a sizable improvement in profitability. 
Looking ahead, we aim to break-even on Adjusted 
EBITDA basis in the financial year of 2023, as we con-
tinue our growth trajectory. 

A key piece of fostering our path to profitability is 
our focus on delivering an incredible experience 
that travelers want to return to, combined with an 
efficient marketing strategy to drive and scale repeat 
demand at lower costs. We have taken operating 
measures to optimize our resource allocation and 
pace our overhead investments. This is combined 
with savings from lifting valuable synergy potentials 
with our subsidiaries from our key acquisitions. At a 
topline level, we have consolidated contracts within 
HomeToGo Group plus offered new, engaging add-
on services to drive revenues and additional margins. 

In the long term, we aim to further leverage the 
enormous opportunities of the accommodation 
market with our ambition to achieve EUR 1 billion in 
Booking Revenues by 2028/29. 

We are confident about the tremendous growth op-
portunities ahead and look forward to another year 
of groundbreaking accomplishments. 

>0.5%*

Total accommodation 
market 

>1.7tn EUR by 2030

Total accommodation 
market 

~1tn EUR in 2020

*Approx. HomeToGo’s GBV as % of the total market when  
 reaching 1bn in Booking Revenues

space for image
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Demand: Creating 
an unparalleled 
experience for 
travelers to drive 
repeat demand

Utah (USA)



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

26 DEMAND: CREATING AN UNPARALLELED ExPERIENCE FOR TRAVELERS TO DRIVE REPEAT DEMAND

Accelerated by trends that emerged during the pan-
demic, vacation rentals continue to be a preferred 
choice for travelers2 for several clear reasons: new 
use cases for longer trips with the rise of remote 
work (workation), a cost-effective accommodation 
option with the benefit of tailored amenities – such 
as kitchens to save on dining out and cook meals –
and the ability to travel and split large homes with 
groups of friends.

The current alternative accommodation market is 
heavily fragmented, consisting of hundreds of thou-
sands of different websites and partners. With our 
goal to become the go-to destination for vacation 
rentals, we offer an unparalleled experience to help 
travelers find the right place to stay for their unique 
needs:

2 Europe Accommodation Sector Market Estimates 2022; source: Skift, May 2022

We have the world’s largest selection of
vacation rentals. 
We leverage a first class, personalized and 
intuitive digital experience. 
We guarantee convenience end-to-end  
with a trusted checkout & payment process.

Overlaying our experience is the “dash promise” be-
hind the HomeToGo brand that is signified in our 
logo and vision – Making incredible homes easily 
accessible to everyone. With the dash promise we 
deliver vacation rentals for any use case, be it... "a 
home to go_swimming, _recharge, _away with fami-
ly, and so on.  

Vacation rentals have become  
the mainstream preferred 
choice for travel 

 

Convenience 
end-to-end 
with trusted 
checkout & 
payments

World’s 
largest selection 

of vacation 
rentals

First class digital
 experience, 
personalized 
and intuitive 

https://research.skift.com/report/europe-accommodation-sector-market-estimates-2022/
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Our superior experience 
combined with a proven  
marketing playbook has led 
to incredible demand growth 
in core regions, such as DACH 

What we observe is that once travelers try out book-
ing directly on HomeToGo, they continue to come 
back at a high level of repeat demand. 

By leveraging this highly engaged custo-
mer base, we have been able to rely on 
free channels and increase marketing ef-
ficiency, resulting in a sustaining impact 
on our path to profitability. 

Looking at the DACH market as a core example, we 
have a proven Onsite strategy and marketing play-
book that we are replicating globally. As one of our 
key strategic focuses, our global Onsite Share 
reached 54% in 2022 (vs. 44% in 2021), with the 
DACH region having a high Onsite Share around 75% 
(vs. 69% in 2021). 

The advantage of travelers booking directly with 
HomeToGo Onsite versus clicking out to a partner 
website increases brand awareness and considera-
tion and thus allows us to increasingly re-engage 
them via free, organic and top of funnel channels, 
such as CRM and our App. HomeToGo DACH App in-
stalls and monthly active users are growing strongly 

3 Compound annual growth rate; for actuals all years based on numbers for Q1 to Q3 2022
4 Numbers are based on WAU growth for ROW comparing 2022 with 2019; Deutsche Bank Research, Online Travel-Industry Update, 
 11 October 2022
5 Combined visibility of our portfolio domains vs. two well known vacation rental brands. As of December 31, 2022; source: Sistrix  
6 Visibility market share is defined as our combined portfolio domains' mobile visibility vs. the top 10 most relevant vacation rental brands in  
 each market. Core European regions include France, Italy, Spain and the UK; source: Sistrix 
7 Organic visibility for full year 2022 measured by December 31, 2022 vs. January 1, 2022; source: Sistrix 

and faster than the industry average – our DACH App 
installs have a CAGR of 88% between 2019 – 2022,3 
with an industry average between 2–20%.4 As App 
users typically directly open the App versus coming 
to us via other (including paid) channels, this further 
fuels our growth in free traffic. 

In Germany, HomeToGo Group has reached 
nearly twice as much organic search visi-
bility than some of the most well-known 
international alternative accommodation 
brands combined.5

This follows user-experience and relevancy improve-
ments of existing content assets, and expansion into 
previously untapped demand and customer segments.

Extending this award-winning SEO playbook outside of 
Germany, HomeToGo Group brands have made signif-
icant strides towards organic growth in Europe, over-
taking notable international alternative accommoda-
tion brands in the French market and further growing 
visibility market share on Google in core European re-
gions.6 Lastly, the U.S. showed strong acceleration, 
growing organic visibility by 65% YoY.7 This organic visi-
bility growth is complemented and closely tied to a 
highly effective in-house PR team of data-driven 
trend experts. Through valuable media relationships, 
HomeToGo is constantly positioned as a travel industry 
thought leader in top tier global, national and regional 
press outlets driving valuable coverage in online out-
lets for core markets, as well as additional traction in 
print, broadcast and radio coverage.

To support being top of consideration, we efficiently 
leveraged video and experiential marketing cam-
paigns to build awareness for the DACH market, with 
the goal of engaging travelers with our brand. Pull-
ing through the “dash promise” of our brand, we 
unveiled a “find your home to go_’ TV campaign in 
the DACH market in December – our first TV cam-
paign since Summer 2021 ahead of our busiest 
booking season of the year. This helped our travelers 
kick off a new year of travel, making it easy to find 
their perfectly unique stay for their trip, their way. 

Global Onsite Share reached 

54% in 2022 
(vs. 44% in 2021)
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The highly cost effective creative campaign was in-
spired by the simple pleasures of taking a vacation, 
and the incredible moments that happen when you 
book one of our rentals – whether you’re a family es-
caping the daily hustle and screen time to come to-
gether in a Scandinavian lake house, a group of digi-
tal nomads heading south to work from a villa in the 
Canary Islands for winter, a solo traveler traveling by 
train to a seaside cabin for a weekend escape with 
your dog. 

The combination of our superior product, Onsite 
growth and efficient marketing playbook has had a 
visible impact in this year’s 89% YoY growth of DACH 
Repeat Booking Revenues – revenue coming from 
existing customers. 

Customers placing a booking using our 
Onsite product are more likely to book 
again, at a far lower cost, and this higher 
repurchase translates to a growing 
Customer Lifetime Value (CLV). In 
tandem, the initial revenue as well as 
the repurchase grow over time. 
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www.hometogo.de

2022 TV campaign in the DACH market

00:16

www.hometogo.de

TV-Kampagne im DACH-Markt in 2022



Travel like a pro with HomeToGo

 flex 
Find the best price 
and selection for 
any type of trip

Have a specific trip 
in mind but haven’t 
decided on the 
dates yet? With 
Flexible Search, 
you can select how 
many nights you’d 
like to stay and the 
month or weeks 
when you’d like to 
travel and HomeTo-
Go will find all the 
available offers for 
your stay.

 custom
Intuitive search 
filters to help you 
save time and find 
the perfect home

Looking for accom-
modations with all 
the comforts of 
home, and more? 
HomeToGo’s Intui-
tive Search Filters 
only show the offers 
that meet your 
needs. Select the 
amenities, prices, 
and types of homes 
that will make for the 
perfect vacation.

 dream
Create a wishlist of 
amazing homes for 
your next adventure

Found a hidden 
gem or unique stay 
on HomeToGo? 
Save your favorite 
homes to a wishlist 
for future travel or 
share with your 
travel companions 
to get everyone on 
board when plan-
ning your next 
adventure.

 nearby
Discover incredible 
nearby accommoda-
tions for a weekend 
trip or last-minute 
getaway

Maximize your time 
spent relaxing and 
minimize time spent 
in transit. HomeTo-
Go’s Find Accommo-
dations Near You 
feature lets you set 
how far you want to 
travel and shows you 
incredible stays in 
your own backyard. 

Looking for ways to save and find your uniquely ideal holiday accommodation? With 
its easy-to-use platform, customizable filters and unparalleled selection, HomeToGo 
is making it easier than ever to find incredible accommodations to fit your budget.



 discover
Uncover the beaches, 
parks, and shops 
within walking 
distance from your 
accommodation

The newly im-
proved HomeToGo 
Map shows travelers 
a complete view of 
the neighborhood 
where they’ll be 
staying by highlight-
ing the nearby sights, 
attractions, shops, 
and transit hubs.

 compare
Easily decide on the 
type of home and 
amenities you want 
in your dream 
accommodation 

HomeToGo’s new 
Offer Comparison 
feature simplifies the 
decision-making 
process when looking 
for the perfect rental. 
Easily track and 
compare multiple 
offers side-by-side 
based on the features 
that matter most to you.

 next door 
Easily discover other 
available options at 
the same properties. 

HomeToGo’s new 
Next Door feature 
allows you to discover 
available options in 
the property you 
currently are looking 
at. Discover the 
accommodation that 
suits you best or find 
the perfect home for 
additional travelers: 
no need to look much 
further. 
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Elevating the Traveler’s  
Experience
Elevating the traveler’s experience by building a trav-
eler-centric product is in our DNA and is a driver of 
building repeat demand and retention. We are lever-
aging behavior on our platform to make informed 
decisions and build a product our travelers love, driv-
ing brand loyalty. We are continuously innovating 
and improving our experience, running more than 
100 A/B experiments in parallel at a time. 

Our constant growth in engagement, 
conversion and repeat booking rates 
are clear proof that we are delivering 
an outstanding digital experience and 
value-add for travelers.

Our service-based, scalable architecture combined 
with a large amount of user behavior data allows us 
to conduct expert matchmaking between supply 
and demand. Taking unparalleled selection of ac-
commodation offers paired with state-of-the-art 
trained machine learning means we can recommend 
highly relevant booking options for endless travel 
use cases. 

Onsite 
engagement 

rate

Onsite 
conversion 

rate

Repeat
booking 

rate

+59%

+180%

+26%

User behavior metrics:*

2022 vs. 2019

Transparent, intuitive  
products for easy decision 
making 
We have earned a reputation for building intuitive 
product features based on data and feedback from 
our travelers – such as piloting our Flexible Search 
technology in 2015, which saw a massive +600% up-
lift during the pandemic. This enables our travelers to 
find the best prices across a range of dates rather 
than being restricted to a specific time period when 
searching. With domestic travel and drive-to travel 
booming, we built a Find Accommodations Near Me 
feature to highlight incredible stays in your own back-
yard. Our Offer Comparison feature makes it easy to 
track and compare multiple offers side-by-side based 
on the amenities that matter most to each traveler. 

Our travelers have the right faucets to filter and cu-
rate accommodation lists that best suit their specific 
needs, be it selecting a particular amenity that they 
need or a budget range they are looking for. In order 
to enable easy decision making for travelers, we en-
sure that key information such as services and fees, 
cancellation and payment terms, or user ratings are 
fully transparent and easily accessible. Travelers also 
benefit from smartly summarized, enriched offer in-
formation such as highlights and meta reviews – con-
veniently displayed ratings that collect traveler feed-
back of the property such as cleanliness, location, 
value for money, etc.

As full price transparency is a European standard and 
given our roots and headquarters are in Germany, we 
have always strived to ensure our travelers have a com-
plete view of the total price – ensuring they pay what 
they see on our platform. For example, our price break-
down clearly communicates what they will pay for the 
accommodation, what services are charged as extra 
fees and the appropriate tax rate as applicable in that 
particular market. This has already been in place in the 
EU, where it is a common practice to have taxes includ-
ed in the price. In 2023 we plan to roll out price trans-
parency features in the U.S. market, giving our users 
even more control on price display. By giving the trav-
eler full control and avoiding any negative reactions to 
surprise fees, we are ultimately creating a positive ex-
perience and brand perception. 

* Onsite conversion rate = Onsite bookings/Onsite offers clicked; Onsite engagement rate = Onsite Interactions/Onsite offers clicked;  
Repeat booking rate = bookings made by customers who placed at least 1 booking in the past/total bookings. Excludes Agriturismo, AMIVAC, 
e-domizil and EscapadaRural
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Enabling travelers to directly 
book, pay and add-on with 
our platform
In pursuit of making our onsite experience conven-
ient end-to-end, we are continuously elevating our 
Onsite checkout experience. This includes HomeTo-
Go Payments, our own payment solution developed 
in partnership with global market-leading payment 
solutions. Built in-house, this guarantees a coherent, 
intuitive and trustworthy experience across all devices. 
We have grown the foothold of HomeToGo Pay-
ments with 13 payment methods (vs. 6 in 2021) live at 

the end of 2022, ensuring our travelers see the most 
relevant, local payment methods. These localized 
payment methods are optimized for traveler success 
based on product analytics, and thus aim to make 
our platforms even more successful. 

With convenience and the traveler in mind, we also 
offer modern payment features such as Buy Now Pay 
Later or the ability to pay in installments. By creating 
a secure, frictionless flow with our HomeToGo Pay-
ments as a backbone, we are increasing satisfaction 
and platform monetization. 



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

35DEMAND: CREATING AN UNPARALLELED ExPERIENCE FOR TRAVELERS TO DRIVE REPEAT DEMAND

Working with state-of-the-art payment providers 
that comply with contemporary compliance stand-
ards and regulations, we can ensure a safe and trust-
ed payment environment for both our travelers and 
partners. Rolling out the service across an increasing 
share of our partners, the contribution margin of 
HomeToGo Payments grew by more than 400% YoY. 

In 2022 we extended our platform to offer additional 
services we call HomeToGo Add-ons, making the 
booking experience even more complete. Following 

a notable trend coming out of the pandemic for 
those seeking trip security, we launched cancella-
tion protection and comprehensive insurance as ad-
ditions to our platform and thereby provide an extra 
layer of flexibility – allowing travelers a refund in the 
event of cancellations, delays, luggage loss, medical 
expenses and more. Especially proven as a driver of 
retention in the post-booking journey, we will be 
continuing to build in Add-ons along the user jour-
ney, offering a complete and convenient experience 
on our platforms. 

optimize for user checkout 
success, while protecting 
our Partners and platforms.

allows users to split their booking payment 
across multiple installments.

Localized payment methods 
in a secure, frictionless flow 

Buy Now Pay Later or paying 
in installments

We have grown the foothold of our payment solution

(Local) payment methods live

13 vs. 6 in 2021
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Our App: The best way to  
experience HomeToGo 
We have established our App as the best way to expe-
rience HomeToGo, ensuring monetization and uplift 
in installs. As a key top of funnel channel where our 
travelers crave inspiration, we focus on enhancing our 
travel recommendations and inspirational content 
within the App. Our scrollable “Instagram-like” explore 
feed entices travelers to engage with personalized 
and tailored recommendations. App users also bene-
fit from a new and enhanced branded Front Door ex-
perience on our German website that showcases the 
full breadth of our unique inventory from categories 
such as design inspired, historic houses, glamping, 
agriturismo, castles and more.

In 2022 we also built out a highly engaging post- 
booking experience. This enables travelers to man-
age and access their booking from anywhere and 
serve them with relevant trip information around 
things to do or weather forecasting. 

8 Compound annual growth rate; for actuals all years based on numbers for Q1 to Q4 

Delivering value at all touchpoints 
across the customer journey enables us 
to continuously engage with our trave-
lers and successfully boost conversion 
and repeat rates.8

App installs and App MAUs in DACH

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

App 
installs

Monthly 
active 
users

Growth 19-22 (CAGR)8

88% vs. 2-20% VR  
average*

Year

* Source for benchmark: OTA and VR app traffic benchmark from Deutsche Bank Research, Online Travel-Industry Update, Oct. 11, 2022 –  
Used numbers based on WAU growth for ROW comparing 2022 with 2019
Note: Numbers excluding recent acquisition e-domizil (100% Onsite inventory) 

The HomeToGo App 
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Building outstanding  
consumer trust to drive  
up brand loyalty 
The outstanding service by our Guest Relations team 
combined with our experience continues to build 
trust with our consumers, reflected in the feedback, 
ratings and reviews we receive. In 2022 Our Trustpilot 
rating increased 25% YoY to 4.5/59 and our NPS grew 
to 53.10 We effectively leverage our diverse, global 
team to provide high quality, global support to cover 

9 As of December 31, 2022 for HomeToGo.de
10 Yearly 2022 average across all HomeToGo domains

traveler needs in seven languages. In spite of a tre-
mendous increase in demand driven by our perfor-
mance and continued travel rebound trends, we im-
proved the efficiency of our operations and decreased 
the average cost of our average case, plus increased 
our average first response time by 61%. 

Additionally, we continuously increase the scope of 
our live, digital service offerings by deploying chat 
and our AI-driven chatbot, Sunny, across more than 
half of our supported languages. 
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Looking ahead: Clear focus 
on driving repeat behavior 
and efficient user acquisition 
to support our path to  
profitability 
Looking ahead to 2023 and our path to profitability, 
we have a clear focus on an efficient marketing strat-
egy to drive repeat behavior. Substantially lower mar-
keting costs are required in order to drive bookings 
from existing customers compared to new users – In 
2022, the marketing cost for a customer with more 
than one past booking was up to 87% lower compared 
to a first time customer. We are constantly growing 
repeat revenues over time, in line with expanding our 
Onsite business starting in 2018. Since this strategic 
move, our Repeat Booking Revenues have grown with 
a 57% CAGR. And due to the nature of repeat, those 
bookings are growing exponentially – we observed 
68% higher Repeat Booking Revenues in 2022 com-
pared to 2021.

To keep delivering on our “dash promise”, we will con-
tinue to innovate our product to improve how to find 
and book whatever accommodation our user needs. 
To drive engagement for existing customers and ful-
fill our “dash promise”, we are creating inspirational, 

recommendation content tailored based on data. This 
guarantees that customers will keep HomeToGo top of 
mind and return when they start planning their next 
vacation. As a side effect, we are also able to create im-
pulse purchases and stimulate additional journeys. In 
order to distribute the content to our customers, we 
leverage top notch recommendation algorithms to 
serve only relevant content to our customers matching 
their personal needs and interests.

In line with our organic, retention-focused strategy, we 
continue to make paid customer acquisition incredibly 
efficient. Built in-house, our Campaign Builder allows 
the automation of a large set of campaigns, by targeting 
and grabbing search demand from millions of keywords, 
and serving highly tailored content to travelers on a des-
tination basis. We have rolled out the Campaign Builder 
across HomeToGo Group for our brands and added fea-
tures, enabling us to build and modify performance 
marketing campaigns globally in a short amount of time.

YoY growth in  
Repeat Booking Revenues 

68% 

20192018 2020 2021 2022

Repeat Booking Revenues development over time

+57%
CAGR
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Whenever I do a search 
in wherever location I'm 
interested in, HomeTo-
Go immediately shows 
me many options to 
choose from…

Mariann L. Tucker, 
February 1, 2020; US

D. Palmer, 
17 January, 2022; US

Jake, 
April 7, 2022; US

The process was effort-
less. Lots of photos and 
options. Love the map 
option to see how far 
we were from entertain-
ment attractions 
and beaches. 

This was definitely the 
quickest and easiest 
booking experience  
I have ever had. In 
the future I will always 
check with HomeToGo 
first.

*Yearly 2022 average across all HomeToGo domains
**As of December 31, 2022 for HomeToGo.de

we have earned outstanding consumer trust

Net Promoter Score* Customer reviews** App Store ratings

53 4.8/4.54.5



Roncolla (Italy)Niedersalwey (Germany)

Kea (Greece)

Santorini (Greece)

a home to go
blue

a home to go
swim

a home to go
recharge

a home to go
relax



Kittilä (Finland)

New Hampshire (USA)

Colorado (USA) 

a home to go
ski

a home to go
green

a home to go
explore
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Supply: Fueling growth 
and continued success 
for our partners

Sölden (Austria)



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

43DEMAND: CREATING AN UNPARALLELED ExPERIENCE FOR TRAVELERS TO DRIVE REPEAT DEMAND

Solving pain points for our partners In the highly frag-
mented alternative accommodation market, many 
partners lack access to the right demand, standards 
and technology. With 60,000+ partners HomeToGo 
has cut through the fragmentation and offers solu-
tions that create value not only for its travelers looking 
for the perfect accommodation, but also its wide vari-
ety of partners to solve their pain points and access 

the right demand with advanced sets of solutions. 
Plus, with our selection of highly diversified supply, 
we are not reliant on one single partner. 

We strongly believe if you want to be 
successful in your vacation rental busi-
ness, you need to work with HomeToGo.

We address the needs of all types of supply partners

Access to an 
attractive guest 
base

Flexibility catering 
to their individual 
business model

Tech expertise 
enabling them to 
succeed online

Reduction of 
operational 
complexity 
for max. reach

Online Travel 
Agencies

Property 
Managers

Hosts

Accelerating the alternative  
accommodation ecosystem  
to support our partners 
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HomeToGo is solving pain points for the entire supply side: a fragmented market 
consisting of 100,000s of different websites and suppliers. 

We provide technology solutions for our partners to help enhance offer quality, 
provide access to highly valuable travelers and drive joint performance.

Solving for Suppliers



Solving for Travelers
To help find the right 
place to stay

Solving for Suppliers  
Giving access to the right demand, 
standards, technology and data

45SUPPLY: FUELING GROwTH AND CONTINUED SUCCESS FOR OUR PARTNERS
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Amazing our partners with 
unique and attractive  
benefits 
Our three sets of supply partners – OTAs, Property 
Managers and Hosts – see tangible benefits in work-
ing with HomeToGo. 

Online Travel Agencies (OTAs): Partnering with Home-
ToGo allows OTAs to grow an incremental guest 
base and gain access to additional supply, as well as 
price & availability data. This ultimately diversifies 
their sources for bookings beyond their own market-
ing and retention activities. 

Property Managers (PMs): PMs benefit from global 
access to highly attractive travelers and HomeToGo 
technology to enhance the attractiveness and prob-
ability of conversion of their online offers. We offer 
key infrastructure and tech solutions such as pay-
ment, image beautification, and natural language 
processing to automatically enhance their proper-
ties in the HomeToGo platform. Our partner relations 
team allows HomeToGo’s partners to jointly grow, by 
driving the professionalization of their properties 
and ultimately driving up bookings.

Hosts: HomeToGo’s software and service solutions 
allow hosts to directly list, operate and distribute 
their vacation rentals online while benefiting from 
the overall development of HomeToGo’s technology 
platform, catering to the needs of an international 
traveler database. 

HomeToGo has grown to be a highly beneficial plat-
form for our partners given our unique and attrac-
tive traveler base. With an average length of stay of 
7 days that results in high basket sizes, we create 
tangible value with each conversion. This is paired 
with a financially attractive traveler segment with 
70% of travelers being older than 35 years and an 
average booking window before check-in beyond 95 
days. Partners often tell us this allows them to plan 
ahead and give occupancy security, reducing costs 
for cleaning and operational efforts that often occur 
with short term stays. 

Beyond the travelers we bring to our partners, we 
offer the flexibility to cater to individual needs and 
preferences, which builds long-lasting, equal rela-
tionships. Partners often highlight that we offer flex-
ibility in adapting to their cancellation policies and 
the ability to maintain direct communication with 
their guests. 

High 
average basket 

sizes

Long 
booking 
windows 

Attractive 
customer 

group
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“We have always had a joint under-
standing about making holidays an 
amazing experience for our users and 
it is even greater to see how we were 
able to leverage this knowledge by 
driving significant growth despite the 
challenges faced in the past years. We 
truly enjoy working with HomeToGo 
and our team is looking forward to the 
next exciting steps!” 

Bodo Thielmann, CEO 
DESTINATION SOLUTIONS GMBH,
PART OF HRS GROUP

“We’ve been really impressed with 
working with the leadership team at 
HomeToGo to become a trusted book-
ing channel. The entire HomeToGo 
team provides adaptable and dedicat-
ed support - from tailored cancellation 
policies to direct guest communica-
tion. Most importantly, HomeToGo is 
acting as a true partner.” 

Steve Milo, CEO
VTRIPS

“Agriturismo.it and HomeToGo have 
supported me for years in promoting 
the uniqueness of my agriturismo, 
allowing me to reach tourists all over 
the world. What I love most is the 
helpfulness and competence of the 
staff, always ready to give useful 
advice, and the international visibility 
that is given to my offer.”

Simone, Il Filo di Paglia 
CARRO, LA SPEZIA, ITALY

“We highly value the direct relation-
ship we have with EscapadaRural and 
HomeToGo, simply paying an annual 
fee to position our homes in a top rural 
tourism portal in Spain where travelers 
can easily find exactly what they're 
looking for. We have been growing our 
business with EscapadaRural for more 
than 15 years across 7 properties. 
To many more years doing business 
together!”

Joan Verdaguer, Villas Costa Brava La Belladona
SILS, GIRONA, SPAIN

https://www.agriturismo.it/en/farmhouse/liguria/la_spezia/IlFilodiPaglia-3950963/index.html
https://www.escapadarural.com/casa-rural/girona/la-bella-dona
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Developing technology that 
powers our partners’ business 
With tech as our backbone, we leverage our deep 
inventory knowledge to make our partners success-
ful using our in-house machine learning algorithms. 
For example, through our AI-based image enrich-
ment and analysis we are able to identify additional 
amenities, increase attractiveness of offer imagery 
and deduplicate inventory for a better search experi-
ence. Our natural language processing based text 
analysis automatically generates meaningful offer ti-
tles and identifies amenities to build more attractive 
listings. Data enrichment tools leverage data in a 
traveler-centric way, helping our partners optimize 
their listings and grow demand with us. 

 
Building our Subscriptions & 
Services solutions to become 
the industry’s operating  
system 
Beyond leveraging our tech expertise 
for our partners, we are building new 
solutions around our marketplace model 
to help partners thrive across the entire 
vacation rental ecosystem.

Subscriptions & Services IFRS 
Revenues growth 

2019 2020 2021

+39%

+169% 

Revenues Growth %

2022

+66%

€0M

€5M

€10M

€15M

€20M

€25M

YoY growth in Subscriptions & 
Services IFRS Revenues

169%

In line with our financial priorities, our partner solu-
tions demonstrated strong growth in terms of Sub-
scriptions & Services IFRS Revenues. With a YoY 
growth of 169%, Subscriptions & Services IFRS Reve-
nues hit EUR 23.7 million in 2022 - 16.1% of our overall 
IFRS Revenues. 
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Driving healthy, organic 
growth via our software and 
service solutions 
One key example of how we have successfully scaled 
our Subscriptions & Services business in 2022 is 
Smoobu – our all-in-one SaaS solution that connects 
self-service private, individual hosts more easily to our 
partners, enabling the whole supply side to be more 
successful. Smoobu has a solid reputation with a 
prominent existing host base and notably is a pre-
ferred software partner for many leading industry 
players – offering direct price and availability data 
syncing, central guest communication tools, an easy 
to set up website for the host and more. When we 
acquired Smoobu in 2021 we knew we were adding a 
healthy business poised for steady, organic growth.

 In 2022 we evolved Smoobu’s business from a start-
up to a scale-up, aiding its maturity by implementing 
the right business fundamentals and team structure. 

This included bringing in new management and a 
move to HomeToGo’s global headquarters in Berlin 
to create fresh synergies and knowledge injection 
with HomeToGo’s core teams. We also set up effi-
cient processes for product and technology, estab-
lished dedicated functions across Marketing, and 
created a new Partner Relations team to support 
host inquiries, as well as appointed dedicated data 
analysts – ultimately further advancing their growth 
by establishing these key support functions. As a re-
sult and in combination with Smoobu’s existing strong 
host base, Smoobu’s Monthly Recurring Revenues al-
most doubled in 2022 vs. 2021. 

Additionally with SECRA, we offer a channel and 
property management system for agencies and a 
solution for destinations, which optimizes inventory 
distribution and operations across the entire indus-
try. SECRA’s team brings a rich knowledge of the in-
dustry and valuable partner relationships – fueling 
an online booking system and channel manager that 
brings its partners reach and booking volume. 

Overview via central cockpit 
incl. guest communication

Click-and-build own
website easily

Synchronize data
like prices & availabilities

An all-in-one SaaS solution to connect self-service focused hosts more easily 
to our partners – enabling the whole supply side to be more successful



Krakow am See (Germany)

a home to go
reflect
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In 2022 we grew and diversi-
fied our supply, continuing  
a strong trajectory for our  
Onsite business and Take Rate 
Combining our commercially attractive platform, a 
traveler base with a strong purchasing power, and a 
continuously improving tech set up that best opti-
mizes our partners offers, we have seen a steady in-
crease in supply. Our number of partners has tripled 
in the last three years, growing to 60,000+ in 2022 
vs. 20,000+ in 2019. 

This steady increase in partnerships and resulting 
diversification of our inventory has led us to become 
highly competitive in core destinations. For example, 
globally our three largest partners have only 24% of 
our unique shown inventory, whereas in a destina-
tion such as Croatia this makes up only 9% of inven-
tory.11 Looking ahead, we will continue to expand our 
footprint in Europe and North America to further 
strengthen our unique selling proposition of having 
the largest selection of vacation rentals in the industry. 

As we diversify our supply, we continue 
to become less reliant on large partners, 
with a strong focus on core destinations. 

This pool of highly attractive inventory is offered to our 
travelers at a competitive price, in return driving valua-
ble bookings to our partners. With our flexible and 

11  As of December 31 2022. Unique inventory considers the inventory of our largest three aggregators as coming from a single grouped entity, 
weighted by impressions at the uniqueness of their grouped inventory. An impression is made on our websites when a user sees >55% of 
an offer card on our search engine results page.

tech-driven approach, we’re continuously strengthen-
ing our partnerships and fostering deeper integrations 
and commercial benefits. 

With our focus on deepening these relationships 
across supply, we have built a steady increase in 
global CPA Take Rate, growing to 9.6% in 2022 (vs. 6.8% 
in 2019 and 8.3% in 2021). 

Additionally, our strategic shift from 
metasearch to building a more advanced 
Onsite product has led more and more 
partners to trust and switch to our Onsite 
model.
This has led to a development of our Onsite Booking 
Share, growing to 54% in 2022 (vs. 26% in 2019 and 
44% in 2021). 

Looking ahead, we will continue this proven path 
with an ever-increasing focus on high value and high 
demand destinations. The convenient matchmaking 
between supply and demand will continue to drive 
growth for our partners while delivering an experi-
ence our travelers love.

9.6%
CPA Take Rate 

vs. 8.3% in 2021
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we offer high value rentals in top demand destinations

*Provided by: (1) Vlabs, (2) SykesCottages, (3) Avantio, (4) Novasol
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Oregon (USA)

Technology & Data: 
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Business



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

55Technology & DaTa: The core of our Business

Our innovative technology and data solutions provide 
the foundation for the work we do every day – fueling 
every traveler or partner interaction and informing 
our internal operations and business strategies. Our 
focus is to build, evolve and deliver industry-leading 
technology faster than the rest of the market. 

HomeToGo is a tech-first company, and our tech 
team is at the core of everything we do. To build 
quality, high-impact software efficiently, our team is 
empowered with end-to-end ownership of their 
product life cycles, which continuously improves 
each team member’s expertise and judgment. Our 
“you build it, you run it” mentality has resulted in 
technology solutions that ultimately remove the fric-
tion between supply and demand. 

Our platform creates a virtuous cycle of 
growth and innovation: we leverage data 
to drive better outcomes for our part-
ners and travelers, which in turn drives 
adoption of our technology solutions 
and generates more revenues. 

This includes increasingly higher adoption of our 
technology solutions as part of our Subscriptions & 
Services. The resulting revenue subsequently funds 
investment in attracting new customers, scaling our 
repeat business and acquiring more data, thus em-
powering HomeToGo to become the industry’s op-
erating system and enabling growth for the entire 
alternative accommodation market. 

our technology platform is 
fast, scalable, resilient and 
cost-efficient
Our platform’s architecture is cloud native, delivering 
flexibility and speed, along with all the advantages of 
auto-scaling from our class-leading cloud partner. 
Our service-oriented architecture is built on the prin-
ciples of high availability enabling delivery of high 
levels of up-time into our partner and traveler eco-
systems. This design manages the change in work-
loads through the seasons in an automated cost 
conscious method, effectively balancing cost effi-
ciency and an undisrupted customer experience. 
Our platform infrastructure is supported by our tech 
stack that facilitates simplicity, reusability, collabora-
tion and the ability to shift engineers between pro-
jects is a testament to our agility. Both our platform 
architecture and tech stack are modular to enable 
our team to efficiently work together. 

Changes to our infrastructure can be initiated by any 
member of our tech team once a valuable opportu-
nity is discovered, as long as updates are aligned 
with relevant engineering boards and moderated by 
the domain architect. This nimble ownership en-
sures that our tech team works efficiently and can 
adapt to market changes in real time.

Our infrastructure is further supported with continu-
ous integrations, refactoring, deployment pipelines, 
monitoring tools and more to ensure that every fea-
ture we launch is held to the highest quality stand-
ard, so we can create great products for our travelers 
and partners. 

Technology and data are at the 
core of our business 
We are solving the key pain points of the market with 
technology by matching the right travelers with the right 
partners 
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in 2022 we continued to ad-
vance homeTogo’s technolo-
gy platform and its security, 
while further consolidating 
technologies across our 
brands
Over the past year, we have advanced the capabili-
ties of our technology platform and ramped up the 
speed of our engineers within our Technology Hubs – 
including our teams in Lithuania and Germany as 
well as Poland and Vietnam. We have upgraded our 
machine learning based search and ranking archi-
tecture, achieving significant search speed gains 
and opening new opportunities for our data scien-
tists to deliver even better tailored search results. 
Our HomeToGo Design System – a proprietary mod-
ular tech platform used across various HomeToGo 
brands – has been enriched and improved with new 
frontend architecture, making it easily usable as a 

White Label solution not only for our own brands 
but also as a service for external ones.

Additionally, we completed another significant mile-
stone in improving our data discoverability, with 
HomeToGo Group teams now increasingly using the 
same data warehouse tools. We continued to lever-
age our accumulation of consumer behavior data to 
drive our innovation and inform our insights to en-
sure superior new features for both our travelers and 
our partners. 

On average, we run 100+ A/B tests in 
production at the same time, which 
results in the release of multiple new and 
enhanced features to our platform on a 
weekly basis. 

Our technology can be dynamically updated with-
out having to wait for certain launch dates. This gives 
our tech a speed advantage compared to other old-
er setups. 

Before After

Enhanced Flexible Search feature 
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White label technology  
and migrations 
In 2022 we enabled more HomeToGo brands to ben-
efit from our technology platform. We successfully 
finished the planned migrations of e-domizil and 
AMIVAC to our White Label technology, providing 
them with access to our advanced platform. 

With e-domizil, we replaced e-domizil’s 
aggregated inventory with HomeToGo’s 
direct integrations, improving both data 
quality and bookings. 

This proves that once again that our efforts behind a 
vision of a shared multi-branded, multi-language 
technology platform is the right choice.

Our White Label solution strengthens our position in 
the alternative accommodation market and creates 
tech synergies on our platform, from increased share 
of bookings to the extension of HomeToGo Payments 
and service offerings. Our unified platform allows our 
brands that use the White Label solution to tap into 
our advanced infrastructure and technologies, and 
external White Label partners can benefit from our 
proprietary tech features such as payment, image 
beautification and natural language processing. 

cybersecurity
We continuously strengthen and review our IT securi-
ty strategy and take an increasing number of techni-
cal measures and organizational policies to protect 
against unauthorized access to our systems and data.

In 2022, in consultative collaboration with security ex-
perts, we have assessed our cybersecurity according 
to the NIST Cybersecurity Framework. Based on the 
framework, we have planned the next security ad-
vancement milestones and already delivered a num-
ber of new security enhancements. As an example, 
we launched a comprehensive Bug Bounty program 
as an additional way to deliver surety to our measures 
and strategy.

Additionally, to increase awareness of cyber attacks 
at work, we have launched a program of security 
awareness training for our employees, raising our 
protection from within our team.

Looking ahead we will continue with the 
further enhancements of our technology 
and security, while automating even 
more processes

In 2023 we will continue to consolidate our technolo-
gy platforms across our brands. We remain commit-
ted to driving advancements in infrastructure and 
service automation in all aspects of our business 
operations, while improving our ranking and recom-
mendation models.

We will continue to take every opportunity to inject 
value into our industry ecosystem by launching in-
dustry-leading and industry-disrupting products, 
services and features. Our enterprise will further 
simplify the vacation rental searching and booking 
experience for both our travelers and our partners, 
enabling our growth and innovation while enabling 
the whole ecosystem to be even more successful. 

In 2022, e-domizil was fully migrated to our White Label technology
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As HomeToGo continues to grow, we maintain a cul-
ture that is still characterized by a high-growth, en-
trepreneurial startup mentality. Our team is ambi-
tious and passionate about the role they play within 
the HomeToGo Group and the entire travel industry. 
We are proud to be an employer of choice for our 
600+ employees and continue to attract top talent. 

We support our team’s growth with comprehensive 
professional training, internal workshops, coaching 
and mentorship opportunities from an international 
team of passionate industry experts. Everyone is con-

sidered a leader and is enabled to succeed through 
autonomous ownership of high-impact projects de-
spite title or tenure, representing our low office hier-
archies and politics. 

We offer full transparency around strategic compa-
ny goals and empower each team member to own 
their personal growth trajectory by making a tangible 
impact on our innovation and success. We are ambi-
tious and humble; we are not afraid to take informed 
risks, but will admit when we have learning opportu-

our team is made up of open-
minded, motivated professionals 
dedicated to making an impact

act entrepreneurial

embrace change and 
reduce complexity

make our customers 
successful 

Bias for results

always be responsible
hire and develop 
the best 

enable each other 
to succeed

We operate in line with our leadership principles: 
Seven core values that define our culture and the 

work we do every day
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nities or knowledge gaps and will collaborate as a 
team to achieve impressive wins and growth.
 
In addition to our competitive company benefits 
and perks, we offer Flexible Work @ HomeToGo so 
our team members can align together with their 
lead and colleagues on where to best work from, in-
cluding remote work options, state-of-the-art offices 
and work from abroad flexibility.12 Our hybrid ap-
proach makes us stronger than ever and combines 
the best of both working models: in-office collabora-
tion with remote work efficiency. 

To celebrate our team mentality, we offer many 
in-person and virtual company events including our 
summer party, monthly office celebrations, buddy pro-
grams and more. 

12 Regulatory limitations apply

We practice 360° open feedback based 
on respect, transparency and trust to con-
tinuously improve and fuel our growth. 

At HomeToGo we prioritize an open and transparent 
communication to both celebrate our wins and ac-
knowledge opportunity areas. We foster a 360° 
feedback culture through employee surveys, open 
discussion forums at monthly company meetings, 
performance reviews and peer feedback to champi-
on transparency and advancement amongst our 
team. We believe our open feedback culture is the 
basis of our innovation and high-growth potential.
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The appreciation of our open culture and positive 
team experiences can be further exemplified by our 
high scores on public employer rating websites. 
HomeToGo boasts a 4.4/5 rating on Kununu and a 
4.3/5 rating on Glassdoor. HomeToGo was also 
named one of the ten best places to work in Berlin 
by Kununu in 2022. 

In 2023 HomeToGo will continue to prioritize the de-
velopment of our team, focusing on creating new 
synergies and efficiencies across the HomeToGo 
Group. The reduction of employee count at the be-
ginning of the pandemic in 2020, our rigid cost con-
sciousness in 2021, and strictly limiting new hires to 
necessary additions in 2022, have resulted in a stable 
employee headcount level throughout the year.13 As 

13 Excludes M&A activity

we look ahead to achieving Adjusted EBITDA break-
even we remain diligent around selectively hiring 
the best, and aim to modestly grow our employee 
base. We look forward to offering our exceptional 
team a strong career path driven by the endless op-
portunities to make an impact on HomeToGo and 
the broader travel industry, tackling exciting new 
challenges every day together. 

shared value creation:  
introducing our long Term 
incentive program
In 2022 we launched our Long Term Incentive (LTI) Pro-
gram, a carefully reviewed and benchmarked program, 
which is part of HomeToGo’s overall remuneration 
structure moving forward, especially for senior leaders.
We believe that the employees’ participation in our 
shared value creation is an integral part of the com-
pany’s success - it drives motivation, entrepreneurial 
thinking and a sense of belonging.
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By aligning the interests of shareholders and employ-
ees, we promote the pursuit of shareholder value, 
which is also reflected in growing employee interest in 
the drivers of our capital market performance.

strong compliance standards 
are an integral part of our  
daily operations 
In 2022, our compliance system has reached the next 
stage of maturity and healthy incorporation into our 
daily operations. We continuously provide our internal 
guidelines to our employees, as well as guidance en-
suring compliance, confidentiality and overall, a lawful 
conduct. We train our employees in relevant compli-
ance areas through an e-learning system raising 
awareness, enabling them to act appropriately. 

As a listed company, we complemented our compli-
ance system with additional measures to meet the 

requirements of the capital market in the course of 
2021. Ever since, HomeToGo has established a strong 
authority to be compliant with the new setup. 

We continue to maintain our “Speak Up System”, 
through which employees can anonymously report 
suspicious behavior or even possible breaches of 
rules. As far as our interaction with the industry is 
concerned, we adhere to and comply with the rules 
of fair competition. 

In our Technology chapter, we described how we 
continuously strengthen and review our IT security 
strategy and how we prevent unauthorized access 
to our systems. Being a technological innovator, we 
pay special care and diligence to all matters with re-
gards to data protection, with particular emphasis 
on safeguarding personal data by complying with 
evolving GDPR standards. Our internal expert on 
data protection continues to be in close exchange 
with our external data protection officer. 
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our commitment 
to esg

Sogndal (Norway)
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our approach to sustainability 
HomeToGo is committed to continuously driving change 
that positively impacts the lives of our travelers, partners 
and employees, as well as the wellbeing of our planet. 

Our goal is to be at the forefront of sustainable travel 
for the alternative accommodation industry. We 
have aligned our sustainability efforts to focus on 
critical steps we can take for our team, our partners 
and our travelers. 

On a holistic level, travel companies can contribute sig-
nificantly to improving the sustainability of the entire 
travel and tourism ecosystem. This is something 
HomeToGo is eager to work towards as part of its com-
mitment to greater climate action and sustainability. 

The UN’s Sustainable Development Goal #13 reflects 
the need to “take urgent action to combat climate 
change and its impacts,”14 as global greenhouse gas-
ses reach new heights. To limit warming to 1.5° Celsius 
above pre-industrial levels, as set out in the Paris 
Agreement (2016) global greenhouse gas emissions 
will need to peak before 2025.15 HomeToGo is com-
mitted to dedicating efforts into the adherence of the 
Paris Agreement, the reduction of our environmental 
footprint across all sectors of our operations, as well 
as raising awareness of the topic’s importance 
amongst our employees, partners and travelers. 

fostering a culture of  
climate action 
As a team, we foster a culture dedicated to climate ac-
tion – an increasingly important factor in retaining staff 
and attracting new talent.16 We formed an in-house 
Green Team in 2022 that consists of seven employees 

14 Goal #13 manifests the need of taking urgent action to combat climate change and its devastating impacts and is therefore an imperative  
 to save lives and livelihood. It is key to making the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and its 17 Goals a reality; 
 source: United Nations Sustainable Development Goal #13
15 The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. It was adopted by 196 parties at COP 21 in Paris, 
 on December 12, 2015 and entered into force on November 4, 2016. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below 2, 
 preferably to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels; source: United Nations | Paris Agreement
16 Studies show that 71% of job seekers want to work for an environmentally sustainable company after the pandemic; source: IBM Survey
17 The GHG Protocol arose out of the need to help countries and companies account for, report, and mitigate emissions, based on a report  
 that identified an action agenda to address climate change that included the need for standardized measurement of GHG emissions;  
 source: Greenhouse Gas Protocol

from four different teams, bringing a diverse set of per-
spectives and skill sets to identify, evaluate and tackle 
concrete actions to help combat climate change.

To foster education for our employees and external 
stakeholders around our environmental commit-
ment and sustainable travel, we revamped our Climate 
Action Page in 2022 with a robust array of resources. 
Additionally, we have further turned our commit-
ment to mitigating climate change into action by 
continuing our membership with Leaders for Cli-
mate Action, dedicated to fighting climate change 
with 3,000+ other practitioners from 40+ compa-
nies. The following practices foster a collaborative, 
green mindset across the team that enables us to 
lead by example both as an employer and as a trust-
ed partner for our travelers and supply partners. 

 
achieving carbon neutrality
Since 2019, we have been committed to reaching 
carbon neutrality. In partnership with ClimatePart-
ner, an independent climate consultancy, we have 
assessed, calculated and compensated our carbon 
footprint across our operations in close alignment 
with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG).17 

The GHG Protocol is an internationally recognised 
standard for the accounting of corporate emissions. It 
was developed by the World Resources Institute 
(WRI) and the World Business Council for Sustainable 
Development (WBCSD). Five basic principles must be 

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/climate-change/
https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement
https://thecsrjournal.in/ibm-employees-work-environmentally-sustainable-companies-pandemic/
https://ghgprotocol.org
https://www.hometogo.com/about/responsibility/
https://www.hometogo.com/about/responsibility/
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observed when preparing a corporate carbon footprint 
and the corresponding reporting: relevance, com-
pleteness, consistency, accuracy and transparency.

Hereby, we calculate our baseline and scope 3 emis-
sions. Our carbon neutrality includes the compensa-
tion of direct emissions generated by our daily oper-
ations (i.e. heat generation, vehicle fleet, and fugitive 
gasses), as well as the offsetting of our indirect emis-
sions, ranging from purchased energy, business 
travel, and employee commuting.

In 2022 we achieved 
complete carbon neutrality 
across the entire HomeToGo 
Group operations

In calculating our footprint, we conducted a thor-
ough assessment of all baseline and Scope 3 emis-
sions from our 10 global office operations.18 This re-
sulted in a total offset amount of 908,461 kg CO2 for 
2022. The figure below gives an indication of how 
this amount translates into concrete activities and 
motivates us to reduce our operational footprint 
even further in the coming years. 

Our 2022 carbon footprint corresponds to19

18 1.) HomeToGo GmbH, 2.) UAB HomeToGo Technologies, 3.) Feries S.r.l., 4.) Escapada Rural S.L.U., 5.) Smoobu GmbH, 
 6.) HTG International Inc., 7.) Atraveo GmbH, 8.) e-domizil AG, 9.) e-domizil GmbH, 10.) SECRA Bookings GmbH
19 Source: Carbon Slider ClimatePartner
20 Bundesamt für Wirtschaft und Ausfuhrkontrolle (BAFA) is a higher federal authority in the portfolio of the Federal Ministry of Economics  
 and Climate Protection (BMWK). It performs important administrative tasks for the federal government in the areas of foreign trade, 
 economic promotion, energy and auditor supervision; source: Federal Office of Economics and Export Control

Translating our footprint into tangible and proportion-
al equivalents helps the team better understand the 
opportunities for reduction that lie ahead. In the com-
ing years, we plan to develop a number of initiatives 
to reduce our footprint through actively set targets.

practices to reduce our  
environmental footprint
In the context of an energy audit according to §§ 8 ff. 
Energy Services Act (EDL-G) by the BAFA20, HomeToGo 
GmbH carried out an in-depth energy audit in 2020. 
As part of this thorough assessment, HomeToGo 
GmbH provided relevant information that proved that 
our annual energy balance is well below the threshold 
of 500,000 kWh per year, allowing us to forgo a more 
in-depth analysis by an external professional energy 
auditor. Overall, 6 of our 10 offices are already pow-
ered by 100% renewable energy and we are continu-
ously looking for ways to improve that ratio. 

For day-to-day operations across HomeToGo, we 
have already established a set of environmentally 
friendly practices and policies that help our work-
force reduce its environmental footprint. Practices 
include: 

Our Berlin and Kaunas headquarters operate on 
100% green energy. The energy we use produ-
ces no greenhouse gas emissions from fossil 
fuels, which we also began amplifying across all 
of our offices for the operating year of 2022.
We avoid any form of unnecessary business 
travel and prioritize video conferences when 
possible.
We have comprehensive recycling systems and 
actively separate plastic, paper and organic 
waste, as well as batteries, electric and electro-
nic devices and other technological waste.
We have eliminated single use items like uten-
sils, bowls, plates, etc. and replaced them with 
reusable options. 
All employees are given reusable water bottles in 
combination with filtered water tabs in our Berlin 
and Lithuania offices.

…the yearly carbon footprint 
of 80 global citizens

…2,819,892 km driven by car

…the production of 54,371 
pairs of running shoes

https://ftp.climatepartner.com/static2/co2-vergleich/de/html/
https://www.bafa.de/DE/Home/home_node.html
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We host quarterly free vegan dinners and thrift 
markets to support a circular economy.
All company catering actively promotes vegeta-
rian eating, plus we offer regional and seasonal 
fruits throughout the year. 
Implementation of an overall paperless policy, 
advising the workforce to only print paperwork 
when absolutely needed.

Next to impact reduction measures in our office 
spaces, HomeToGo has implemented additional 
practices to reduce our environmental footprint:

We adopt a “train first” approach when it comes 
to all business travel. In 2018, passengers who 
traveled by train produced 79% less GHG 
emissions on average compared to passenger 
flights.21 Due to these significantly lower emis-
sions, we are committed to reducing our 
business travel-related footprint even further in 
the coming years. Our “train first” approach is 
actively promoted and reinforced by our top 
management who continuously leads by 
example. 

21 Source: EEA’s Transport and Environment Report
22 Source: Circular Computing

We also aim to reduce our environmental 
footprint through technology waste. The 
average estimated carbon footprint of a laptop is 
around 422.5 kg, which includes the carbon 
emissions during the production, transportation 
and first four years of use.22 We donated a total 
of 45 laptops, which is 100% of our discarded 
laptops from the years 2019 to 2021. We want to 
make sure that the lifespan of such a device is as 
efficiently used as possible. Therefore, we 
continuously donate gently used laptops to 
Labdoo, a global network of volunteers that 
enables children to participate in the digital 
world through the donation of technological 
devices. Labdoo supports a total of 8 of the 17 
SDGs with their projects, whereas their most 
central goals are good education, digital partici-
pation, equal opportunities for all, boys and girls, 
reduction of imbalances between countries and 
regions as well as sustainable management of 
natural resources. Labdoo serves schools and 
projects in 143 countries and we have been a 
trusted partner on their journey beginning in the 
financial year 2022. 

https://www.eea.europa.eu//publications/transport-and-environment-report-2021
https://circularcomputing.com/news/carbon-footprint-laptop/
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reduction in co2 emissions 
over time
Since 2018, we have offset a total of 
more than 2.2 million kg CO2 emissions 
and counting.
 In the years from 2018 to 202123, we managed to lower 
our carbon footprint by 36% across the German office 
(Berlin headquarters) and two offices in Lithuania 
(UAB HomeToGo Technologies & UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies Vilnius). 

Changes in the CO2 footprint of our operations over 
time (Germany & Lithuania)

When breaking this down into categories, our im-
provements in energy performance are amongst the 
most significant targets, where we have reduced our 
emissions from externally generated heat by 46%, 
from 85,600 kg CO2 in 2018 to 45,867 kg CO2 in 2021. 

Carbon emissions from our employees’ commute to 
work reduced by 15% (2018 – 2021) from 165,000kg 
CO2 in 2018 down to 139,477kg CO2 in 2021. As our 
Flexible Work @HomeToGo approach gains more and 
more popularity, we are also committed to finding 
new ways for our employees to commute to their 
chosen workplace in a way that has minimal impact 
on our environment. 

We achieved the largest reduction in our carbon 
footprint in the field of business travel, where we 
managed to reduce our footprint by 92% over three 
years (2018 – 2021), from 112,700kg CO2 to 8,894kg 
CO2, underlined by our "train first" approach. 

23 When assessing and offsetting the carbon footprint of a company's  
 office activities, it is common practice that the certification of  
 “carbon neutrality” recognized for a given year is based on offsetting  
 the carbon footprint caused in the year before. Therefore, our   
 carbon neutrality in 2022 is based on the offset emissions of 2021.

YEAR TOTAL 
kg CO2 

TOLERANCE YOY CHANGE

2018 427,700 470,500 N/A

2019 494,000 560,000 19%

2020 239,100 263,000 (53%)

2021 274,896 302,387 15%

Carbon Footprint reduction in specific areas of our 
operations over time (Germany & Lithuania)

Despite the significant footprint reduction, some 
emissions remain unavoidable for the time being. 
With the consolidated carbon accounting data of the 
entire HomeToGo Group of the year 2022, our goal is 
to define a clear climate action plan in 2023, as well as 
tangible reduction targets to improve our bottom line, 
calculated on the premise of the emissions of the 
year 2018 as a base year. This will help us to prioritize 
key improvement areas and help us to address levers 
we have not yet tapped into. 

Our remaining emissions of the year 2022 are com-
pensated via accredited climate protection projects 
that are certified according to international standards. 
The five projects we have selected since 2019 include:

Verified climate protection projects and their contri-
bution to SDGs

AREA 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Externally 
generated 
heat

85,600  N/A 42,700 45,867

Employee 
commute

165,000 N/A 24,400 139,477 

Business 
travel 

112,700 N/A 31,010 8,894

PROJECT VERIFIED BY: CONTRIBUTION 
TO SDGS

Wind Energy 
Development 
Nashik, India

TÜV SÜD South 
Asia Private 
Limited

7, 8 & 13

Forest Protection 
Salumei, Papua 
New Guinea

Environmental 
Services Inc.

3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13 
& 15

Forest Protection 
Pará, Brazil

Rina Services, 
TÜV Rheinland 
do Brasil Ltda

 1, 4, 8, 12, 13 & 15

Carbon offset + 
Tree planting 
International + 
Germany

unsere Baum-
pflanzpartner 

 3, 6, 12, 13 & 15

Carbon offset + 
Ocean Protection 
Worldwide

Plastic Bank 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 
9, 10. 11. 12, 13, 14
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An overview of compensation amounts and selected 
projects over time

As we continue to develop our sustainability strate-
gy, we plan to conduct a comprehensive CO2 as-
sessment to analyze which additional operational 
levers we can identify that have the greatest impact 
on climate mitigation opportunities. 

Meeting the growing customer demand 
for sustainable travel options 
Travel companies can contribute significantly to im-
proving the sustainability of the entire travel and 
tourism ecosystem. This is something HomeToGo is 

24 70% of global travelers say they would be more likely to book an accommodation knowing it was eco-friendly; 
 source: Booking.com 2019 Sust. Travel Report
25 “Say-do” gap: 40% of leisure travelers state that they’re willing to pay a premium of min. 2% for sustainable practices, but only 14% have  
 actually paid extra for sustainable options in the past.; source: Skift Research + McKinsey & Company 
26 Accelerating the Transition to Net-Zero Travel; source: Skift Research + McKinsey & Company

eager to work towards in our commitment to greater 
climate protection and sustainability, and will contin-
ue to explore through product innovations and fea-
tures to meet the growing traveler demand for sus-
tainable travel options.24 

As the facilitator of a two-sided marketplace, we 
have the valuable opportunity to impact both supply 
partners and travelers through our product and ser-
vice offerings. For our supply partners, we are fueled 
by the mission to develop a product that incentiviz-
es our partners to consider increasing the level of 
sustainable practices and amenities to their offers 
and turn these into actionable insights and deci-
sion-making criteria for our travelers. Hereby, it is our 
aim to bridge the prevailing, so-called “say-do gap”25 
between the desire to travel more sustainably26 and 
the actual booking of a sustainable travel option. 

By introducing new sustainable product features, we 
aim to help foster a paradigm shift in the travel in-
dustry and ultimately play our part in creating a low-
er-impact travel industry. HomeToGo aspires to build 
a platform that enables travelers to easily choose 
and be better informed about sustainable options 
they have - ultimately facilitating and encouraging 
our travelers to make more sustainable choices. 

Given that this is the first year that HomeToGo is dis-
closing on environmentally related topics under the 
European Non-Financial Reporting Directive, we rec-
ognize that it will be necessary to invest significant 
effort, resources and time to advance our objectives 
and targets. 

Looking ahead, we will continuously monitor and as-
sess the rapidly changing regulations and ensure 
that we closely adhere to the new requirements 
coming our way under the CSRD.

CARBON OFFSETTING PROJECT CO2 IN KG

Climate neutral company
01/2022 – 12/2022
Wind energy
Nashik, India

606,074

Climate neutral company
01/2022 – 12/2022
Carbon offset + *Tree planting, 
International + Germany

302,387

Total: 2022 908,461

Climate neutral company 
01/2021 – 12/2021
Carbon offset + Ocean protection, 
Worldwide

263,000

Climate neutral company 
01/2020 – 12/2020
Forest protection
Pará, Brazil

560,000

Climate neutral company 
01/2019 – 12/2019
Forest protection
Salumei, Papua New Guinea

470,500

https://globalnews.booking.com/bookingcom-reveals-key-findings-from-its-2019-sustainable-travel-report/
https://skift.com/2022/09/22/accelerating-the-transition-to-net-zero-travel-new-skift-mckinsey-research/
https://skift.com/2022/09/22/accelerating-the-transition-to-net-zero-travel-new-skift-mckinsey-research/


HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

71our commiTmenT To esg

our people
Our people are a key component of our operational 
success and one of the most important parts of 
HomeToGo's identity. It’s important that we invest in 
a motivating, attractive environment for incoming 
and existing talent, especially in the current macroe-
conomic landscape where there is a skilled labor 
shortage for top talent. Measures across diversity, 
mental and physical well–being, leadership develop-
ment and offering a high degree of remote work 
flexibility ultimately contribute to lessening turnover 
and retaining top talent.

Within the HomeToGo Group, we place great impor-
tance on establishing structures and practices that 
create true equality of opportunity. We take diversity 
in all forms very seriously, which we aim to further 
emphasize through developing future processes 
and training, in addition to existing policies. 

At HomeToGo, we believe that developing inclusive 
products that enable every traveler to find their per-
fect vacation rental starts with providing an inclusive 
workspace where innovative ideas can flourish. 
HomeToGo is working to build a working environ-
ment, both in a physical and digital setup, where we 
empower every individual to succeed and be their 
true, authentic selves. 

Diversity, Equality and Inclusion 

HomeToGo is an equal opportunity employer, com-
mitted to hiring and nurturing exceptional talent, 
representing various backgrounds, perspectives and 
skills. We are authentically candid and open-mind-
ed, fostering a safe environment for diverse opin-
ions. Our hiring decisions are based on qualifica-
tions, merit and business needs. We do not 
discriminate against race, ethnic origin, gender, sex-
ual orientation, religion, political, ideological or reli-
gious views, disability or age. HomeToGo is dedicated 
to attracting and hiring talent from all backgrounds, 
as we believe that these are strong assets to enrich 
our corporate culture and values. In 2022, we contin-
ued to enhance our hiring strategy, which reflects 
the values and culture we strive to instill and pro-
vides the foundation for an ever-growing, diverse 
workforce. 

27 Currently no indication for *diverse apportionment, as no data points are available

Our team across the HomeToGo Group now consists 
of 600+ employees from 52 different nationalities, 
while 46% of employees and 36% at and above manag-
er level in the HomeToGo Group are women. Addition-
ally, we have employees across a wide range of ages. 

Overview of our team27 

Age Distribution across the entire  
HomeToGo Group 

We place great emphasis on creating structures 
and practices that allow for true equality of opportu-
nity, fairness, respect and dignity across the entire 
HomeToGo Group. In the future, we have an oppor-
tunity to continue to evolve our internal processes, 
policies and training on the topic. 

COMPOSITION OF THE TEAM KPI

# Employees 600+

Unique nationalities 52

Gender split male: 54% / 
female: 46%27 

Female ratio at and above 
manager level

36%

7.00%0.60%

23.40%

26.50

19.00%

12.50%

5.20%
3.20%

2.70% 

7.00%   < 25

23.40%  25 – <30

26.50% 30 – <35

19.00% 35 – <40 

12.50% 40 – <45

5.20% 45 – <50

3.20%  50 – <55

2.70% 55 - <60

0.60% >60
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We actively support engagement in areas that matter 
to our employees. In July 2022, members of the 
HomeToGo team marched in Berlin's Christopher 
Street Day Parade to show love, support and allyship 
to the LGBTQIA+ community. Additionally, HomeToGo 
GmbH proudly made a donation to the Berlin CSD 
e.V., the organization and cause behind the parade. 

We recognize that there is always more room for 
greater diversity, and we are actively working to 
achieve this in the next few years. At HomeToGo, we 
stand firmly behind the idea that a diverse commu-
nity has a positive impact on our working-culture 
and effectiveness, and beyond that, on our prod-
ucts, the company and the industry as a whole. 

Looking ahead, HomeToGo is committed to placing 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues 
at the heart of our corporate policies, culture and 
practices. As we continue to evolve our ESG strate-
gy, we will consider setting targets to continue to 
improve diversity. 

Mental and physical well-being at 
HomeToGo 
We place great importance on the well-being and 
healthiness of our team – occupational safety and 
health is at the forefront of our operational meas-
ures. HomeToGo ensures that the security at our 
workplaces is guaranteed at all times. 

To reinforce this, we are clients of an occupational 
medical service that ensures the observance of all 
safety measurements for physical and mental health 
according to the DGUV law requirements.28 Addi-
tionally, we provide yearly flu shots to all employees 
who are interested, as well as psychological support, 
where we hold a contingent through our medical 
service that HomeToGo staff are welcome to make 
use of. These sessions are ensured to be entirely 
anonymous, confidential and are handled with ex-
treme care. 

In 2021, we started offering online courses by Tech-
niker Krankenkasse (a German health insurance), 
helping our employees maintain a healthy level of 

28 DGUV “Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallversicherung” (German Federal Accident Insurance) is the umbrella organization of the German Social  
 Accident Insurance Institutions and the German Social Accident Insurance Funds, an official body that provides us with a set of rules and  
 regulations including rules, information and principles on occupational health and safety; source: DGUV

mental and physical health, giving them actionable 
tools to do so. 

The effectiveness of physical activity to balance 
stress and foster well-being is what motivated us to 
offer a wide range of free options: from beach volley-
ball games and yoga classes to a subsidized corpo-
rate wellbeing program (covering gym subscriptions 
and other services) for our employees. HomeToGo 
places great emphasis on facilitating access to activ-
ities that in return also foster a sense of belonging 
and team spirit.

To further promote the health of our employees, we 
provide a large selection of fresh fruit and healthy 
drinks in all offices. In addition, employee-initiated ac-
tivities such as running groups, joint half marathon 
training or cooking sessions in our offices are encour-
aged and supported by our office management.

Looking ahead we will be appointing and training an 
internal safety officer, who will be dedicated to the 
continuous improvement and prevention of all occu-
pational risks. HomeToGo will host a training session 
to allow volunteers to become operational and certi-
fied first-aiders by law. As we enhance the inclusion, 
well-being and psychological safety that HomeToGo 
fosters as an employer, we will work ambitiously to 
establish even more processes and policies to en-
sure the set goals are met.

Mastering Flexible Work 

Our People & Organization team is dedicated to pro-
vide an exceptional employee experience by main-
taining an enjoyable and productive environment for 
our HomeToGo team members. We believe in a cul-
ture of openness, accountability and mutual respect, 
which is reflected in a new Flexible Work @ HomeToGo 
approach that we first introduced in 2021. It provides 
a framework for our employees to work effectively 
and efficiently remotely, while we give them the 
tools they need to ensure consistent levels of perfor-
mance, engagement and connectedness.

To effectively ensure that all employees have access 
to a remote workplace that complies with official 

https://www.dguv.de/de/index.jsp
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health and safety recommendations and allows for 
an appropriate level of performance, HomeToGo 
provides the supply of ergonomic chairs, screens 
and laptops, as well as a secure VPN connection to 
ensure uninterrupted work capabilities. 

Especially in times of remote work, it is important to 
assess holistic feedback from the entire workforce in 
order to continuously improve our procedures and 
practices. To ensure this, the People & Organization 
team conducts quarterly employee satisfaction sur-
veys to assess staff satisfaction over time and com-
pare this to industry benchmarks. Additionally, we 
conduct a thorough engagement survey once a 
year, as well as record and analyze bottom-up feed-
back regarding our leadership team to get a holistic 
picture of employee satisfaction, engagement and 
areas for improvement. 

The engagement survey conducted in 2022 con-
firms these efforts. In the “Work Life Balance” sec-
tion, we received a favorable score of 96/100, which 
underlines that our employees feel truly supported 
when they opt for flexible working arrangements.29

Communication, Leadership and Mentoring 

At HomeToGo we lead with open and transparent 
communication. It is our aim to engage with the 
team as much as possible, which has led to a series 
of systems in place which facilitate open and anony-
mous exchange of ideas, feedback and suggestions. 
We prioritize this through our yearly 360° feedback 
cycles, open discussion rounds in monthly company 

29 Provided in collaboration with Culture AMP
30  Yearly anonymous survey which gathers structured feedback and measures the leadership effectiveness of leads with more than  >/= 3  

team members

calls, thorough performance reviews and peer feed-
back tools. 

We believe in the power of learning from each other. 
HomeToGo has an established mentoring program 
that runs twice a year for four months. Through a 
well-designed process, mentees are matched with 
mentors from whom they hope to learn the most. 
Facilitating these connections has fostered fruitful 
and lasting relationships and overall improved con-
nections between people from different teams and 
backgrounds.

To build a high performing organization, we must 
first and foremost develop our leaders and their 
leadership effectiveness. To support this approach, 
HomeToGo offers the leadership training “Mastering 
Leadership Styles”30 that focuses on building and 
strengthening the ability to comfortably shift be-
tween directing, coaching, supporting and delegat-
ing (i.e. situational leadership) through realistic and 
practical work scenarios. 

As our organization grows and evolves, we see more 
and more people taking ownership and moving into 
positions with more responsibility. As an organiza-
tion, we strive to support them with all the neces-
sary tools they need to reach their full potential. 

In addition, our leadership group has access to a 
coaching program delivered by a results-oriented 
digital coaching provider, Sharpist. The coaching 
sessions through Sharpist support our mission to 
drive the growth of our organization and our people 
through engaged leadership. We believe that 1:1 dig-
ital coaching and personalized learning programs 
can greatly enhance the engaged and dedicated 
leadership style we seek to promote at HomeToGo.
In 2022, we established the “HomeToGo Culture 
Group” (HCG), which is made up of seven volunteers 
from a diverse set of backgrounds, teams and sen-
iority levels. The HCG is an employee resource group 
that identifies diversity and inclusion focused topics 
as well as any other culture related challenges that 
are important to our team. The HCG works together 
to define solutions and new initiatives to tackle 
them, while being in close exchange with HomeTo-

FEEDBACK 
SURVEY

FREQUENCY COMPLETION 
RATE

Employee 
Engagement 
Survey 29 

Yearly 72%

Bottom-Up 
Feedback 30

Quarterly 55%

https://www.cultureamp.com
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Go’s Management Board. In doing so, we seek to 
satisfy our employees' need to be actively involved 
in creating solutions that can help shape our culture.

Our solidarity with Ukraine
We at HomeToGo are devastated by the unfolding 
crisis and we stand in solidarity with Ukraine, hop-
ing for a peaceful resolution as soon as possible. Our 
company is built around the concept of home, and 
the fact that Ukrainians continue to flee their own 
homes to protect their personal safety, the most ba-
sic of human rights, is devastating. Following the on-
set of the Ukraine war, our team reacted quickly to 
help provide support: 

We launched Ukraine Relief pages that offer 
trusted resources for those looking for shelter, 
those who can offer temporary housing and 
those who have additional resources to offer – 
all in one informative location. 
Our recruiting team partnered with Imagine 
Ukraine, an incredible community of volunteers 
that helps refugees from the war start new 
chapters elsewhere by matching them with 
diversity-first companies looking for talent, 
including HomeToGo.
We collected a significant six-digit contribution 
made up of generous employee donations to a 
selected list of charitable platforms. Additionally, 
HomeToGo donated a considerable amount to 
the charitable platform OneUkraine gGmbH, 
which works effortlessly to distribute medicine 
and transport Ukrainians to neighboring count-
ries and help them start a life there.
Lastly, we stand in solidarity with Ukraine as one 
team and take action together – marching in 
global protests, arranging transport for refugees, 
collecting and sending supplies, opening our 
own homes and more to support. We are 
especially inspired by our Ukrainian colleagues 
whose fortitude and strength is unmatched. 

Given that this is the first year that HomeToGo is dis-
closing on socially related topics as part of the Euro-
pean Non-Financial Reporting Directive, we recog-
nize that it will be necessary to invest significant 
effort, resources and time to advance our objectives 
and targets in the future. 

Looking ahead, we will continuously monitor and as-
sess the rapidly changing regulations and ensure 
that we closely adhere to the new requirements 
coming our way under the CSRD.

our governance
At HomeToGo, compliance and ethics are the back-
bone that allow us progress towards our vision to 
make incredible homes easily accessible to every-
one. We strive for transparency, sustainability and 
compliance in all our business conducts. We intro-
duced and implemented a compliance function in 
the course of 2021, and ensured to raise awareness 
of the compliance topic as a whole throughout the 
company with accompanying measures, policies, 
training and processes.

We are primarily guided by our Leadership Princi-
ples and Code of Conduct. Acting in an ethical, 
compliant and responsible way is expected from all 
our group members and employees in line with our 
overall culture of accountability and respecting 
these principles. 

More detailed information on our Corporate Govern-
ance as a whole can be found in our Corporate Gov-
ernance chapter. Our internal and external safe-
guards across Corporate Governance have increased 
substantially since establishing our compliance 
function and are continuously being matured and 
evolved to a high standard to ensure we are follow-
ing developments in the regulatory environment 
with our aim to be a good steward. 

Anti-Corruption and Compliance 

Overall, we do not tolerate any kind of corruption and 
always commit to ensuring fair and balanced compe-
tition. This is one of our core corporate values, ensur-
ing that the market has full confidence in our ability to 
conduct business in a responsible manner.

Our Code of Conduct, first introduced in 2021 and 
that all employees are asked to acknowledge and 
follow, sets out our commitment to integrity, trans-
parency and responsibility. The principles in our 
Code of Conduct are a minimum standard that 
binds our employees to compliance with applicable 
legal provisions and our corporate values.
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The section on fair competition in our Code of
 Conduct addresses the following topics:

Preventing corruption
Conflict of interest
Donations, sponsorships and charity work
Antitrust and competition laws
Intellectual property
Non-public information and financial records
Trade, sanctions and anti-money laundering
Selecting business partners

Some processes pertaining to the above topics are 
already in place, while others are planned, partly pre-
pared or not yet on the agenda for the future. We 
continuously address the topics depending on rele-
vance and business impact.

In addition, we incorporated our “Anti-Corruption 
and Conflict of Interest” policy setting out rules on 
how each employee should conduct business to 
avoid risks of corruption and conflicts of interest. As 
a principle it is not permitted to offer, grant, demand 
or accept benefits in exchange for undue influence 
on business decisions.

Processes and guidelines are further detailed for the 
potential offering and acceptance of gifts or invita-
tions in business relationships. Employees have to 
follow this framework and reach out to the compli-
ance officer in case of doubt or to request a required 
approval.

Suspected, actual or potential conflicts of interest 
are disclosed to the compliance officer for transpar-
ency and review. Employees are asked to act in ac-
cordance with what may objectively be seen as the 
best approach for HomeToGo.

In addition, our “Donations and Sponsorships” policy 
outlines how donations to charitable, selected or-
ganizations and sponsorships of selected events 
may be granted in a transparent way always requir-
ing a formal approval from a member of the leader-
ship team and the management. Documentation 
and underlying accounting standards have to be 
ensured. Inter alia, we prohibit donations to political 
parties or for-profit organizations as well as cash pay-
ments or sponsorships to individuals.

Our corporate responsibility requires us to make our 
team aware of the fundamentals of compliance. We 
train our employees in relevant compliance areas 
through a concrete and interactive e-learning sys-
tem once a year that helps raise awareness, enabling 
them to act appropriately. The course covers core 
compliance topics such as equal treatment, corrup-
tion prevention, antitrust law and dealing with con-
flicts of interest. 

In 2022, the training courses reached a completion 
rate across our team as follows, further strengthen-
ing the overall protection of the HomeToGo Group:

Moreover, all employees have to read and acknowl-
edge all compliance policies, making themselves fa-
miliar with the implemented processes particularly 
pertaining to the handling of anti-corruption, con-
flicts of interest, donations and sponsorships.

As far as our interaction with the alternative accom-
modation industry is concerned, we always strive to 
adhere to and comply with the rules of fair competi-
tion. HomeToGo’s standard partner integration agree-
ments cover a compliance clause that guarantees its 
cooperation partners adhere to anti-corruption.

Complying with the above policies, in the financial 
year 2022 reporting period the approvals of dona-
tions were granted to the following:

Christopher Street Day e.V.
OneUkraine gGmbH

TRAINING COURSES COMPLETION RATE

Compliance courses 76%

Data protection course 89%
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For 2022, our compliance KPIs are:

Our Code of Conduct and 
Speak-up System 

Our Code of Conduct emphasizes our speak-up cul-
ture, since we rely on the support of our employees. 
We live up to a corporate environment in which every-
body is free to express concerns if they suspect any 
type of violation of applicable laws or internal policies 
and openly communicate that this may be addressed 
to the management, leads or the compliance officer.

In 2021 we introduced our internal whistleblower 
platform called the “HomeToGo Speak-up System” 
ensuring secure and confidential methods for com-
municating internal complaints on any compliance 
matter, including anti-corruption and potential mis-
conduct. Potential misconduct means suspected vi-
olations of applicable law (laws, ordinances etc.) or 
essential internal policies, including, in particular, 
suspected violations of the HomeToGo Code of 
Conduct. The implementation was welcomed and is 
actively communicated to all employees, while be-
ing easily accessible to them via internal guidelines, 
new employee onboarding, and our internal knowl-
edge database. 

There were no actions or complaints for breach of 
anti-corruption, fraud, donations or other fair com-
petition practices directed against HomeToGo in the 
reporting period. We are committed to upholding 
our integrity as a company by creating a culture and 
business environment that does not endure bribery 
or any other sort of corruption. 

Human Rights

HomeToGo is committed to respecting and promot-
ing the human rights of all its employees and persons 
with whom the company has business relationships. 
Our Code of Conduct specifies that we acknowledge 
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Specifical-
ly we do not tolerate child or forced labor.

Respect and appreciation for each other is a guiding 
principle in our culture. We emphasize equality and 
provide the legal provisions of the German anti-dis-
crimination act (“AGG”) to our employees in our in-
ternal knowledge database. Our openness to differ-
ent countries and cultures is particularly shown by 
the 52 different nationalities of our employees across 
HomeToGo Group.

Discrimination on any ground is not accepted. Employ-
ees are encouraged to report discrimination or harass-
ment via any communication channel, including our 
HomeToGo Speak-Up System, if they wish to remain 
anonymous. In case of a reported suspicion, discrimi-
nation is internally investigated with utmost care. 

There were no actions or complaints for discrimina-
tory behavior or human rights violations directed 
against HomeToGo in the reporting period. There 
were no additional results based on our human 
rights commitment in the Code of Conduct. 

We are committed to upholding our integrity as a 
company by creating a culture and business envi-
ronment that does not tolerate any discrimination or 
any other human rights violation.

our approach to  
non-financial reporting 
We are proud to be founded in the European Union, 
whose EU Sustainable Finance Action Plan has posi-
tioned the EU as a front-runner in terms of action to 
combat climate change and enforce sustainability. The 
EU Sustainable Finance Action Plan details a series of 
regulations that aim at integrating corporates’ and in-
vestors’ sustainability reporting, including the upcom-
ing Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive 

COMPLIANCE KPIS KPI

Number of total reports 4

Investigations resulting 
from reports 2

% of proven incompliance based on 
investigations due to reports 100%

Number of approvals (for invitations/
presents/benefits) granted 6

% of employees who acknowledged and 
read our compliance policies 77%
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(“CSRD”) and a continuously evolving EU Taxonomy 
regulation.31 

According to Article 19a of the NFRD and 29a of the 
CSRD, HomeToGo is required to provide a non-finan-
cial statement given we are a publicly listed compa-
ny and passed the 500+ employee threshold count, 
growing our team 600+ employees globally in the 
financial year 2022.32 This growth was substantiated 
by increasing our headcount due to key acquisitions 
as well as strategic hiring to fuel our performance. 

In order to impactfully progress towards CSRD 
standards we have formed an ESG focus group com-
posed of, among others, Directors across Finance, 
Legal and Communications, supported by our Chief 
Financial Officer.

The active involvement of our Management Board in 
environmentally conscious decision-making adds 
momentum to the topic – In particular, HomeToGo’s 
co-founder and CEO Dr. Patrick Andrae is passionate 
about the field. HomeToGo leadership encourages 
its respective teams to leverage the valuable oppor-
tunity in our two-sided market to influence both sup-
pliers and travelers with our product and service of-
ferings in the future. 

We are fully committed to complying with the cur-
rent NFRD requirements and ensuring we have full 
preparedness in anticipation of the CSRD regulation 
for the upcoming financial year 2024. 

Illustration of ESG-related Risks

The Management Board of HomeToGo SE assumes 
overall responsibility for the development and oper-
ation of an effective risk and opportunity manage-
ment system (RMS) for HomeToGo. More details on 
the RMS and risks specific to ESG can be found on 
page 118. 

31 Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (“CSRD”) describes the new EU legislation requiring all large companies to publish regular 
 reports on their societal and environmental impact, in order to support investors, consumers, policymakers, and other stakeholders in  
 evaluating large companies' non-financial performance; source: European Parliament
32 Non-Financial Reporting Directive (“NFRD”) describes the disclosure of non-financial and diversity information to establish greater business  
 transparency and accountability on social and environmental issues; source: European Commission
33 The EU Taxonomy is a classification system, establishing a list of environmentally sustainable economic activities. It is based on the EU  
 Taxonomy regulation that was published in the Official Journal of the European Union on June 22, 2020 and entered into force on July 12,  
 2020. It establishes the basis for the EU Taxonomy by setting out 4 overarching conditions that an economic activity has to meet in order to  
 qualify as environmentally sustainable; source: European Commission 

eu Taxonomy Disclosure 
With the EU Action Plan on Financing Sustainable 
Growth published in 2018, the European Commis-
sion has evolved the goal of redirecting capital flows 
towards sustainable investments. The EU Taxonomy 
Regulation was put into action by the European Un-
ion to ensure that the European Green Deal and its 
climate targets are met.33 The goal of the Taxonomy 
Regulation is to provide companies, investors and so-
cieties alike with a common framework and classifica-
tion system for which corporate activities (known as 
economic activities under the Taxonomy Regulation) 
can be defined as sustainable for the environment. 
This creates additional transparency around a compa-
nies’ environmental efforts by requiring the disclosure 
of activities and KPIs against key objectives. 

The Taxonomy Regulation details six  
environmental objectives: 

1. Climate change mitigation
2. Climate change adaptation
3. The transition to a circular economy 
4. The sustainable use and protection of water 
 and marine resources
5. Pollution prevention and control
6. The protection and restoration of 
 biodiversity and ecosystems 

HomeToGo welcomes the EU Taxonomy as a unique 
classification for sustainable activities, and it is our 
aim to be compliant with the EU Taxonomy Regula-
tion as part of the requirement to provide a non-fi-
nancial statement under Art. 19a or 29a of the NFRD 
and upcoming CSRD. 

In particular, Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation 
introduces the obligation for HomeToGo to report 
the share of revenue, investment and spend (i.e. 
Turnover, CapEx and OpEx) associated with "green" 
activities for the financial year 2022. 

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20221107IPR49611/sustainable-economy-parliament-adopts-new-reporting-rules-for-multinationals
https://ghgprotocol.org
https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/tools-and-standards/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en
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In order to disclose the necessary EU Taxonomy in-
formation, in line with ensuring preparedness for the 
future CSRD requirements, HomeToGo began a pre-
liminary assessment that will be reinforced within 
the upcoming financial years. This initial assessment 
of eligibility was launched based on a high level anal-
ysis of HomeToGo Group’s economic activities, as-
sessed against: 

a. Delegated Climate Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 of 
June 4, 2021 and its annexes supplementing Regula-
tion (EU) 2020/852 by specifying the technical crite-
ria for determining under which conditions an eco-
nomic activity may be considered to contribute 
substantially to climate change mitigation or climate 
change adaptation

b. Disclosures Delegated Regulation 2021/2178 of the 
European Commission of July 6, 2021 and its annex-
es supplementing Regulation (EU) 2020/852 specify-
ing how to calculate the KPIs and the narrative infor-
mation to be published.

Turnover, CapEx & OpEx

HomeToGo has performed a review of all the eligible 
economic activities listed under the Delegated Cli-
mate Regulation, based on its existing revenue and 
cost streams as well as processes and reporting sys-
tems, including assumptions made by leadership. 

We have flagged those that could be potentially im-
pacted by our business, and mapping them to the 
relevant accounts in our financial accounting sys-
tem. The Taxonomy-eligible activity identified as per 
the Climate Delegate Act as of now is the following: 

34 AWS, Snowflake and Ubilabs making up more than 90% of the costs for data processing, hosting and related activities

HomeToGo’s eligible activity 8.1 Data processing, 
hosting and related activities is managed mostly by  
Amazon Web Services.34 

Based on this analysis, we have derived proportions 
of eligible, non-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned activ-
ities for turnover, capital and operating expenditure 
that are illustrated in the following tables.

Basis for determining the proportions of eligible and 
ineligible activities according to Taxonomy 

The proportions were determined in accordance 
with the requirements of Article 8 of the Delegated 
Climate Regulation. Calculation of the aforemen-
tioned proportions has been based on the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the financial 
year 2022 presented in Chapter 03 of this annual re-
port. The determination of the Taxonomy-aligned 
ratios is based on the following principles:

Turnover
The proportion of Taxonomy-aligned economic ac-
tivities has been determined by dividing the IFRS 
Revenues shares of Taxonomy-aligned economic 
activities (numerator) by total IFRS Revenues (de-
nominator). The denominator is based on IFRS Reve-
nues in accordance with IAS 1.82(a) as presented in 
our consolidated statements of profit or loss. In note 
9 of the notes to our consolidated financial state-
ments for 2022 (Chapter 03 of this annual report) we 
present a breakdown of IFRS Revenues by activity 
areas and provide explanations for the drivers for the 
change compared to the prior period.

We have reviewed the application of the EU Taxono-
my Regulation to our business model on the basis of 
the economic activities listed in the delegated act. 
Our business model is based largely on the following 
activities:

Operating an international online marketplace 
for vacation rentals
Offering software-as-a-service ("SaaS") products 
for semi-professional agencies and homeowners 

ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION ECONOMIC ACTIVITY 
ACCORDING TO EU 
TAXONOMY GUIDANCE 

Hosting of our productive & 
corporate infrastructure in 
Cloud platform suppliers 
using renewable energy and 
low or zero-carbon solutions

8.1 Data processing, 
hosting and related 
activities 
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The above pillars of our business model are not ex-
plicitly listed in the economic activities and provi-
sions of the delegated act. We therefore limited our 
analysis to the following economic activity:

8.1 Data processing, hosting and related activities

As we currently do not generate any Revenues from 
these activities, the proportion of Taxonomy-aligned 
economic activities is determined to be zero.

Operating (OpEx) and capital expenditures (CapEx)
We determined the proportion of Taxonomy-aligned 
operating expenses by comparing our OpEx with 
the economic activities that make a significant con-
tribution to climate protection or adaptation to cli-
mate change in accordance with the EU Taxonomy 
Regulation. In note 10 to 14 of the notes to our con-
solidated financial statements for 2022 (Chapter 03 
of this annual report) we present quantitative break-
downs of our OpEx and provide explanations on the 
content as well as the drivers for the change com-
pared to the prior period. 

We calculated the proportion of Taxonomy-aligned 
capital expenditures (CapEx) in the same way. CapEx 
are all additions to intangible and tangible assets in-
cluding additions from business combinations, with-
out depreciation, amortization, without remeasure-
ment and changes to fair value. Goodwill is not 
included in the calculation of Taxonomy-aligned capi-
tal expenditure, as it is not an intangible asset accord-
ing to IAS 38. In note 19 to 20 of the notes to our con-
solidated financial statements for 2022 (Chapter 03 of 
this annual report) we present quantitative break-
downs of our CapEx as part of the asset ledgers that 
provide explanations on the content as well as the 
drivers for the change compared to the prior period. 

We consider operating and capital expenditures to 
be Taxonomy-aligned if the output stems from a Tax-
onomy-aligned economic activity. We have identi-
fied and analyzed the following economic activities 
in the delegated act that could fundamentally give 
rise to Taxonomy-aligned OpEx or CapEx:

8.1 Data processing, hosting and related activities 

As so far we have identified only one economic ac-
tivity, there is no potential for any double counting in 
OpEx and CapEx across economic activities.
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Proportion of eligible and ineligible activities according to Taxonomy in  Turnover, CapEx and OpEx:
PROPORTION OF TURNOVER FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of Turnover, 
year NET

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity)

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

Turnover of environmentally sustainable 
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)  

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 0 -

Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
envirnomentally sustainable activities (not 
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

0 -

Total (A.1 + A.2) 0 -

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible 
 activities (B) 147 100

Total (A + B) 147 100

PROPORTION OF CAPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of CapEx, 
year NET 

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity) 

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

CapEx of environmentally sustainable 
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 0.3 1

CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
 envirnomentally sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

0.3 1

Total (A.1 + A.2) 0.3 1

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 46.4 99

Total (A + B) 46.7 100
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Proportion of eligible and ineligible activities according to Taxonomy in  Turnover, CapEx and OpEx:
PROPORTION OF TURNOVER FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of Turnover, 
year NET

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity)

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

Turnover of environmentally sustainable 
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)  

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 0 -

Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
envirnomentally sustainable activities (not 
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

0 -

Total (A.1 + A.2) 0 -

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible 
 activities (B) 147 100

Total (A + B) 147 100

PROPORTION OF CAPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of CapEx, 
year NET 

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity) 

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

CapEx of environmentally sustainable 
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 0.3 1

CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
 envirnomentally sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

0.3 1

Total (A.1 + A.2) 0.3 1

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

CapEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 46.4 99

Total (A + B) 46.7 100
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looking ahead
While we are proud to start our ESG journey with 
strong values and commitment in place, it motivates us 
to see that there is significant room for improvement. 

We recognise that it will be necessary to invest sig-
nificant effort, resources and time to advance our 
ESG objectives and targets, including our commit-
ments to climate protection, as more information 
surfaces. We are committed to continuously monitor 
and evaluate external factors such as rapidly chang-
ing regulations, policies and related interpretations. 
We acknowledge that this may require us to revise 
our timelines, commitments or the way ESG report-
ing data is currently measured and reported.

In the upcoming year, we will continue to prioritize 
our ESG agenda in a holistic way and drive its pro-
gress through the commitment of time and resourc-
es. As we move towards the impactful implementa-
tion of CSRD standards, we are committed to 
documenting our evolving environmental, social and 
governmental policies and practices, both for trans-
parency and accountability reasons. In defining KPIs 
and setting specific targets for the future, we strive 
to find standardized ways to monitor and measure 
the impact we have on the material aspects of areas 
where our business can support climate protection, 
diversity, equality and inclusion, and other non-fi-
nancial topics. 

PROPORTION OF OPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of OpEx, 
year NET

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity)

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities 

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities 
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 5.3 2

OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
 envirnomentally sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

5.3 2

Total (A.1 + A.2) 5.3 2

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 209.7 98

Total (A + B) 215.0 100
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PROPORTION OF OPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES 

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria ('Does not Significantly Harm')
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Taxonomy aligned 
proportion of OpEx, 
year NET

Category (enabling or 
 transitional activity)

EUR 
million % % % % % % % Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N 2022

A. Eligible Activities 

A.1 Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities 
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0 -

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not envirnomentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

Data processing, hosting and related activities 8.1 5.3 2

OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible but not 
 envirnomentally sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

5.3 2

Total (A.1 + A.2) 5.3 2

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible Activities

OpEx of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 209.7 98

Total (A + B) 215.0 100
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Dear Shareholders,

The financial year 2022 was another successful year 
for HomeToGo SE (“HomeToGo” or the “Company”). 
We delivered record performance across our busi-
ness on the back of a post-pandemic travel rebound 
as we thrived in a resilient industry despite macroe-
conomic challenges. We continued to provide an 
unparalleled experience for travelers, with an intui-
tive and innovative product that is scaling repeat 
demand across our core regions. This efficient mar-
keting playbook is a strong lever on our path to prof-
itability, and one which we will continue to roll out 
globally. We have grown valuable relationships 
across our supply, proving to partners that we offer 
an attractive traveler base, conversion-optimized de-
mand and advanced software solutions to fuel their 
growth. Plus, our targeted M&A activity and strategy 
to acquire, integrate and scale profitable businesses – 

AMIVAC, e-domizil and SECRA – continue to support 
our performance. We largely owe this success to our 
colleagues – a dynamic, international group of tal-
ented professionals – who are the backbone of our 
growth. 

2022 was also the first full financial year since 
HomeToGo became a company listed on the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange in September 2021. In 2022, the 
Supervisory Board continued to fulfill all of its duties 
as required by law, the Articles of Association and its 
rules of procedure with the utmost care. It regularly 
monitored the Management Board of the Company 
on the basis of comprehensive reports and provided 
advice on HomeToGo’s strategic development and 
on important individual measures, about which the 
Supervisory Board was regularly and thoroughly in-
formed by the Management Board. This occurred 
both during and outside of the meetings of the Su-

homeTogo se
Report of the Supervisory Board for the 
Financial Year 2022
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pervisory Board and its Audit Committee in the form 
of written as well as oral reports. Matters ranged 
from the development of the business, questions on 
planned and current investments and acquisitions, 
the state of HomeToGo including its risk position, to 
risk management and compliance. Furthermore, the 
Management Board aligned HomeToGo’s strategic 
focus with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board discussed in detail the reports prepared by 
the Management Board and also deliberated on fu-
ture prospects for HomeToGo with the Management 
Board. It was convinced of the lawfulness, expedien-
cy and propriety of the Management Board’s leader-
ship of HomeToGo and was involved in its capacity 
as the supervising body in all fundamental decisions 
of HomeToGo.

The Supervisory Board was always promptly and 
comprehensively informed of current developments 
and significant individual issues by the Management 
Board. The Supervisory Board was involved at an ear-

ly stage in decisions of major importance, in particu-
lar regarding the strategy for HomeToGo to break-
even on an Adjusted EBITDA basis in 2023, as well as 
significant M&A transactions and their subsequent 
integration progress. The Supervisory Board passed 
resolutions on all of those individual measures taken 
by the Management Board, which by law, the Arti-
cles of Association or applicable rules of procedure 
required the approval of the Supervisory Board.

At the start of the financial year 2022, the Superviso-
ry Board was initially composed of Christoph Schuh 
(Chairman), Dr. Dirk Altenbeck (Deputy Chairman), 
Philipp Kloeckner, Thilo Semmelbauer, Susanne 
(Greenfield) Sandler and Martin Reiter. Following the 
resignation of Thilo Semmelbauer with effect as 
from the end of June 30, 2022, the Supervisory 
Board co-opted Christina Smedley as member of 
the Supervisory Board effective July 1, 2022, result-
ing in its current composition as broken down below.

NAME AGE START OF TERM END OF CURRENT TERM COMMITTEES

Christoph Schuh (Chairman) 58 years 2021 2023 Audit Committee

Dr. Dirk Altenbeck 
(Deputy Chairman)

57 years 2021 2023 Audit Committee 
(Chairman)

Philipp Kloeckner 42 years 2021 2023 None

Martin Reiter 39 years 2021 2023 None

Susanne (Greenfield) Sandler 38 years 2021 2023 Audit Committee

Christina Smedley 55 years 2022 2023 None

meetings of the  
supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board held four formal meetings in 
the financial year 2022. In addition, the Supervisory 
Board members attended a financial update call by 
the Management Board and joined topic specific in-
depth sessions with further members of the senior 
management. 

Despite the restrictions due to the then ongoing Cov-
id-19 pandemic, the Supervisory Board was able to 
hold all proposed meetings in person or via video 
conference. The meetings were attended by all mem-
bers of the Management Board.
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Key activities

In addition to the Management Board reporting, in 
particular, with regard to the economic state and de-
velopment of HomeToGo and on material business 
events as well as the statutory regular reporting on 
intended business policy and fundamental questions 
with regard to HomeToGo’s operative planning and 
profitability, especially the following topics were dealt 
with in depth by the Supervisory Board during the 
course of the financial year 2022:

Preparation of the annual financial statements 
for the financial year 2021 and their review by 
the Supervisory Board;
The Company’s long-term incentive programs 
for the Management Board and employees of 
the HomeToGo Group;
The invitation to and the agenda of the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 
May 24, 2022, including the proposals for 
resolutions;
Strategic positioning and structuring of the 
business organization;
Demand and supply strategy with a view 
towards marketing efficiency and margin 
growth;
Significant M&A transactions and their subse-
quent integration progress; and
Strategy and composition of measures for 
HomeToGo to break-even on an Adjusted 
EBITDA basis in 2023.

audit committee

The Supervisory Board has one committee, the Audit 
Committee, the current members of which are Dr. Dirk 
Altenbeck (Chairman), Susanne (Greenfield) Sandler 
and Christoph Schuh. Prior to July 1, 2022, Thilo Sem-
melbauer was a member of the Audit Committee. Fol-
lowing his resignation, the Supervisory Board elected 
Susanne (Greenfield) Sandler as a new member of the 
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee met six times during the finan-
cial year 2022 and held its meetings both virtually and 
in person. 

In addition to generally overseeing the accounting and 
financial reporting processes of the Company, the au-
dit of HomeToGo's annual accounts and consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the choice of the Com-
pany's independent auditor, especially the following 
topics were dealt with in depth by the Audit  Committee:

Review and discussion of HomeToGo’s audited 
annual financial statements with the Manage-
ment Board and the Company’s independent 
auditor;
Discussion of HomeToGo’s interim financial 
statements for the first and third quarter as well 
as the first half of the financial year;
Discussion of the Company’s remuneration report 
submitted for advisory vote to the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders;
Review and discussion of HomeToGo’s risk 
management, compliance management as well 
as its internal control system; and
Review and discussion of the audit plan for the 
financial year 2022, developed by the Company’s 
independent auditor.
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conflicts of interest
No conflicts of interest were reported by or to the 
members of the Supervisory Board or were discern-
ible in the reporting period.

corporate governance
As a Luxembourg company, whose shares are list-
ed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, HomeToGo is 
neither required to adhere to the Luxembourg cor-
porate governance regime applicable to companies, 
whose shares are traded in Luxembourg, nor to the 
German corporate governance regime applicable 
to listed companies in Germany. While HomeToGo 
does not apply the Luxembourg or German corpo-
rate governance regime in its entirety on a voluntary 
basis, HomeToGo and the Supervisory Board remain 
committed to applying and implementing high corpo-
rate governance standards throughout HomeToGo’s 
organization.

audit and approval of the 
annual accounts and conso-
lidated financial statements
The annual accounts and the consolidated financial 
statements for the financial year 2022, both includ-
ing the combined management report, were audit-
ed with an unqualified audit opinion. The Manage-
ment Board forwarded the annual accounts and the 
consolidated financial statements together with its 
proposal for the allocation of profits/losses of the 
Company as well as the auditors’ reports to the Su-
pervisory Board and the Audit Committee.

In the first step, the Audit Committee comprehen-
sively examined and discussed the annual accounts 
and consolidated financial statements and the pro-
posal for the allocation of profits/losses in the pres-
ence of the auditor. The auditor reported on the 
most significant audit matters.
Thereafter and based on the Audit Committee’s rec-
ommendation, the Supervisory Board examined the 
annual accounts and consolidated financial state-

ments for the financial year 2022 as well as the pro-
posal of the Management Board for the allocation of 
profits/losses of the Company. The result of the 
pre-assessment conducted by the Audit Committee 
and the Supervisory Board’s own findings corrobo-
rated the result of the external auditor. Based on this 
final review, the Supervisory Board raised no objec-
tions to the audit. 

The Supervisory Board, therefore, approved the an-
nual accounts and the consolidated financial state-
ments for the financial year 2022 and approved their 
respective submission to the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 23, 2023. 
The Supervisory Board concurred with the proposal 
of the Management Board to carry forward the net 
loss of the financial year 2022 to new account.

closing remarks of the 
chairman of the supervisory 
Board
All employees across the entire HomeToGo Group as 
well as all present and former members of the Su-
pervisory Board and the Management Board de-
serve special thanks and recognition for their excel-
lent performance in 2022. The continued success of 
HomeToGo would not be possible without the dedi-
cation, hard work and positive collaboration of all 
board members and employees.

Luxembourg, March 29, 2023

For the Supervisory Board 
Christoph Schuh
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of HomeToGo SE
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The corporate governance of HomeToGo SE (the 
“Company” or “HomeToGo”) is primarily determined 
by the applicable Luxembourg law, in particular the 
law of August 10, 1915 on commercial companies, as 
amended, and the law of May 24, 2011, on the exercise 
of certain shareholder rights in listed companies, as 
amended, the Company’s Articles of Association as 
well as the rules of procedure of the Company’s Man-
agement Board (the “Management Board’s Rules of 
Procedure”), the rules of procedure of the Company’s 
Supervisory Board (the “Supervisory Board’s Rules of 
Procedure”) and the terms of reference of the Com-
pany’s Audit Committee (the “Charter of the Audit 
Committee”). HomeToGo is committed to ensuring 
compliance with its core values of integrity, transpar-
ency and responsibility through the Company’s code 
of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”). The principles 
set out in the Code of Conduct are binding for every 
employee of the Company. 

As a Luxembourg company, whose shares are trad-
ed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, HomeToGo is 
neither required to adhere to the Luxembourg cor-
porate governance regime applicable to companies, 
whose shares are traded in Luxembourg, nor to the 
German corporate governance regime applicable to 
listed companies in Germany. The Company has 
opted not to apply the Luxembourg or German cor-
porate governance regime in its entirety on a volun-
tary basis either. However, HomeToGo remains com-
mitted to applying and implementing a high standard 
of corporate governance throughout its organization 
and has therefore decided to set up its own corpo-
rate governance rules as described in the following 
paragraphs in order to build up a corporate govern-
ance structure, which meets the specific needs and 
interests of the Company. The Company is, for ex-
ample, in compliance with those rules of the Ger-
man corporate governance code that it believes to 
be of particular importance such as that the Audit 
Committee of the Company’s Supervisory Board is 
being chaired by an independent member of the 

Supervisory Board, Dr. Dirk Altenbeck, who has spe-
cific knowledge and experience in applying ac-
counting principles and who is not the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board.

The Company is obliged under Luxembourg law to 
draw up a remuneration policy for the Management 
Board as well as for the Supervisory Board. The prin-
ciples and measurement of the remuneration policy 
are prepared in accordance with the aforementioned 
Luxembourg law of May 24, 2011. The Company’s 
current remuneration policy has been in force as 
from the financial year 2022 and is available on the 
Company’s website. The annual remuneration re-
port for the financial year 2022 will be published 
separately from this Annual Report prior to the Com-
pany’s General Meeting of Shareholders scheduled 
to be held on May 23, 2023.

Under the Code of Conduct, all employees of Home-
ToGo are required to abide by applicable laws and 
practice a culture of integrity, thereby committing to 
the Company’s core values. The Code of Conduct 
outlines the values, corporate responsibility, commit-
ment to fair competition and principles of internal 
communication for the Company.

In all business dealings, HomeToGo is committed to 
its core values of integrity, transparency and respon-
sibility. The teams and focus groups work together 
on the basis of openness, respect and constructive 
cooperation, thereby fostering a culture and work 
environment that empowers every employee to do 
their best work. This approach ensures the Compa-
ny’s success, which is based on great products and 
services, happy and loyal customers as well as the 
Company’s reputation.

In order to work to the highest principles of quality, 
the Company adheres to all legal requirements, tech-
nical rules and regulations and complies with all rele-
vant approval processes. HomeToGo is committed to 

corporate governance report 
of homeTogo se
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the promotion and respect of human rights, in par-
ticular in relation to its employees and its business 
partners. Demonstrating openness to people from 
different backgrounds, HomeToGo is firmly opposed 
to any form of discrimination. To create a safe and 
healthy working environment, the Company com-
plies with all legal requirements and takes all neces-
sary measures to prevent health risks associated 
with work. The promotion of sustainability and envi-
ronmental protection is of paramount importance 
for HomeToGo. The Company seeks to reduce its 
environmental impact, remain climate-neutral and 
fight against the climate crisis. Measures to this pur-
pose include the complete climate neutrality for all 
of HomeToGo’s offices. 

Given that HomeToGo operates online platforms, 
the Company is aware of the special responsibility 
with regard to data protection and IT security. In or-
der to protect all personal data of its customers, sup-
pliers, further business partners and employees, the 
Company complies with the applicable provisions 
and requirements under the applicable data protec-
tion laws and is particularly committed to basic prin-
ciples such as purpose limitation, storage limitations 
and the accountability of the person responsible for 
processing the data. The Company has implement-
ed appropriate technical and organizational meas-
ures to protect its data from unauthorized access. 
Furthermore, HomeToGo attaches importance not 
to disclose confidential information, which may in-
clude, inter alia, technical and financial data or busi-
ness strategies relating either to the Company or to 
entities outside of the Company. 

To ensure that the market trusts the Company to 
conduct its business responsibly, HomeToGo strives 
to maintain fair and balanced competition. No form 
of corruption or fraud is tolerated. Employees may 
accept only reasonable, socially adequate benefits 
from business partners and it is strictly forbidden for 
them to accept benefits that may influence their 
business decisions. Making sure that action is always 
taken in the interests of HomeToGo, employees 
must inform their office superior or the Company’s 
compliance office (the “Compliance Office”) in the 
event of a potential conflict of interest, so that an ap-
propriate course of action can be determined inter-
nally. Donations, sponsorships and charity work are 
only carried out with respect to selected organiza-
tions and causes in a transparent way, in accordance 

with HomeToGo’s internal policies, and must not 
harm the Company’s reputation. Committing to fair 
and open competition, all employees are expected 
to act in accordance with applicable antitrust and 
competition laws. Any kind of arrangement or ex-
change of information aimed at or causing any re-
straints of competition is not permitted. The Com-
pany respects the intellectual property of its 
customers, business partners and third parties. By 
respecting financial laws and the confidentiality of 
non-public information, HomeToGo maintains the 
trust of its investors and the public. No employee 
may disclose non-public information without due 
authorization or use non-public information for pri-
vate purposes. Acknowledging the critical impor-
tance of market transparency and accurate and reli-
able financial and business records, the Company 
complies with all legal provisions on proper account-
ing and financial reporting. The Company complies 
with all applicable trade regulations and sanctions 
regimes and implements any new provisions as soon 
as possible. Employees are required to report any in-
dications of money laundering to the Compliance 
Office. With regard to the choice of business part-
ners, HomeToGo applies the same high ethical and 
legal standards. Business partners are selected ex-
clusively on objective criteria. 

The Company’s compliance system contributes to 
the effective implementation of the aforementioned 
values, principles and rules. Employees are encour-
aged to be alert, observant and to express concerns 
if they suspect a violation of a corporate governance 
rule. Concerns can be addressed to office superiors 
or the Compliance Officer. Furthermore, suspected 
wrongdoing can be reported on an anonymous ba-
sis through HomeToGo’s internal communication 
channels.
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procedures of the  
management Board and  
the supervisory Board
Management Board Procedures

The Company is managed by the Management 
Board, which exercises its functions under the su-
pervision of the Supervisory Board. The Manage-
ment Board is vested with the broadest powers to 
act in the name of the Company and to take any ac-
tion necessary or useful to fulfill the Company's cor-
porate purpose, with the exception of the powers 
reserved to the Supervisory Board or to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders by any laws, regulations or 
by the Articles of Association.

The Management Board bears responsibility for 
managing HomeToGo’s business. It is bound to act in 
the interest of the Company and to increase the 
long-term value of HomeToGo. The four members of 
the Management Board are responsible for HomeTo-
Go’s strategy and its day-to-day implementation. 
They work collaboratively and inform each other 
constantly about any significant measures and 
events within their area of responsibility. 

The Management Board develops HomeToGo’s 
strategy under the supervision of the Supervisory 
Board and ensures its implementation. It also con-
ducts the Company’s business with the due care 
and diligence of a prudent and conscientious man-
ager in accordance with applicable law, the Articles 
of Association and the Management Board’s Rules of 
Procedure. The Management Board cooperates in 
an atmosphere of collegiality and trust with the oth-
er bodies of the Company in the best interest of 
HomeToGo.
 
The collaboration and responsibilities of the mem-
bers of the Management Board are set out in the 
Management Board’s Rules of Procedure. The Man-
agement Board represents the Company in dealing 
with third parties. With regard to the daily manage-
ment of the Company’s affairs, the Management 
Board may delegate such actions to one or several 
members of the Management Board, officers or 
agents. Pursuant to the Articles of Association and 
the Management Board’s Rules of Procedure, the 
Company is bound towards third parties by the joint 

signature of any two members of the Management 
Board, or by the individual or joint signature of any 
persons to whom such signatory power may have 
been delegated by the Management Board within 
the limits of such delegation.

According to the Management Board’s Rules of Pro-
cedure, the Management Board shall endeavor to 
hold one meeting in each calendar quarter. Addi-
tional meetings are held if necessary. At least every 
three months the Management Board provides a 
written report to the Supervisory Board on the busi-
ness of HomeToGo and its foreseeable future devel-
opment. In addition, the Management Board is 
obliged to promptly inform the Supervisory Board of 
any events likely to have a material effect on the 
Company.

Any member of the Management Board, who has a 
financial interest conflicting with the interest of the 
Company in connection with a transaction falling 
within the responsibility of the Management Board, 
is required to disclose such conflict of interest imme-
diately to the Supervisory Board and inform the oth-
er members of the Management Board thereof. The 
relevant member of the Management Board may not 
take part in the discussions relating to such transac-
tion nor vote on such transaction. Any such conflict 
of interest must be reported to the next General 
Meeting of Shareholders prior to such meeting tak-
ing any resolution on any other item. In addition, the 
authorization of the Supervisory Board is required 
for transactions relating to such conflict matters.

Supervisory Board Procedures 

The Supervisory Board is in charge of the permanent 
supervision and control of the Company’s manage-
ment by the Management Board. It may in no case 
interfere with such management. The Supervisory 
Board has an unlimited right of information regard-
ing all operations of the Company and may inspect 
any of the Company’s documents. It may request 
the Management Board to provide any information 
necessary for exercising its functions and may di-
rectly or indirectly proceed to all verifications, which 
it may deem useful in order to carry out its duties. A 
member of the Management Board cannot simulta-
neously also be a member of the Supervisory Board.
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The Supervisory Board regularly advises the Man-
agement Board in its management of HomeToGo. It 
is involved in all decisions of fundamental impor-
tance for the Company. The Supervisory Board con-
ducts its business in accordance with the applicable 
law, the Articles of Association and the Supervisory 
Board’s Rules of Procedure. It cooperates closely in 
an atmosphere of trust with the other corporate 
bodies of the Company, in particular with the Man-
agement Board, in the best interest of HomeToGo. 
Pursuant to the Articles of Association and the Su-
pervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure, the Superviso-
ry Board must be composed of at least three mem-
bers. The Supervisory Board must comprise what it 
considers an adequate number of independent 
members. However, at least one member of the Su-
pervisory Board must be independent. Currently, 
the Supervisory Board has six members, all of which 
are considered independent.

The Supervisory Board has adopted the Supervisory 
Board’s Rules of Procedure. The Supervisory Board’s 
Rules of Procedure govern the procedures and re-
sponsibilities of the Supervisory Board. The Supervi-
sory Board holds at least one meeting per calendar 

NAME NATIONALTY AGE POSITION START OF TERM END OF CURRENT 
TERM

Dr. Patrick Andrae German 41 years Co-founder, 
Chief Executive Officer

2021 2025

Wolfgang Heigl German 54 years Co-founder, 
Chief Strategy Officer

2021 2024

Valentin Gruber German 32 years Chief Operating Officer 2021 2025

Steffen Schneider German 51 years Chief Financial Officer 2021 2025

 

quarter. Additional meetings are convened if neces-
sary. The Supervisory Board reviews the efficiency of 
its activities at least annually. The Supervisory Board is 
subject to the same rules regarding conflicts of inter-
est as the Management Board as described above.

The Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure also lay 
out procedures and responsibilities for the Compa-
ny’s committees. Currently, the Supervisory Board 
has one such committee, the Audit Committee, 
whose procedures and responsibilities are governed 
by the Charter of the Audit Committee.

 
composition of the  
management Board and  
the supervisory Board
Composition of the Management Board

Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, when appointing members of the Manage-
ment Board, the Supervisory Board shall also take 
diversity into account. The age limit for members of 
the Management Board is 69. With regard to succes-
sion, the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board must ensure that there is a long-term succes-
sion planning of the Management Board.

The following table lists the current members of the 
Management Board: 

Members of the Management Board
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composition of the  
supervisory Board 
Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, each member of the Supervisory Board must 
have the required knowledge, abilities and expert 
experience to fulfill his or her duties properly. At 
least one member of the Supervisory Board must 
have knowledge in the field of accounting and audit-
ing. Each member of the Supervisory Board must 
ensure that he or she has sufficient time to perform 
his or her mandate. The members of the Superviso-
ry Board must take responsibility for undertaking any 
training of professional development measures nec-
essary to fulfill their duties. The Company must ade-
quately support them in this regard. 

In the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Procedure, the 
Supervisory Board has specified the following goals 
for its composition and the following profile of skills 
and expertise for its members: 

The Supervisory Board members taken together 
shall have the required knowledge, abilities and 
expert experience required to successfully 
complete their tasks. 
Each of the Supervisory Board members must 
be familiar with the sector in which the Compa-
ny operates. 
At least one member of the Supervisory Board 
shall not have any board position, consulting or 
representation duties with main suppliers, lenders 
or other business partners of the Company. 
The Supervisory Board members must not 
exercise directorships or similar positions or 
advisory tasks for material competitors of the 
Company. 
The age limit for members of the Supervisory 
Board is 69.

Pursuant to the Supervisory Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure, proposals by the Supervisory Board to the Com-
pany’s General Meeting of Shareholders for its com-
position must aim at fulfilling the aforementioned 
overall profile of the required skills and expertise. 
The following table lists the current members of the 
Supervisory Board:

NAME NATIONALITY AGE PROFESSION START OF 
TERM

END OF 
CURRENT 
TERM

FUNCTIONS IN THE BOARD

Christoph 
Schuh

German 58 years Active Investor 2021 2023 Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, Member of the Audit 
Committee

Dr. Dirk 
Altenbeck

German 57 years Tax Consultant 2021 2023 Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee

Philipp 
Kloeckner 

German 42 years Marketing and 
due diligence 
advisor, mentor 
and angel 
investor

2021 2023 –

Martin Reiter Austrian 39 years Manager, 
entrepreneur

2021 2023 –

Susanne 
(Greenfield) 
Sandler

US-American 38 years Manager 2021 2023 Member of the Audit 
Committee

Christina 
Smedley

US-American 55 years Manager, 
entrepreneur

2022 2023 –
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audit committee 
The Audit Committee oversees the accounting and 
financial reporting processes of the Company, the 
audits of the financial statements of the Company, 
internal control and choice of the Company’s inde-
pendent auditor. The mode of operation as well as 
the duties and responsibilities are set out in the 
Charter of the Audit Committee. The powers and 
responsibilities of the Audit Committee include (i) 
the discussion of the Company’s earnings press re-
leases as well as financial information and earnings 
guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies 
with the Management Board and the Company’s in-
dependent auditor, (ii) the review and approval of all 
related-party transactions, (iii) the discussion of cer-
tain correspondences and legal matters, (iv) request-
ing certain assurances from the Management Board 
and the Company’s independent auditor with regard 
to foreign subsidiaries and foreign affiliated entities, 
(v) the discussion of risk assessment and risk man-
agement with the Management Board, (vi) setting 
clear hiring policies for employees of former em-
ployers of the Company’s independent auditor, (vii) 
establishing procedures for the receipt, retention 
and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, 

internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and 
(viii) providing the Company with any report of the 
Audit Committee required to be included into the 
Company’s periodic reports and any legally required 
reports. 

The Audit Committee consists exclusively of mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board and must consist of at 
least three members. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee must have specific knowledge and ex-
perience in applying accounting principles and in-
ternal control procedures. The majority of the Audit 
Committee must be independent of the Company. 
The Chairman of the Audit Committee must be des-
ignated by the Supervisory Board and must be inde-
pendent of the Company. Members of the Audit 
Committee as a whole shall be competent in the 
business sector of the Company. Neither the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board nor former members 
of the Management Board, whose terms of office 
ended less than two years ago, must be appointed 
as Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

The current members of the Audit Committee are 
Dr. Dirk Altenbeck (as Chairman), Christoph Schuh 
and Susanne (Greenfield) Sandler.
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2022 has been a challenging year for global capital 
equity markets in general and growth stocks in par-
ticular. Given this environment, the leading German 
stock market index DAX lost 12.7% and closed the 
year at 13,924 points in December 2022 amid con-
cerns about inflation, rising interest rates, energy 
supply and continued supply chain disruptions. Fol-
lowing the Russian invasion of Ukraine, energy costs 
increased significantly and further drove up inflation 
rates. Central banks across the globe increased in-
terest rates to fight inflation. 

stock market development  
in 2022 
The stock market year 2022 was once again charac-
terized by several uncertainties in line with the glob-
al macroeconomic environment. In 2022, the DAX 
started well and reached a record high of 16,272 
points in early January 2022 before major concerns 
about inflation and the build-up of the Russian forc-
es ahead of the invasion of Ukraine put significant 
pressure on the index. Following the onset of the 
war in Ukraine the DAX fell to 12,614 points in early 
March before recovering. Following concerns about 
energy supply the DAX reached a low for 2022 at 
11,952 points in early October. 

The German TecDAX index performed similarly with 
its high of 3,950 points in January and a low of 2,594 
points in September before closing at 2,921 points by 
the end of December. The U.S. NASDAQ index also 
declined significantly during 2022 following a high 
above 16,000 points in January to a low of below 
11,000 points in December. It should be noted that 
sectors like oil & gas performed relatively well while 
the technology and Internet stocks were hit hard as 
investors were recalibrating their views on the sector, 
with more focus on profitability and less on growth.

Development of the  
homeTogo share
HomeToGo could not decouple from the overall mar-
ket development, in particular the development of the 
technology and Internet stocks. Given the dynamic 
development of the stock market and despite Home-
ToGo’s demonstrated resilience of its business model 
with record performance, HomeToGo's share price un-
derperformed, with -58.4% at the end of 2022. 

The share initially opened at a price of EUR 5.43 on 
January 3, 2022 and closed at a price of EUR 2.26 on 
December 30, 2022. The share reached its highest 
price during the reporting period at EUR 7.70 on Jan-
uary 12, 2022, and its lowest price during the period 
was EUR 1.74 on October 24, 2022.

The average daily trading volume in the reporting 
period was 27,200 shares. 

As of the balance sheet date December 31, 2022, the 
market capitalization of HomeToGo SE amounted to 
EUR 269 million based on 119.1 million shares out-
standing at a closing price of EUR 2.26.

homeTogo share development 
in line with difficult market  
environment for technology and 
internet stocks
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On September 15, 2022 HomeToGo was admitted to 
the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, 
the segment of the regulated market with the highest 
standard of transparency in Germany and across Eu-
rope. The uplisting from General to Prime Standard 
underscores the ongoing commitment to fulfilling 
capital market best practices including the highest 
reporting transparency requirements for sharehold-
ers. The uplisting makes HomeToGo shares more at-
tractive and visible to analysts and investors, especially 
on an international scale, and is expected to contribute 
to increased share liquidity.

ISIN LU2290523658

WKN A2QM3K

Source: Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

analyst coverage
HomeToGo was covered by analysts from Deutsche 
Bank, Berenberg Bank and Bader Bank. 

HomeToGo strives to maintain and strengthen the 
trust of all capital market participants through close, 
regular and open dialogue. We do so by engaging 
with institutional investors in numerous one-on-one 
meetings, calls, roadshows and conferences around 
the globe. 

As such, we participated in a number of events and 
hosted our Capital Markets Day on November 11, 2022. 
An overview of previous and planned activities can 
be found in the financial calendar on our Investor 
Relations Website. 

INSTITUTION PRICE 
TARGET

RATING ANALYST LATEST 
UPDATE

Berenberg EUR 
7.00

Buy Wolfgang 
Specht

Dec 2, 
2022

Deutsche 
Bank

EUR 
6.70

Buy Silvia 
Cuneo

Nov 14, 
2022

Baader Bank EUR 
6,50

Buy Volker 
Bosse

Nov 11, 
2022

6.73
EUR

January 03, 2022 – December 30, 2022

6.06
5.38
4.71
4.04
3.37
2.69
2.02
1.35

1.74
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DATE EVENT

March 7, 2022 UBS Technology Conference

March 14, 2022 Berenberg EU Opportunities 
Conference

March 24, 2022 Goldman Sachs European Digital 
Economy Conference

May 4, 2022 Goldman Sachs Small- & Mid-Cap 
Symposium

May 23, 2022 Equity Forum Spring Conference 
2022

May 24, 2022 Annual General Meeting

May 25, 2022 dbAccess German Corporate 
Conference

June 13, 2022 Barclays Internet Conference

June 20, 2022 SdK Schutzgemeinschaft der 
Kleinanleger

June 23, 2022 Goldman Sachs Business Services, 
Leisure & Transport Conference

September 20, 
2022

Berenberg German Conference

September 22, 
2022

Baader Investment Conference

November 11, 
2022

Capital Markets Day

November 18, 
2021

Morgan Stanley European TMT 
Conference

November 28-30, 
2022

Deutsche Börse AG: Deutsches 
Eigenkapitalforum 2022

Basic information on the  
homeTogo share 

BASIC INFORMATION 

First Day of Trading September 22, 2021

Issuer HomeToGo SE

Listing Venue Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange

Market Segment Regulated Market (Prime 
Standard) of Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange

Public Share ISIN LU2290523658

Public Share WKN A2QM3K

Public Share Ticker 
Symbol

HTG

Total Number of Shares 
Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2022

119,077,456 (114,494,123 
Class A Shares and 
4,583,333 Class B 
Shares)

Total Number of Issued 
Shares as of December 31, 
2022

127,138,982 (122,555,649 
Class A Shares and 
4,583,333 Class B Shares)

Issued Share Capital as of 
December 31, 2022

EUR 2,441,068.45

Type of Shares Class A Shares (Public 
Shares) and Class B 
Shares (Founder Shares)

Public Warrants ISIN LU2290524383

Public Warrants WKN A3GPQR

Public Warrants Ticker 
Symbol

HTGW

Paying Agent Banque Internationale à 
Luxembourg S.A.

financial calendar 2022

4.2%
TruVenturo GmbH 

6.3%
Treasury Shares  

31.9%
Others  

17.9%
HTG Insight IX S.à r.l.  

14.7%
Klaus 
Hommels **

8.9% 
DN Capital 
(UK) LLP  

8.6% 
Acton GmbH & Co. 
Heureka II KG  

 7.4%
Management Board

shareholder structure*

* As of December 31, 2022 as known to the Company; percentage figures are rounded to the nearest decimal
** Incl. ANXA Holding PTE and Lakestar II
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1. background to the group
1.1. General

HomeToGo SE, Luxembourg is a public European 
company (Société Européenne) that is listed on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, having its registered of-
fice at 9, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg, Lux-
embourg, and registered with the Luxembourg 
Trade and Companies Register (Registre de Com-
merce et des Sociétés de Luxembourg) under num-
ber B249273.

This Management Report comprises both the Group 
Management Report and the Management Report of 
HomeToGo SE. Herein, we report on the business per-
formance as well as the situation and expected devel-
opment of HomeToGo Group (hereafter also referred 
to as “HomeToGo” or “Group”) and HomeToGo SE 
(hereafter also referred to as “Company”).

1.2. Business Model

The HomeToGo Group operates an international 
marketplace for vacation rentals, which connects 
millions of users in their search for a place to stay 
with thousands of inventory suppliers across the 
globe, resulting in the world’s most comprehensive 
inventory coverage in the alternative accommoda-
tion space. At the time of the report, the portfolio of 
HomeToGo comprises more than 15 million (2021: 15 
million) aggregated accommodation offers provided 
by more than 60,000 (2021: 31,000) online travel 
agencies, tour operators, property managers and 
other inventory suppliers (“Partners”) worldwide.

HomeToGo operates its business through local web-
sites and apps in 25 countries. Besides the main 
brand HomeToGo the international market appear-
ance is carried out through further various brands 
like Agriturismo, AMIVAC, Atraveo, Casamundo,  

CaseVacanza, e-domizil, EscapadaRural, Tripping, 
Wimdu, as well as software brands SECRA and Smoo-
bu. The HomeToGo marketplace integrates a vast in-
ventory in one platform and enables users to book 
accommodations from diverse partners, either on the 
Partners’ external websites or directly on the Home-
ToGo platform. Furthermore, the Group offers soft-
ware-as-a-service (“SaaS”) products for semi-profes-
sional agencies and homeowners, which enables 
them to centrally control their listings and coordinate 
their actions across multiple platforms. We also effec-
tively improve the quality and synchronization of the 
existing inventory for our Partners, in particular online 
travel agencies (“OTAs”) and property managers, and 
grant them access to technology services and quali-
fied demand that otherwise would not be easily avail-
able to them. 

As an internet marketplace, HomeToGo sees itself as 
an entry opportunity in the search for a vacation 
rental. With our Onsite solution, there is an option to 
directly book with the connected Partners via Home-
ToGo. The use of the platform is thereby free of 
charge for users. Instead, HomeToGo receives a 
commission from the connected booking partner 
for every successful referral of a booking or for the 
generation of a query, respectively.

1.3. Group Structure

HomeToGo Group is managed by its ultimate parent 
company HomeToGo SE and is operated under one 
segment. The Group comprises the parent entity, 
HomeToGo SE, domiciled in Luxembourg and serv-
ing as holding entity, and its main operating subsidi-
aries in Germany, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, Lithuania 
and the US. As of December 31, 2022, HomeToGo SE 
had direct or indirect shareholdings in 15 companies, 
which belong to the Group and from which all are 
fully consolidated.

Hometogo Se
Combined Management Report for 
Financial Year 2022
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Effective January 1, 2022, LS I Advisors Ver-
waltungs-GmbH, Munich, Germany, HS Holiday 
Search GmbH, Berlin, Germany, Mertus 288. GmbH, 
Berlin, Germany, and Mapify UG (haftungsbes-
chränkt) (“with limited liability”), Kassel, Germany 
were merged onto HomeToGo GmbH, all four entities 
ceased to exist. Furthermore, effective March 29, 
2022 LS I Advisors GmbH & Co. KG, Munich, Germa-
ny was merged onto HomeToGo SE and also ceased 
to exist. 

Continuing the M&A-strategy during financial year 
2022 the scope of consolidation was further in-
creased by the acquisitions of the operational enti-
ties AMIVAC SAS (“AMIVAC”), e-domizil subgroup 
(“e-domizil”) that consists of e-domizil GmbH, Atra-
veo GmbH and e-domzil AG, as well as SECRA Book-
ings GmbH and SECRA GmbH (together “SECRA”). 
All of them were acquired to further strengthen the 
Group’s position especially in the Subscriptions & 
Services sector of the alternative accommodation 
industry, but also increasing its inventory reach.

SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTMENTS FUNCTION LOCATION SHARE IN 
CAPITAL 2022

SHARE IN 
CAPITAL 2021

HomeToGo GmbH operational Berlin, Germany 100% 100%

Casamundo GmbH operational Berlin, Germany 100% 100%

Smoobu GmbH operational Berlin, Germany 100% 100%

Atraveo GmbH operational Düsseldorf, Germany 100% n/a

e-domizil GmbH operational Frankfurt, Germany 100% n/a

SECRA GmbH operational Sierksdorf, Germany 100% 19%

SECRA Bookings GmbH operational Sierksdorf, Germany 100% 19%

e-domizil AG operational Zurich, Switzerland 100% n/a

Feries S.r.l. operational Milan, Italy 100% 100%

Escapada Rural S.L. operational Barcelona, Spain 100% 100%

AMIVAC SAS operational Paris, France 100% 100%

Adrialin d.o.o. operational Rijeka, Croatia 100% 100%

UAB HomeToGo Technologies engineering Kaunas, Lithuania 100% 100%

UAB HomeToGo Technologies Vilnius engineering Vilnius, Lithuania 100% 100%

HOMETOGO INTERNATIONAL, INC. sales Wilmington, Delaware, USA 100% 100%

1.4. Management System
 
The governing bodies of the Group are the Man-
agement Board, the Supervisory Board and the 
Shareholders’ Meeting of HomeToGo SE. Detailed 
information on the composition of Management 
and Supervisory Board can be found on the Investor 
Relations website of the Company https://ir.home-
togo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corpo-
rate-governance.html.

The Management Board monitors and controls the 
Group’s development through a comprehensive re-
porting system. The Management Board reporting 
informs in detail on current developments in the op-
erating business in the form of absolute and relative 
key figures.

The Supervisory Board receives a monthly report in-
cluding an income statement which provides a com-
prehensive picture of HomeToGo Group’s economic 
position. Significant items and their changes are ex-
plained and discussed in detail in regular meetings 
between the Management Board and the Supervi-
sory Board.

HomeToGo’s core financial key performance indica-
tors (KPIs) for the management of the Group are 
Booking Revenues, Onsite Booking Revenues, IFRS 
Revenues and Adjusted EBITDA. Besides IFRS Reve-
nues, the Management Board uses the non-GAAP 
KPIs Booking Revenues, Onsite Booking Revenues 
and Adjusted EBITDA as Management believes that 
they enhance investors’ ability to evaluate and as-
sess the underlying financial performance of the 

https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
https://ir.hometogo.de/websites/hometogo/English/5000/corporate-governance.html
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Group’s continuing operations and the related key 
strategic business drivers. They are additional core 
metrics used by the Management Board internally to 
support operating decisions, including those related 
to evaluating performance, analyzing operating ex-
penses, performing strategic planning and annual 
budgeting. These additional core metrics should not 
be considered as a substitute for measures of finan-
cial performance, financial position or cash flows re-
ported in accordance with IFRS.

Booking Revenues is used in addition to IFRS Reve-
nues as it allows to measure performance as soon as 
bookings and clicks are made by the traveler. Reve-
nues from Subscription & Services are considered 
equally for Booking Revenues as under IFRS to com-
plement the view. Thus, Booking Revenues provide 
the best view to forecast the development of our 

IFRS Revenues and at the same time better match to 
the corresponding marketing expenses.

Onsite Booking Revenues are a subset of Booking 
Revenues and one of our strategic focus areas for 
the generation of growth with higher profitability. 
Onsite Share measures the penetration of our Part-
ner base with our Onsite Product.

Adjusted EBITDA is used as an additional metric to 
Net Income to assess the Group’s performance as it 
presents the sustainable operational performance of 
the business. Adjusted EBITDA is close to cash flows 
generated and thus provides a useful measure for 
period-to-period comparisons.

Definitions for all of our four core metrics are out-
lined in the following table: 

BOOKING 
REVENUES*

Booking Revenues is a non-GAAP operating metric to measure performance that is defined as the 
net Euro value of bookings before cancellations generated by transactions on the HomeToGo 
platforms in a reporting period (CPA, CPC, CPL and Subscriptions & Services). Booking Revenues 
do not correspond to, and should not be considered as alternative or substitute for IFRS Revenues 
recognized in accordance with IFRS. Contrary to IFRS Revenues, Booking Revenues are recorded at 
the point in time when the booking is made. Revenues from Subscription & Services are consid-
ered equally for Booking Revenues as under IFRS to complement the view. Please find the 
reconciliation to IFRS Revenues as the closest GAAP measure under 2.2 Business Development. 

ONSITE 
BOOKING 
REVENUES 
AND ONSITE 
SHARE*

Onsite Booking Revenues are a subset of Booking Revenues. Onsite Bookings occur when the 
complete user journey is conducted on HomeToGo domains. Onsite Share is defined as ratio of 
Onsite CPA Booking Revenues to Booking Revenues less Booking Revenues from Subscriptions & 
Services that measures the penetration of our Partner base with our Onsite Product. Onsite 
Bookings allow the Group to realize a higher Take Rate and to establish a closer relationship with 
the user, which leads to lower marketing expenses over time. Both effects result in a higher 
profitability of the Group. Please find the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues as the closest GAAP 
measure under 2.2 Business Development.

IFRS 
REVENUES

Revenues according to IFRS accounting policies. CPA IFRS Revenues are recognized on check-in 
date. CPC and CPL Revenues are recognized on booking or click date. IFRS Revenues from 
Subscriptions & Services are recognized over time or when services are provided. HomeToGo 
generates revenue through the following main revenue types:

Cost per Action (“CPA”): CPA is the largest revenue stream, whereby HomeToGo receives a 
percentage-based commission for successful onsite- or offsite booking referrals, which facilitate 
a stay. Depending on the contractual terms with the respective partner, the revenue for 
HomeToGo is either calculated as percentage of the commission or as percentage of the 
booking value (sometimes called revenue share).
Cost per Click (“CPC”) HomeToGo receives a fixed commission based on every successful  
referral click.
Cost per Lead (“CPL”): HomeToGo receives a fixed commission based on every successful  
referral inquiry (lead).
Subscriptions & Services are related to subscription-based revenue from Partners who  
can use the platform for listing of their rental objects over a determined period.

table continues →
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GROSS 
BOOKING 
VALUE (GBV)*

GBV is the gross EUR value of bookings on our platform in a reporting period (including all compo-
nents of the booking amount except for VAT). GBV is recorded at the time of booking and is not 
adjusted for cancellations or any other alterations after booking. For CPA transactions, GBV includes 
the booking volume as reported by the Partner. For CPC, GBV is estimated by multiplying the total 
click value with the expected conversion rate. The total click value is the duration of the search 
multiplied with the price per night of the clicked offer. This total click value is multiplied with the 
average conversion rate of that micro conversion source for CPA Partners in the respective month. 
Please find the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues under 2.2 Business Development. 

CPA TAKE 
RATE*

CPA Take Rate is the margin realized on the gross booking amount and defined as CPA Booking 
Revenues divided by GBV from CPA Booking Revenues (excl. Revenues from Hotels and Subscrip-
tions & Services). Please find the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues under 2.2 Business Development. 

CANCELLA­
TION RATE

Cancellation Rate reflects the share of Booking Revenues that are cancelled subsequently, however, 
before being recognized as IFRS Revenues. This metric is not actively used for steering of the 
Group, but it is monitored continuously and used for forecasting and budget planning. Please find 
the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues under 2.2 Business Development. 

BOOKINGS* Bookings represent the number of bookings generated by users of the HomeToGo platforms. 
Please find the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues under 2.2 Business Development. 

CPA BASKET 
SIZE*

CPA Basket Size is defined as CPA Gross Booking Value per booking, before cancellations. Please 
find the reconciliation to IFRS Revenues under 2.2 Business Development. 

ADJUSTED 
EBITDA*

Net income (loss) before 
(i) income taxes; 
(ii) finance income, finance expenses; 
(iii) depreciation and amortization; 
adjusted for 
(iv) expenses for share-based compensation and 
(v) one-off items. One-off items relate to one-time and therefore non-recurring expenses and 
income outside the normal course of operational business. Among others those would include for 
example income and expenses for business combinations and other merger & acquisitions (M&A) 
activities, litigation, restructuring, government grants and other items that are not recurring on a 
regular basis and thus impede comparison of the underlying operational performance between 
financial periods. Please find the reconciliation from Profit/Loss from operations to Adjusted EBITDA 
under 2.3 Results of Operations.

In addition to the above, HomeToGo uses a range of 
further KPIs – both financial and non-financial – to 
support its business. These further KPIs are a func-
tion of our core financial KPI Booking Revenues. 
Thus, the Management Board uses these historical 
KPIs to further assess operating performance and as 

a basis for strategic planning. The Management 
Board believes that such KPIs will also be used by 
investors and analysts in addition to our four core fi-
nancial metrics described above to assess the per-
formance of HomeToGo. 

Our non-financial KPIs are defined as follows:

* unaudited

* unaudited

* unaudited

Overview of our further financial KPIs (non-GAAP):
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1.5. Research & Development

As a technology company, HomeToGo undertakes 
development in view of optimizing the search intelli-
gence, software solutions provided to its Partners 
and users of SaaS products and develops self-used 
IT modules. The technical platform, on the basis of 
which the Group’s websites and apps are operated, 
is an important differentiating factor compared to 
competitors, being continuously further developed 
in line with the requirements of the market and the 
expectations of the users. In-house and external ex-
perts engage with the continuous development of 
the platform. Our R&D work aims at achieving inno-
vations that support a more convenient booking ex-
perience for our customers. Furthermore, we aim at 
ensuring our market leadership as the marketplace 
with the world’s largest selection of alternative ac-
commodation. In this regard, the Lithuanian subsidi-
aries, UAB HomeToGo Technologies and UAB Home-
ToGo Technologies Vilnius, play a major role in 
performing most of the development services for 
the HomeToGo Group.

Over the past year, HomeToGo continued to en-
hance its platform mainly by offering further prod-
ucts and services as well as by adding features im-
proving the booking experience to generate 
additional Revenues or increasing cost efficiency. 
HomeToGo also consolidated technologies within 
the Group following acquisitions, enabling more of 
the brands within the Group to take advantage of 
the existing and continuously enhanced platform 
technology while strategically extending HomeTo-
Go’s distribution network.

The Group’s direct R&D expenses in 2022 amounted 
to EUR 13.1 million (2021: EUR 8.2 million), resulting in  
R&D expenses in relation to HomeToGo’s IFRS Reve-
nues 9% (2021: 9%). The capitalization ratio amounts 
to 29% (2021: 19%) and amortization allocatable to 
capitalized development expenses amounted to 
EUR 1.1 million (2021: EUR 0.5 million). The increase in 
capitalization ratio is due a higher focus on develop-
ment projects for new products and projects lead-

1 Consumer Confidence Indicator (CCI), European Commission, released as of November 22, 2022, 
 retrieved at https://economy-finance.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-11/Flash_consumer_2022_11_en.pdf
2 Press release on the US Consumer Confidence by the Conference Board,
 retrieved at https://www.conference-board.org/topics/consumer-confidence
3 World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund, as of October 2022, 
 retrieved at https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2022/10/11/world-economic-outlook-october-2022

ing to substantial enhancements as well as an im-
proved effort capturing of the value creation in our 
product development process.

HomeToGo SE as an individual entity and pure finan-
cial holding does not conduct any operations related 
to research and development.

2. Report on economic position
2.1. Macroeconomic and Sector-specific 
Environment
At the time of the publication of our Combined Man-
agement Report, the economic environment was im-
pacted by the aftermath of the ongoing war in Ukraine 
and persistent supply chain frictions, particularly in 
China, with significant effects on energy prices and a 
tightening monetary policy as a reaction to the high-
est inflation rates since the 1970s. This has led to con-
sumer sentiment indicators to decline with the Con-
sumer Confidence Indicator (CCI)1 of the European 
Commission and the Conference Board Consumer 
Confidence Index2 being at low levels. 

Furthermore, it is projected by the International 
Monetary Fund3 that the growth of the global econ-
omy will experience a slow down to 2.7% in 2023 
compared to 3.2% in 2022. UBS Investment Bank is 
expecting 13 out of 32 economies to contract for at 
least two quarters by the end of 2023. Fading Cov-
id-19 reopening tailwinds, uncertainty in Europe over 
energy rationing, labor supply shortages, monetary 
tightening and negative real wage growth are all 
pulling down on growth. In the other direction, infla-
tion is not expected to move to a structurally higher 
level after the pandemic and therefore central banks 
are expected to ease interest rates from current lev-
els in 2023. Labor markets in the Eurozone have been 
unimpaired from the macroeconomic distress in 
2022. In a more cautious view the OECD is expecting 
inflation rates to remain high with 6.6% year-on-year 
in 2023, due to rising energy prices, it is expected 
that tighter monetary policy and decelerating 
growth will help to eventually moderate inflation. 
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According to UBS Research, 2021 Eurozone surveys 
were suggesting that households were delaying 
spending, waiting for Covid-19 mobility restrictions 
to be removed.4 Despite adverse macroeconomic 
effects in the financial year 2022, the travel industry 
has shown a strong recovery from the Covid-19 pan-
demic and reached pre-pandemic levels in Germany 
in the third quarter of 2022.5 The travel sector is 
thereby benefiting from pent-up demand after two 
years of subdued travel due to Covid-19-related trav-
el restrictions.6 According to proprietary survey data 
of UBS Investment Bank, travel demand in terms of 
bookings for alternative accommodation reached a 
new all-time high in June 2022, exceeding the prior 
high from June 2021.7 According to data from OAG, 
weekly seat capacity on commercial passenger air-
lines averaged 90.7 million so far this year, up from 61 
million during the same period in 2020 but still some 
way below the 2019 level of 110.9 million. The gap is 
gradually closing and global capacity on airlines ex-
ceeded 100 million for the first time since the pan-
demic hit during the summer 2022 travel season.8

2.2. Business Development

4  Global Economics & Markets Outlook, UBS AG, November 2022
5  https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2022/12/PD22_523_45412.html
6  https://www.euromonitor.com/article/unprecedented-pent-up-demand-drives-travel-recovery
7  Global Economics & Markets Outlook 2023-2024, UBS AG, November 2022
8  https://www.oag.com/coronavirus-airline-schedules-data

* unaudited
**) Refer to note 35 for the resulting effects from a change in presen-
tation of warrants from equity to liabilities.

HOMETOGO KPI 
COCKPIT

2022 2021**
(AD­

JUSTED)

2022 
VS. 2021

Adjusted EBITDA* (20,661) (21,070) 2%

Adjusted EBITDA 
margin*

(14.1)% (22.2)% +8.1pp

Net Income (53,499) (177,025) 70%

Gross Booking 
Value (EUR 
thousands)*

1,644,265 1,437,515 14%

GBV from CPA 1,149,011 1,134,000 1%

Bookings (#)* 1,026,097 929,419 10%

CPA Onsite* 745,293 492,281 51%

CPA Offsite* 280,804 437,138 (36)%

CPA Basket Size 
(EUR)*

1,120 1,252 (11)%

CPA Take Rate* 9.6% 8.3% +1.3pp

Cancellation Rate* 14% 20% +6pp

Cancellations 
(EUR thousands)*

(22,286) (24,797) 10%

Cash & cash 
equivalents + other 
highly liquid 
short-term financial 
assets 
(EUR thousands)

161,557 252,910 (36)%

Equity
(EUR thousands)

263,697 290,451 (9)%

Equity ratio 77% 80% (3)pp 

Employees 
(end of period)

650 417 56%

HOMETOGO KPI 
COCKPIT

2022 2021** 
(ADJUSTED)

2022 
VS. 2021

Booking Revenues 
(EUR thousands)*

163,711 123,555 32%

CPA Onsite* 76,730 50,168 53%

CPA Offsite* 33,965 44,350 (23)%

CPC + CPL* 30,582 20,249 51%

Subscriptions & 
Services*

22,433 8,788 155%

Onsite Share* 54% 44% +10pp

IFRS Revenues 
(EUR thousands)

146,839 94,839 55%

CPA Onsite 66,877 31,523 112%

CPA Offsite 25,716 34,127 (25)%

CPC + CPL 30,587 20,401 50%

Subscriptions & 
Services

23,660 8,788 169%

table continues →
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HomeToGo’s business proved to be resilient in view 
of a contracting global economic environment dur-
ing the year 2022. The Group could further increase 
its visibility with website visits increasing slightly to 
376 million from approx. 375 million during the previ-
ous year while the revenue conversion improved 
significantly.

While 2021 was still affected by temporary travel re-
strictions, 2022 returned to a typical booking trend 
with a strong performance in terms of Booking Rev-
enues. Although having strong Booking Revenues in 
the first part of the year, the last-minute booking 
trend for summer remained strong, particularly sup-
ported by Southern European countries like Italy and 
Spain. From the second quarter onwards, the Group 
saw increases in both, Booking Revenues and IFRS 
Revenues, due to our most recent acquisitions of 
e-domizil and SECRA. Both acquisitions are following 
our strategy for Onsite Booking Revenues and Book-
ing Revenues from Subscription & Services. The US 
market was impacted by high inflation rates, leading 
to higher overnight rates which based on given Take 
Rates translates directly into higher Booking Reve-
nues. On the back of more secure travel planning 
HomeToGo registered also a trend for early bookings 
already in 2022 with travel periods in 2023. As a re-
sult, we realized a strong growth in Booking Reve-
nues during the fourth quarter of 2022, while the 
corresponding IFRS Revenues will only lead to reve-
nue recognition in 2023.

Booking Revenues increased significantly by 32% to 
EUR 163.7 million in 2022 with an overall growing 
share of bookings made directly on our platforms 
that resulted in a higher Onsite Share of 54% com-
pared to 44% in the previous year and enabling the 
Group to realize a higher CPA Take Rate with an in-
crease of +1.3pp compared to the prior year.

IFRS Revenues developed favorably and increased 
even more significant by 55% to EUR 146.8 million in 
2022, driven by the acquisitions during 2022, the 
Group’s expansion of business activities and a fur-
ther increase in travel activity with more check-ins in 
the first half of the year from travel events like Easter 
and Pentecost compared to the prior period.

The following table presents the reconciliation from 
GBV over CPA Take Rate to IFRS Revenues:

* unaudited

On the supply side, the Group managed to increase 
the number of Partners to approx. 60,000 (2021: 
31,000). The Group continues to leverage its techni-
cal expertise for its Partners by building new solu-
tions around its marketplace model to help Partners 
thrive across the entire vacation rental ecosystem.

2.3. Results of Operations, Financial 
Position and Net Assets
The statements made on the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the HomeToGo 
Group are based on the values and comparative fig-
ures of the consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year 2022, which have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. More de-
tailed explanations on the accounting and valuation 
methods applied can be found in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements 2022. 

RECONCILIATION GROSS BOOKING VALUE (GBV) 
TO IFRS REVENUES

IN EUR THOUSANDS, 
EXCEPT FOR CPA TAKE RATE 
THAT IS PRESENTED IN 
PERCENT

2022 2021

Gross Booking Value (GBV)* 1,644,265 1,437,515

t/o GBV from CPA 1,149,011 1,134,000

x CPA Take Rate* 9.6% 8.3%

Booking Revenues from CPA 110,695 94,518

+ Booking Revenues from 
CPC, CPL and Subscriptions 
& Services

53,015 29,037

Booking Revenues* 163,711 123,555

Cancellations (22,286) (24,797)

Bookings with check-in in 
different reporting period

5,414 (3,919)

IFRS Revenues 146,839 94,839
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a) Results of operations

Compared to the previous fiscal year, the Group’s 
operating result has developed as shown in the fol-
lowing table: 

The following sections outline the development of 
individual income and expense items:

In the financial year 2022, the Group’s total IFRS Rev-
enues increased significantly by more than EUR 52.0 
million to EUR 146.8 million. The major portion of the 
IFRS Revenues was generated from CPA (“Cost per 
Action”), CPC (“Cost per Click”) and CPL (“Cost per 

9  Adjusted for expenses for share-based compensation, depreciation, amortization and one-off items

Lead”) transactions. The increase in IFRS Revenues 
in 2022 was strongly driven by our recent acquisi-
tions of e-domizil, SECRA and AMIVAC. Please refer 
to section 6 - Business Combinations and other ac-
quisitions of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further information. Furthermore, 
IFRS Revenues increased  due to a continued recov-
ery of travel activity in the alternative accommoda-
tion sector in 2022 and due to expansion of the 
Group’s business activities. As a result of further stra-
tegic investments and the acquisition of e-domizil, 
the CPA Onsite IFRS Revenues more than doubled 
by 112% to EUR 66.9 million. The growth in IFRS Reve-
nues within Subscriptions & Services is mainly ex-
plained by the acquisition of SECRA as of 
May 31, 2022 and AMIVAC as of January 1, 2022. 

A significant portion of the Group’s 2022 expenses is 
explained by expenses for performance marketing 
within our Marketing and sales function and share-
based compensation expenses. The reconciliation 
to Adjusted EBITDA below provides a general over-
view of the impact of share-based compensation on 
the different cost functions.

Cost of Revenues increased by EUR 7.9 million or 
182% from EUR 4.3 million in 2021  to EUR 12.2 million 
in 2022 due to higher expenses for hosting resulting 
from increased bookings and traffic on our websites. 
Besides, amortization of EUR 4.8 million of the order 
backlog recognized as part of the acquisition of 
e-domizil in April 2022 was leading to the dispropor-
tionate increase in Cost of Revenues. The adjusted 
gross profit margin9 increased by 0.1 percentage 
points from 96.4% in 2021 to 96.4% in 2022.

SHORTENED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021 2022 
VS. 2021

IFRS Revenues 146,839 94,839 55%

Cost of Revenues (12,202) (4,327) (182)%

Gross profit 134,637 90,512 49%

Product development 
and operations

(28,678) (23,840) (20)%

Marketing and sales (126,284) (95,390) (32)%

General and 
administrative

(47,851) (112,751) 58%

  thereof: Non-cash 
listing service 
expense (de-SPAC 
Charge)

– 70,437 n/a

Other expenses (1,160) (631) (84)%

Other income 3,671 11,646 (68)%

Loss from operations (65,666) (130,455) 50%

BREAKDOWN OF IFRS REVENUES BY ACTIVITY AREAS

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021 2022 
VS. 2021

CPA 92,593 65,650 41%

thereof:

CPA Onsite 66,877 31,523 112%

CPA Offsite 25,716 34,127 (25)%

CPC and CPL 30,587 20,401 50%

Subscriptions & 
Services

23,660 8,788 169%

Total 146,839 94,839 55%

BREAKDOWN OF EXPENSES BY FUNCTIONAL AREAS

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021 2022 
VS. 2021

Cost of Revenues 12,202 4,336 (182)%

Product development 
and operations

28,678 23,726 (20)%

Marketing and sales 126,284 95,495 (32)%

General and adminis-
trative

47,851 112,751 58%

Other expenses 1,160 626 (85)%

Total 216,175 236,934 9%
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The increase in expenses for product development 
and operations by 20% to EUR 28.7 million in 2022 
(2021: EUR 23.7 million) mainly results from higher 
personnel-related expenses (2022: EUR 15.9 million, 
2021: EUR 9.4 million) due to the increase in the 
scope of consolidation. The respective cost ratio10 to 
Revenues marginally improved by 0.3 percentage 
points due to economies of scale.

Marketing and sales expenses increased by 32% 
from EUR 95.4 million in 2021 to EUR 126.3 million in 
2022. The majority of the increase was driven by EUR 
27.2 million or 34% higher expenses for performance 
marketing capturing a further resurgence of de-
mand in the travel sector following the further lifting 
of travel restrictions in 2022 compared to previous 
year. The Marketing and sales cost ratio10 of 81.3% im-
proved by 10.6 percentage points during 2022 com-
pared to the prior year period from 91.9% whereas 
the improvement goes back to increased efficiency 
within our performance marketing activities that 
was leveraged to build up a strong Booking Reve-
nues Backlog11 of EUR 32.5 million as of December 31, 
2022 with a significant increase by 71.8% compared 
to the prior year. According to IFRS those CPA Reve-
nues from bookings in the backlog will be realized 
based on their check-in date in 2023 without requir-
ing any additional marketing expenses and thus, 
represent an important building block in our goal to 
reach Adjusted EBITDA break-even in 2023.

General and administrative expenses decreased by 
58% (2022: EUR 47.9 million, 2021: EUR 112.8 million) 
mainly due to significantly lower expenses for 
share-based compensation (2022: EUR 19.0 million, 
2021: EUR 17.6 million) recognized within General 
and administrative. The higher expenses for share-
based compensation in the prior period included a 
one-time non-cash expense in the amount of 
EUR 70.4 million that HomeToGo incurred in con-
nection with the successful consummation of the 
business combination with Lakestar SPAC I SE. The 
expense represented the excess of the fair value of 
shares deemed issued as part of the business com-
bination over the fair value of identifiable net assets 
assumed from Lakestar SPAC I SE that economically 
constitutes the listing service provided by Lakestar 
SPAC I SE. In addition, expenses for consulting ser-

10 Adjusted for expenses for share-based compensation, depreciation, amortization and one-off items
11 Booking Revenues before cancellation

vices went significantly down due to higher expens-
es in the prior period for the preparation of the de-
SPAC transaction (2022: EUR 7.3 million, 2021: 
EUR 13.1 million). As an opposing effect the Group 
incurred higher costs as a public company during 
2022 as reflected especially by increased expenses 
for third party services (2022: EUR 3.1 million, 2021: 
EUR 1.8 million). Furthermore, personnel-related ex-
penses in General and administrative increased to 
EUR 12.9 million (2021: EUR 6.8 million), with the num-
ber of staff as well as the scope of consolidation due 
to acquisitions of subsidiaries having significantly 
increased. The respective cost ratio10 in proportion 
to IFRS Revenues increased from 12.9% in 2021 by 2.1 
percentage points to 15.0% in 2022 mainly due to the 
higher costs as a public company incurred in 2022 
compared to the prior year.

Other income includes income from the translation of 
foreign currencies mainly related to the appreciation of 
the USD compared to EUR. Overall, other income is be-
low the prior year level due to government grant relat-
ed to income in 2021 of EUR 9.3 million in connection 
with Covid-19 aids by the German state.

In 2022, the Group incurred a consolidated net loss 
in the amount of EUR 53.5 million compared to the 
2021 net loss of EUR 177.0 million. The improvement 
of EUR 123.5 million compared to the previous period 
is mainly explained by an improved marketing effi-
ciency, by the listing service expense of EUR 70.4 
million described above that was recognized in Gen-
eral and administrative in 2021 and lower consulting 
expenses due to the de-SPAC transaction in the pri-
or year.

In order to assess the operating performance of the 
business, HomeToGo’s management uses Adjusted 
EBITDA as an additional metric to Net Income as it 
presents the sustainable operational performance of 
the business. HomeToGo recorded an Adjusted 
EBITDA of EUR (20.7) million in 2022 compared to 
EUR (21.1) million in 2021. While the absolute im-
provement is relatively small, the Adjusted EBITDA 
margin improved significantly from (22.2)% in 2021 to 
(14.1)% in 2022 due to an improved marketing mar-
keting cost efficiency as well as the successful acqui-
sitions, in particular e-domizil. Overall, the develop-
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Reorganization & 
restructuring

753 –

Arrangements for 
contingent payments 
with service condition 

903 –

Inflation premium paid 
to employees

279 –

Other 1,563 438

thereof one-off items 
recognized in product 
development and operations

687 –

Infrastructure 246 –

Inflation premium paid to 
employees

441 –

thereof one-off items 
recognized in marketing and 
sales

329 –

Inflation premium paid to 
employees

329 –

thereof one-off items 
recognized in other income

(849) (9,256)

Income from release of 
provisions

(700) –

Income from government 
grants

(149) (9,256)

Adjusted EBITDA* (20,661) (21,070)

Adjusted EBITDA margin* (14.1)% (22.2)%

ment of the Group’s result of operations are assessed 
favorably given the current global economic con-
traction. The reconciliation of the Group’s Adjusted 
EBITDA is shown in the following table: 

RECONCILIATION TO 
ADJUSTED EBITDA IN EUR 
THOUSANDS

2022 2021

Loss from operations (65,666) (130,455)

Depreciation and
amortization

12,974 4,690

thereof recognized in 
Cost of Revenues

6,975 866

thereof recognized in 
Product development and 
operations

526 785

thereof recognized in 
General and administrative

571 480

thereof recognized in 
Marketing and sales

4,902 2,559

EBITDA (52,692) (125,764)

Share-based compensation 
expenses

25,652 101,997

thereof:

Listing service expense 
(Sponsor as well as public 
shares and warrants from 
de-SPAC)

– 70,437

Share-based
Compensation Programs

25,652 31,560

thereof recognized in:  

Product development and 
operations

4,951 8,260

Marketing and sales 1,671 5,700

General and administrative 19,030 17,601

One-off items* 6,379 2,698

thereof one-off items 
recognized in general and 
administrative

6,212 11,954

Business combination 
(de-SPAC)

– 12,801

Mergers and acquisitions 1,348 533

Capitalized transaction 
costs under IFRS

– (1,818)

Litigation 1,366 –

* unaudited

Other one-off items in 2022 includes a donation of 
EUR 0.5 million to OneUkraine gGmbH, a German 
non-profit organisation, for the provision of sustaina-
ble humanitarian relief for the Ukrainian people at 
home and abroad. Furthermore, this bucket includes 
EUR 0.5 million for a group-wide company event and 
EUR 0.3 million other non-periodic expenses.

table continues →
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2022 compared to EUR 42.1 million for the cash set-
tlement to beneficiaries of the Virtual Stock Option 
Program ("VSOP") that was higher due to the high 
amount of exercisable options during the de-SPAC 
transation. 

The development of cash outflow from investing ac-
tivities from EUR 118.3 million in 2021 to EUR 0.6 mil-
lion in 2022 mainly goes back to payments for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired in 
the amount of EUR 46.2 million (2021: EUR 16.4 mil-
lion) and payments for internally generated intangi-
ble assets in the amount of EUR 3.8 million (2021: 
EUR 1.5 million). Those cash outflows are offset by 
proceeds in the amount of EUR 50.0 million in 2022 
from the sale of a portion of the Group's investment 
in a short-term money market fund for which the 
payment in 2021 in the amount of EUR 100.0 million 
explained the main part of the prior year cash out-
flow from investing activities of EUR 118.3 million.

The 2022 cash outflow from financing activities con-
sists of repayments of borrowings in the amount of 
EUR 4.4 million (EUR 2.8 million) and payments for 
the principal portion of lease liabilities in the amount 
of EUR 0.9 million (2021: EUR 1.0 million).

The following table provides an overview of the 
outstanding loans within the Group as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022:

b) Financial position

The following table provides an overview of the Group’s 
financial development:

(1) Includes restricted cash and cash equivalents of EUR 2.3 million as 
of December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

As of December 31, 2022, the Group has cash and 
cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 112.0 million 
(2021: EUR 152.9 million). The financial development 
of the Group was primarily driven by payments for 
the acquisition of subsidiaries.

The decrease in cash outflow from operating activi-
ties compared to the previous year is mainly due to 
decreased payments amounting to 1.9 million in 

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year

152,944 36,237

Cash flow from operating 
activities

(36,349) (83,256)

Cash flow from investing 
activities

(621) (118,343)

Cash flow from financing 
activities

(5,253) 317,093

Foreign currency effects 1,329 1,213

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year(1)

112,050 152,944

DEBTOR LOAN AMOUNT
(IN EUR THOUSANDS)

PAYOUT DATE MATURITY NOMINAL 
INTEREST 

RATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT (IN EUR 

THOUSANDS

HomeToGo GmbH 6,000 February 2020 December 2023 4.35% 1,500

HomeToGo GmbH 10,000 February 2021 September 
2025

2.12% 6,333

Feries S.r.l. 400 August 2020 August 2025 1.50% 278

Escapada Rural 
S.L.

500 May 2020 June 2023 2.50% 85

Escapada Rural 
S.L.

300 May 2020 June 2025 1.55% 177

Adrialin d.o.o 100 February 2022 September 
2027

0.25% 100

Total 17,300 n/a n/a n/a 8,473
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The following table provides an overview on the out-
standing loans within the Group for the comparative 
period as of December 31, 2021:

HomeToGo Group’s financial position can be stated 
as positive. The Group has been able to meet its pay-
ment obligations at any time. Liquidity shortages 
have neither occurred nor are such shortages fore-
seeable for the future.

c) Net Assets

DEBTOR LOAN AMOUNT
(IN EUR THOUSANDS)

PAYOUT DATE MATURITY NOMINAL 
INTEREST 

RATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT (IN EUR 

THOUSANDS

HomeToGo GmbH 6,000 February 2020 December 2023 4.35% 3,000

HomeToGo GmbH 10,000 February 2021 September 
2025

2.12% 8,414

Feries S.r.l. 400 August 2020 August 2025 1.50% 376

Escapada Rural 
S.L.

500 May 2020 June 2023 2.50% 337

Escapada Rural 
S.L.

300 May 2020 June 2025 1.55% 252

Total 17,200 n/a n/a n/a 12,378

(IN EUR  THOUSANDS) DEC. 31, 2022 DEC. 31, 2021**
(ADJUSTED)

2022 VS. 2021

Non-current assets 159,169 46% 85,962 24% 73,207 85%

Current assets 185,448 54% 279,321 76% (93,873) (34)%

Total assets 344,618 100% 365,284 100% (20,666) (6)%

Equity 263,697 77% 290,451 79% (26,754) (9)%

Non-current liabilities 30,014 9% 38,736 11% (8,722) (23)%

Current liabilities 50,907 15% 36,097 10% 14,180 41%

Total equity and 
liabilities

344,618 100% 365,284 100% (20,666) (6)%

**) Refer to note 35 for the resulting effects from a change in presentation of warrants from equity to liabilities.

As of the balance sheet date, the balance sheet total 
of the Group amounts to EUR 344.6 million (2021: 
EUR 365.3 million), with EUR 159.2 million (2021: 
EUR 86.0 million) accounting for non-current assets 
and EUR 185.4 million (2021: EUR 279.3 million) ac-
counting for current assets.

The main non-current assets are composed of intan-
gible assets in the amount of EUR 138.4 million (2021: 
EUR 61.4 million) and property, plant and equipment 

in the amount of EUR 15.0 million (2021: EUR 15.2 mil-
lion). The increase in intangible assets mainly re-
sults from the acquisitions of AMIVAC, e-domizil 
and SECRA, resulting in the recognition of addition-
al goodwill in the amount of EUR 43.4 million and 
trademarks, order backlog, customer relationships 
and software in the amount of EUR 41.2 million. 
Property, plant and equipment increased due to 
the consolidation of right-of-use assets of acquired 
subsidiaries.
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Current assets mainly relate to trade receivables in-
cluding other receivables (2022: EUR 14.5 million, 2021: 
EUR 19.0 million), cash and cash equivalents (2022: 
EUR 112.0 million, 2021: EUR 152.9 million) and an invest-
ment in a money market fund (2022: EUR 49.5 million, 
2021: EUR 100.0 million). The increase in trade receiva-
bles is in line with the increased IFRS Revenues where-
as current other receivables decreased from EUR 9.2 
million as of December 31, 2021 to EUR 0.9 million as of 
December 31, 2022 due to the payment of a Covid-19 
related government grant from the German state in 
2022. Furthermore, current other financial assets have 
decreased to EUR 51.8 million as of December 31, 2022 
from EUR 102.0 million as of the prior year, reflecting 
the sale of a portion of our investment in money mar-
ket funds amounting to EUR 50.0 million. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Group’s equity 
amounts to EUR 263.7 million (2021: EUR 290.5 mil-
lion). Accordingly, the equity ratio amounts to 77% 
(2021: 80%) and is above the target equity ratio of 
50% that is required by covenants. The decrease in 
the equity ratio compared to the prior year mainly 
results from the recognition of a total comprehen-
sive loss in 2022.

Non-current liabilities decreased to EUR 30.0 million 
as of December 31, 2022 compared to EUR 38.7 mil-
lion in the prior year mainly due to the decrease in 
fair value of warrants compared to the prior year and 
the repayment of borrowings during the reporting 
period.

Current liabilities amount to EUR 50.9 million as of 
December 31, 2022 compared to EUR 36.1 million as 
of the prior year. The increase is explained by the 
increase in contract liabilities from EUR 3.9 million as 
of December 31, 2021 to EUR 11.9 million as of De-
cember 31, 2022 and the recognition of traveler ad-
vance payments owed to homeowners in the 
amount of 5.5 million as of December 31, 2022 (2021: 
nil). Both aforementioned liability positions go back 
to the acquisition of e-domizil, whereas the advance 
payments mainly relate to collection services provid-
ed by e-domizil for their homeowners. As part of 
these payment services, e-domizil collects travelers’ 
advance payments as well as advance payments for 
the booking services prior to the traveler’s check-in 
at the booked accommodation. The travelers’ ad-
vance payments that e-domizil needs to transfer to 
the homeowners right before check-in of the traveler 

are shown here under Other financial liabilities, while 
the advance payments received for booking services 
are presented under Other liabilities (current). Refer 
to the table under note 28 - Other liabilities (current 
and non-current) of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for further details. The amount of traveler ad-
vance payments as a portion of cash and cash equiv-
alents with an amount of EUR 2.3 million as of 
December 31, 2022 (2021: nil) is subject to statutory 
restrictions and not available for general use by the 
Group. Furthermore, current liabilities as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022 contain current trade payables in the 
amount of EUR 12.5 million (2021: EUR 15.4 million). 

d) Overall statement
The Management Board views the business devel-
opment of 2022 as positive. The Group took advan-
tage of the mainstreaming of the alternative accom-
modation market. HomeToGo significantly increased 
its IFRS Revenues and Booking Revenues in 2022, as 
a consequence of the continued M&A strategy and 
HomeToGo’s ability to attract and retain customers, 
with a focus on its strategically important Onsite 
business, as well as positive development of its Sub-
scriptions & Services business, all in all paving the 
way for future growth.

HomeToGo exceeded prior year’s expectation for 
IFRS Revenues and Booking Revenues. While the 
Management Board’s expectation of Adjusted EBIT-
DA still being negative has been met, the overall 
amount of EUR 20.7 million has been better than ex-
pected driven by an improved Marketing cost ratio 
and successful business combinations. Overall, 
HomeToGo is delivering on its target growth and 
margin corridor.

2.4. Employees

As of Decemember 31, 2022 the Group had em-
ployed 650 employees (2021: 417), representing an 
increase of 56% compared to the prior year. The 
overall increase is explained by the acquisitions.
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3. Statutory Results of  
operations and Financial 
position of the Company

The purpose of HomeToGo SE is the creation, hold-
ing, development and realization of its investment in 
HomeToGo GmbH. Due to its sole purpose as a fi-
nancial holding entity, the Company is subject to the 
same price, credit and cash flow risks as the Group 
as a whole. Refer to 4.2. Illustration of Risks for an as-
sessment of risks the Company is exposed to.

Results of Operations
As a pure financial holding the Company did not 
generate any Revenues or income during the finan-
cial year 2022. The Company incurred expenses of 
EUR 341.3 million in 2022 (2021: EUR 17.7 million) that 
led to a loss in the same amount in the respective 
period.

The expenses in 2022 mainly compose of an impair-
ment for the investment held in HomeToGo GmbH 
of EUR 258.2 million and an impairment for the own 
shares held by the Company of EUR 62.4 million. The 
main input factors for the impairment test for the 
investment in HomeToGo GmbH leading to the im-
pairment were a higher discount rate and a reduc-

tion in net cash while the business plan did not 
change significantly. As the share price of the Com-
pany throughout the financial year 2022 was con-
stantly below the acquisition cost of the treasury 
shares of EUR 10.00 an impairment is recognized 
using the share price of EUR 2.26  as of December 31, 
2022 as fair value input. Furthermore, the disposal of 
treasury shares below their acquisition costs of EUR 
10.00 as part of the considerations paid for the ac-
quisitions of e-domizil and SECRA as well as for the 
VSOP settlements during 2022 led to a loss of in total 
EUR 15.7 million. There is no impact on the consoli-
dated statement of profit or loss according to IFRS 
resulting from the before mentioned impairments 
and losses on disposals.

Besides, expenses incurred as a public company 
that are made up of expenses for third-party servic-
es amounting to EUR 0.3 million (2021: EUR 0.2 mil-
lion) as well as consulting and audit expenses and 
EUR 1.3 million (2021: EUR 0.6 million), respectively.

Financial Position
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had cash 
and cash equivalents of EUR 1.6 million compared to 
EUR 2.9 million in the previous year. The Company 
was always able to meet its payment obligations. No 
liquidity shortfalls have occurred or are foreseeable 
in the future.

(IN EUR  THOUSANDS) DEC. 31, 2022 DEC. 31, 2021 2022 VS. 2021

Non-current assets 833,298 98% 1,088,637 91% (255,339) (23)%

Current assets 20,571 2% 106,295 9% (85,724) (81)%

Total assets 853,869 100% 1,194,931 100% (341,063) (29)%

Equity 851,846 100% 1,193,118 100% (341,273) (29)%

Current liabilities 2,023 – % 1,813 – % 210 (12)%

Total equity and 
liabilities

853,869 100% 1,194,931 100% (341,063) (29)%

Net Assets
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Risk and Opportunity Objectives
The objective of the RMS is to create the necessary 
transparency about risks and opportunities for deci-
sion makers, to foster the risk and opportunity cul-
ture, and to create a common understanding of risks 
and opportunities throughout the company.

Risk and Opportunity Identification and Monitoring
Using multiple instruments, such as workshops and 
self-assessments, the identification and assessment 
of risks and opportunities is carried out by both the 
risk and opportunity owners during day-to-day oper-
ations and the CFO on a quarterly basis.

Risk and Opportunity Assessment
All risks and opportunities identified are evaluated 
with regard to their probability of occurrence and 
their potential impact based on a one-year time ho-
rizon. The identified single risks and opportunities 
are finally aggregated. The probability of occurrence 
represents the possibility that a specific impact for a 
risk or an opportunity may materialize within the 
next three to 60 months. The impact assessment is 
conducted on a quantitative scale that refers to the 
potential financial impact. The material risks and op-
portunities are described in the next section of this 
report.

Risk and Opportunity Control
Risk and opportunity owners are charged with de-
veloping and implementing effective risk mitigating 
and opportunity supporting measures within their 
responsibility area. Depending on the type, charac-
teristics, and assessment of the risks, different risk 
strategies are applied by the risk owners to reduce 
the risk, considering costs and effectiveness. Risk 
strategies can be risk avoidance, reduction, transfer 
to a third party, or acceptance.

Risk and Opportunity Management Improvements 
and Reporting
The respective risk owner reports on the overall risk 
and opportunity situation to the senior manage-
ment, the Management Board, and the Supervisory 
Board on a quarterly basis.

Non-current assets are composed of the Company’s 
investment in HomeToGo GmbH whereas the de-
crease during the fiscal year is the result of an im-
pairment of the investment carrying in the amount 
of EUR 258.2 million, mainly driven by a higher dis-
count rate and a reduction in net cash.

Current assets comprise treasury shares in the 
amount of EUR 18.2 million (2021: EUR 102.7 million) 
and cash and cash equivalents of EUR 1.6 million 
(2021: EUR 2.9 million).

During the financial year 2022 the Company trans-
ferred 452,148 and 700,000 Class A shares each with a 
par value of EUR 0.0192 per share as purchase price 
components as part of the acquisitions for e-domizil 
and SECRA, respectively.  In addition, 1,055,640 Class A 
shares were transferred to VSOP beneficiaries in 2022 
(2021: 4,210,905 Class A shares). The transfers of the 
treasury shares are presented as “Re-issuance of treas-
ury shares as consideration for acquisitions” while the 
transfers to the VSOP beneficiaries are presented un-
der “Share-based compensation” within the consoli-
dated statement of changes in equity for 2022.

4. Risk and opportunity  
Report
As an international company, HomeToGo has expo-
sure to macroeconomic, sector-specific, and com-
pany-specific risks and opportunities. This risk and 
opportunity report provides an overview of the im-
plemented risk and opportunity management sys-
tem and presents the risks and opportunities con-
sidered material for HomeToGo.

4.1. Risk and Opportunity  
Management System
The Management Board of HomeToGo SE assumes 
overall responsibility for the development and oper-
ation of an effective risk and opportunity manage-
ment system (RMS) for HomeToGo. The CFO has 
implemented the RMS that consists of the following 
elements:
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4.2. Illustration of Risks

Overall assessment of risks
Overall, the Management Board identified no risks 
that might threaten the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and, from to-
day’s perspective, no such risks are recognizable for 
the foreseeable future.

Cybersecurity and IT risks
We operate websites and apps with which we collect, 
maintain, transmit, and store information about our 
users, Partners, and others, including personal infor-
mation, as well as other confidential and proprietary 
information, including information related to intellec-
tual property. We also employ third-party service 
providers that store, process, and transmit proprie-
tary, personal, and confidential information on our 
behalf. Furthermore, we rely on encryption and au-
thentication technology licensed from third parties 
to securely transmit confidential and sensitive infor-
mation. While we have a cyber risk management in 
place and take extensive steps to protect the securi-
ty, integrity, and confidentiality of sensitive and con-
fidential information (e.g., password policies and 
firewalls), our security practices may be insufficient 
enabling third parties to potentially breach our sys-
tems (e.g., through Trojans, spyware, ransomware or 
other malware attacks, or breaches by our employ-
ees or third-party service providers), which may re-
sult in unauthorized use or disclosure of information. 
Such attacks might lead to blackmail attempts, forc-
ing us to pay substantial amounts to release our cap-
tured data or resulting in the unauthorized release of 
such data. Given that techniques used in those at-
tacks change frequently and often are not recog-
nized until launched against a target, it may be im-
possible to completely secure our systems. In 
addition, technical advances and continued expan-
sion and increased complexity of our IT infrastruc-
ture could increase the likelihood of security breach-
es. The operation of our business requires a number 
of licenses and other (usage) rights, e.g., in connec-
tion with integrating content into our platform. In the 
future, we may require additional licenses (e.g., if le-
gal environments change, or we provide additional 
services). There is, however, no guarantee that we 
will be able to obtain all required licenses or other 
(usage) rights or that we will manage to comply with 
all requirements imposed on us thereunder. If we fail 
to obtain and maintain such licenses or rights, we 

may not be able to conduct our business as intend-
ed, which may adversely affect our growth and prof-
itability. Service outages might occur by loss of do-
mains of other HomeToGo Group brands due to 
overlooked renewals that could result in a loss of 
Booking and IFRS Revenues.

To mitigate these risks, we continuously review and 
strengthen our IT security strategy and take an in-
creasing number of technical measures and organi-
zational policies to protect against unauthorized ac-
cess to our systems and data. We use advanced 
server solutions scalable by specialized third-party 
providers and recruit experts in order to ensure sys-
tem integrity and safety and reduce IT risks to an 
acceptable level. We constantly review required re-
newals of all HomeToGo Group domains to ensure 
the timely renewal of the domain ownership. Fur-
thermore, we are centralizing procedures and re-
sponsibilities across the HomeToGo Group to sup-
port these measures.

In 2022, in consultative collaboration with security 
experts, we have assessed our cybersecurity ac-
cording to NIST Cybersecurity Framework. Based on 
the framework, we have planned the next security 
advancement milestones and already delivered a 
number of new security enhancements. As an ex-
ample, we launched a comprehensive Bug Bounty 
program as an additional way to deliver surety to our 
measures and strategy. Additionally, to increase 
awareness of cyber attacks at work, we have 
launched a program of security awareness training 
for our employees, raising our protection from with-
in our team.

Product risks
Our listing products bear the risk that fraudulent 
homeowners might post fake or not as described of-
fers on our platforms. Travelers would arrive to find no 
holiday home or not as described holiday home re-
sulting in frustration and customer complaints that 
could damage the reputation of HomeToGo or one of 
our other brands leading to lower Booking and IFRS 
Revenues. To mitigate this risk we are constantly re-
viewing our fraud detection processes to initiate 
pre-emptive detection of potentially fraudulent hosts. 
We have integrated a third party vendor that is able to 
detect and block fraudulent accounts and listings cre-
ation. Further, we are using know your customer (KYC) 
verification flows before paying out funds to Partners.
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sels and the external data protection officer(s) to 
ensure correct interpretation of changing legal re-
quirements and timely incident response.

Evolving platform and consumer protection regula-
tions are reviewed by our legal team and incorporat-
ed in the HomeToGo product environment to ensure 
transparency for users with corresponding texts and 
features. 

In addition, short-term rental regulations on federal, 
regional and municipality levels impact the display of 
our offerings and are considered in operational busi-
ness processes and product configurations. Those 
short-term rental regulations are enacted worldwide 
with the intention to control and restrict the renting of 
private accommodations. Such law implementations 
may result in higher legal costs and necessary re-
sources depending on the individual market and juris-
diction. To remain up to date with interpretations and 
travel-related regulations, HomeToGo is engaged in 
industry associations, such as the Deutscher Ferien-
hausverband e.V. (DFV), the European Holiday Home 
Association (EHHA) as well as other associations and 
actively advocates the EU-wide harmonization of the 
regulation on short-term renting (e.g., by preparing 
and submitting position papers).

Legislative and regulatory authorities or other poli-
cy-making organizations in other countries where we 
operate may expand the scope of application of laws 
and regulations in force, enact new laws or regula-
tions or issue revised rules or guidelines on data priva-
cy, short-term rentals, consumer protection or overall 
online commerce. For instance, the EU Directive 
2021/514 (DAC7, Directive of Administrative Coopera-
tion in the field of taxation in the EU) with the consec-
utive national laws like the German Plattfor-
men-Steuertransparenzgesetz (PStTG) is in force 
resulting in reporting obligations - on the income real-
ized by sellers offering certain services - applicable to 
the digital economy. In 2024, the EU Digital Services 
Act further regulates online platforms more generally 
with more exhaustive additional rules in particular on 
transparency and further compliance measures.

Any failure to comply with dynamically changing 
data protection or other regulatory provisions and 
interpretations could result in administrative or civil 
legal proceedings, harm to our business, operations 
and reputation or even in significant fines.

For our payment services we rely on banks, card 
schemes, and other payment processors to execute 
certain components of the payments process. For in-
bound payments, we pay these third parties inter-
change fees and other processing and gateway fees 
to help facilitate payments from travelers to Partners. 
As a result, if we are unable to maintain our relation-
ships with these third parties on favorable terms or if 
these fees are increased for any reason, our profit 
margin, business, and results of operations could be 
harmed. Additionally, if these third parties experience 
service disruptions or if they cease operations, travel-
ers and Partners could have difficulty making or re-
ceiving payments, which could adversely impact our 
reputation, business, and results of operations.

Legislative and regulatory risks
HomeToGo is subject to numerous laws and regula-
tions, particularly on data protection, competition, 
consumer protection, online commerce and short-
term rentals on EU, national and local levels. This in-
cludes, in particular, the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) and extends to local legal frame-
works and changes pertaining to the German Tele-
kommunikation-Telemedien-Datenschutz-Gesetz 
(TTDSG), the German Gesetz gegen den unlauteren 
Wettbewerb (UWG) as well as the EU "New Deal for 
Consumers" Directive, besides travel-related regula-
tions for platforms offering short-term rentals. 

On the digital environment as such, the evolving 
regulatory framework for the use of cookies and sim-
ilar technologies in many jurisdictions may impair a 
convenient online service for our users and perfor-
mance on our platforms that may lead to limitations 
for our business and digital marketing techniques.

Responsible and confidential handling of customer 
data is key to our business. To mitigate risks of po-
tential violations, our legal team continuously moni-
tors data protection requirements and develop-
ments in interpretations, supports in implementing 
corresponding measures and processes and pro-
vides advice. Mandatory training and a regular focus 
group raise awareness for GDPR compliance which 
go hand in hand with close cooperation and align-
ment with responsible teams for adequate protec-
tion of personal data of customers as well as part-
ners and employees. Appropriate processes are 
reviewed, updated and implemented with due care, 
also seeking advice from external foreign legal coun-
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Marketing risks
Another risk factor, is the reachable efficiency and 
effectiveness of marketing expenses. There is a risk 
of increased user acquisition costs as competition 
with direct and indirect competitors in online mar-
keting channels is intensifying. Furthermore, there is 
a risk of losing SEO traffic and revenue due to Goog-
le updates and an increasing visibility of Google 
owned products.

HomeToGo counters this with investments in the 
brands of the HomeToGo Group, which are, geared 
to the main brand, HomeToGo. For example, through 
the evaluation of organic search results, targeted 
CRM campaigns are launched or TV and outdoor ad-
vertising is placed in order to increase the efficiency 
of the marketing measures applied and to reduce 
the dependency on individual online marketing 
channels. We perform long-term focussed SEO in 
line with Google guidelines, focus on high-quality 
content and constantly improve our Onsite quality 
metrics. Further, we monitor competition for strate-
gic investments or partnerships.

Partner risks
Our business depends on our Partners maintaining 
their offers on our platform and engaging in practic-
es that encourage users to book those offers. If Part-
ners do not establish or maintain a sufficient number 
of offers and availability for their properties, the 
number of nights booked declines for a particular 
period, or the price charged by Partners declines, 
our revenue would decline and our business, results 
of operations, and financial condition would be ma-
terially adversely affected. While we plan to continue 
to invest in our Partners and in tools to assist Part-
ners, these investments may not be successful in 
growing our Partners and offers on our platform. In 
addition, Partners may not establish or maintain of-
fers if we cannot attract prospective users to our 
platform and generate bookings from a large num-
ber of users. While HomeToGo has experienced only 
a limited number of contract terminations by Part-
ners in the past, Partners have from time to time tak-
en their inventory temporarily off its websites, e.g., 
for technical reasons.

Since our key Partners, in particular OTAs, typically 
operate their own platforms and/or also use the ser-
vices of other platforms, we face the risk that a key 
Partner may decide to suspend or terminate its part-

nership with us. Such decisions can be based on 
factors that are beyond our control. For example, a 
key Partner may decide to reduce spending on ser-
vices from us due to a challenging economic envi-
ronment or other factors, both internal and external, 
relating to its business. These factors, among others, 
may include corporate restructuring, pricing pres-
sure, changes to an outsourcing strategy, or switch-
ing to another platform. Furthermore, our reliance 
on certain key Partners for a significant portion of 
our revenue may give these Partners a certain de-
gree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating 
contracts and terms of service.

The loss of all or a portion of our business with, or 
the failure to retain a significant amount of business 
with, any of our key Partners could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Ukraine Risk
As at the time of the publication of the Combined 
Management Report, the war in Ukraine is ongoing 
and its development remains unpredictable. There is 
a risk that the war will further escalate and that the 
battle ground could extend geographically and ac-
tively involve territories of neighboring sovereign 
countries, which could further adversely impact the 
perception of security of the public and lead to a de-
crease in global travel activity. There is the risk that 
the current economic environment could further 
deteriorate and have an adverse lasting impact on 
consumers’ disposable incomes. This could have a 
consequence of a decrease in demand for travel ac-
tivities and related services and result in lower Book-
ing and IFRS Revenues. Furthermore, the risk of de-
fault among our Partners could also increase and 
lead to an augmented liquidity risk for the Group.

The future development in terms of the war in 
Ukraine and the economic environment cannot be 
foreseen beyond the short-term view, however 
HomeToGo will continue to monitor the situation 
closely and will continue to flexibly respond at short 
notice to any new development.

Covid-19 Risk
Furthermore, there is a remote risk that the Covid-19 
virus could again adversely affect travel behavior in 
the future with new variants of the virus spreading 
that may be immune to vaccination and immuniza-
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Foreign currency risks
We offer our Partners and users integrated payments 
in more than 28 currencies and a considerable por-
tion of our business is conducted in foreign curren-
cies. Therefore, we are exposed to a certain currency 
risk. HomeToGo counters this currency risk through 
natural hedging of the main foreign currencies (pri-
marily USD, GBP and CHF) by keeping bank accounts 
in the corresponding foreign currency in order to al-
ways be able to hold a stock of foreign currency in 
this way and not to be exposed to short-term curren-
cy fluctuations.

Acquisitions risks
HomeToGo has acquired multiple businesses since 
2018 and we will continue to regularly evaluate po-
tential acquisitions. We may expend significant cash 
or incur substantial debt to finance such acquisi-
tions, which indebtedness could result in restrictions 
on our business and significant use of available cash 
to make payments of interest and principal. In addi-
tion, we may finance acquisitions by issuing equity 
or convertible debt securities, which could result in 
further dilution to our existing stockholders. We may 
enter into negotiations for acquisitions that are not 
ultimately consummated. Those negotiations could 
result in diversion of management time and signifi-
cant out-of-pocket costs. If we fail to evaluate and 
execute acquisitions successfully, our business, re-
sults of operations, and financial condition could be 
materially adversely affected.

In addition, we may not be successful in integrating 
acquisitions or the businesses we acquire may not 
perform as well as we expected. While our acquisi-
tions to date have not caused major disruptions in 
our business, any future failure to manage and suc-
cessfully integrate acquired businesses could mate-
rially adversely affect our business, results of opera-
tions, and financial condition.

ESG risks
We recognize we will need to invest significant effort 
and resources to further develop and align our ESG 
activities whilst continuing to comply with the 
changing regulations and policies, specifically in 
terms of how we measure and report ESG data. If 
our ESG practices do not meet regulatory require-
ments or investor, traveler or employee expecta-
tions, then our reputation could be negatively affect-
ed. Similarly, our failure to fulfill ESG commitments to 

tion following an infection. The recent shift by Chi-
na’s policy makers to abandon the zero Covid-19 
policy could possibly raise the risk of new variants 
and may trigger a new global wave with negative im-
pacts on travel and already stressed supply chains 
leading to lower Booking and IFRS Revenues for 
HomeToGo.
   
Growth Risk
With a focus on the Group’s future profitability, there 
is a risk that measures aimed at further realizing cost 
efficiencies could have an unexpected constraining 
impact on the growth of the Group’s business. 

Inflation Risk
Our financial performance is subject to global mac-
roeconomic conditions being impacted by high in-
flation rates and a rapid rise in interest rates as a reac-
tion by central banks. High inflation might impact 
our business model negatively as the consumers’ 
real discretionary income might shrink. Higher inter-
est rates set by central banks as a countermeasure to 
normalize inflation rates will impact the global econ-
omy with adverse effects on consumers’ ability to 
travel. Higher interest rates will lead to higher costs 
of capital, used as discount rates in our impairment 
test models. Higher discount rates would reduce val-
uations, absent any offsetting adjustments to cash 
flow projections, for example due to inflation. This 
would be an impairment trigger and could result in 
an impairment. We are carefully monitoring our cost 
spending and might be able to pass part of increas-
ing prices on to market participants.

Liquidity and default risks
Due to the continuing loss situation, there is generally 
a medium-term liquidity risk. Furthermore, a default 
risk exists in respect of our Partners’ receivables, 
which might also adversely affect liquidity. Given the 
size of our Partners (partly listed companies), we re-
gard a default of large Partners as unlikely whereas 
the risk is slightly higher compared to the financial 
year 2021 given contractions in the economic envi-
ronment at the time of the publication of the com-
bined management report. A slightly higher default 
risk arises from small and non-professionalized Part-
ners, which is treated through consistent follow-up 
care. Overall, this refers to a minor volume and does 
not adversely affect HomeToGo’s further existence. 
The Group has strong liquidity resources at its dispos-
al and an effective liquidity management.
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meet reporting standards could mean we are sub-
ject to regulatory punishment or actions by stake-
holders that could negatively impact our business. 
We recognize the following risks among ESG pillars 
Environmental, Social and Governance: 

Environmental risks 
There are potential risks inherent in climate protec-
tion efforts, reflected in regulatory changes and con-
sumer demand. The overarching need to travel less 
to protect the planet could affect customers’ willing-
ness to book multiple vacations per year and/or 
long-distance travel. In addition, stakeholder con-
cerns, as well as negative press about sustainable 
travel trends such as flight- or ‘workation’ “shaming”, 
could negatively impact a customer’s willingness to 
travel. The increasing pressure to use sustainable 
modes of transportation may make it more difficult 
for some of our inventory to be accessible, and 
hence less attractive to book. Globally, Covid-19 and 
other pandemics may lead to new forms of travel 
restrictions or travel fatigue. With increasing reper-
cussions caused by the severity of climate change, 
the inaccessibility of certain regions throughout the 
year due to extreme weather conditions or natural 
disasters might make it more difficult or even impos-
sible to travel to relevant destinations. 

Social risks 
Our employees’ expertise and commitment are im-
portant factors for our successful development and 
depend on our ability to recruit, train, motivate and 
retain highly qualified employees and, at the same 
time, promote our corporate culture. Changes in the 
macro-economic landscape may impact the stability 
of HomeToGo’s social climate, e.g. the ability to retain 
and attract top talent in a competitive and ever-evolv-
ing environment. A risk factor is the skilled labor short-
age (“Fachkräftemangel”) which continues to prevail 
in Germany and other countries, which may pose a 
risk to retain key employees and attract additional top 
talent and qualified staff, e.g., in the field of software 
developers. The loss of qualified staff, high employee 
fluctuation or lasting difficulties in filling vacant posi-
tions with suitable applicants might adversely affect 
our ability to effectively compete in our business, and 
we might lose important know-how, or our competi-
tors might gain access to such know-how.

Additionally, we note a tendency for the younger 
generation to seek a “purpose-driven” work environ-

ment and increasingly look for jobs in sustainabili-
ty-related industries (e.g. NGOs and social ventures). 
We see it as an important task to monitor the mental 
and physical well-being of our employees who may 
suffer from the difficult global times we are experi-
encing, such as the war in Ukraine, the Covid-19 pan-
demic, rising inflation and the threat of recession or 
other factors. In addition, we see a risk in ensuring 
that employees are treated equally and fairly regard-
less of gender, ethnicity, culture, sexual orientation 
and other factors. In order to attract and retain qual-
ified staff, we offer competitive compensation pack-
ages with long-term incentive models and other 
employer benefits, which serve the professional and 
health promotion of our employees. Furthermore, 
we strongly invest in our corporate culture and the 
development and further training of our employees. 
Maintaining an engaging culture in the face of in-
creasing remote working and a global employee and 
office base requires special care and attention, while 
continuing to ensure a high degree of flexibility and 
independence for our workforce.  

Governance risks 
We see a risk in maintaining sound corporate gov-
ernance while complying with the additional report-
ing guidelines that HomeToGo will be required to 
follow in 2023 and the years to come. As such it is 
important to ensure that the business is organized in 
such a way that accounting, treasury and financial 
operations are satisfactorily controlled in all other re-
spects and that the risks inherent in the business are 
identified, defined, measured, monitored and con-
trolled at all times in accordance with all relevant ex-
ternal and internal frameworks. 

As our global footprint grows, we closely monitor all 
risks related to anti-corruption, even though we do 
not consider them to be a material threat to our cur-
rent business or financial performance. Although we 
do our best to keep a close eye on all matters along 
our supply chain complementing our standard part-
ner contracts with compliance standards we incorpo-
rate for ourselves and expect from these business 
partners as well, we recognize that limited transpar-
ency and the lack of a suppliers’ code of conduct in 
some business relationships might make it difficult 
for us to enforce adequate compliance with protec-
tion from human rights-related risks along the supply 
chain and that this is therefore considered a stand-
ard risk.
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4.3. Illustration of Opportunities

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the market for alter-
native accommodation was experiencing significant 
growth. We anticipate that the alternative accom-
modation industry will continue to expand signifi-
cantly because of an observable trend in the traveler 
preferences away from traditional hotel and resort 
reservations and more towards vacation homes, as 
demonstrated during the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
mainstreaming of vacation rentals was accelerated 
by the pandemic and persists even in a crisis that 
showed people always travel, only further driving re-
peat demand. This can be traced back to its high 
flexibility by nature, safety of vacation rental, the of-
ten convenient and short distances to domestic lo-
cations, the offering of maximum independence 
and seclusion, as well as a wide range of amenities 
that help travelers control their budget. Further ex-
pansion of trends such as “workations” are expected 
as consumers are adding additional days before or 
after their holidays and just work from away. In order 
to maintain its previous growth trajectory in a sus-
tained manner, HomeToGo will offer its customers 
and users a fully integrated product portfolio with 
tailored products and software-based solutions in 
these new market fields as a result of the growing 
digitization of this privately and semi-professionally 
operated tourism sector segment.

With cancellation rates reaching pre-Covid-19 pan-
demic levels, a faster than expected return to histor-
ic cancellation rates or even a further decrease can 
lead to additional IFRS and Booking Revenues.
 
During the pandemic many people considered pur-
chasing an own holiday home in domestic locations 
instead of further renting. In order to fully utilize these 
new homeowners might use platforms like HomeTo-
Go that increases their reach significantly and could 
lead to additional supply on our platform.

12 https://www.iata.org/en/pressroom/2022-releases/2022-12-06-01/#:~:text=In%202023%20the%20airline%20industry,from%202.9%25%20in%202022)

Faster implementation of our software solutions 
can lead to faster digitalization of inventory and 
therefore benefit the whole alternative accommo-
dation industry. 

Increased competition among our Partners can lead 
to better economics for HomeToGo as Partners will 
want to have a higher traffic share.

5. Significant events after  
the Reporting period
No significant events occurred between the end of
the reporting period and the date that the financial
statements are authorized for issue.

6. outlook
Building on a strong Booking Revenues Backlog of 
EUR 32.5 million as of December 31, 2022 that was a 
significant increase by 71.8% compared to the end of 
2021, the new fiscal year 2023 started well for Home-
ToGo with strong bookings across markets. As usual 
bookings were driven by traditional early booking 
markets like DACH and the Netherlands. However, 
also markets like North America, who usually book 
more in Q2, have been quite active.

According to the Global Online Travel Booking Plat-
form Market 2022-2026 study by Technavio, the on-
line booking industry is up to an increasing market 
size, with an expected growth of 13.9% in 2023 and 
an average CAGR of 15.7% from 2023 to 2026. The 
International Air Transport Association (IATA) is also 
facing an ongoing recovery for the year 2023 with 
passenger numbers expected to surpass the four 
billion mark for the first time since 2019, with 4.2 bil-
lion travelers expected to fly. Both studies underline 
that the online travel business and the alternative 
accommodation industry continues to be a fast 
growing market.12

For the short-term future, the Group will continue its 
growth path by further expanding its business in 
both Europe and North America by onboarding 
more Partners, acquiring new customers and capi-
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talizing on returning customers, all with the help of 
our technology-driven solutions enabling access to 
incredible homes.

With travel as a priority for leisure spending for the 
majority of consumers13 and consciousness for envi-
ronmental and sustainable use of resources rising, 
we see that the trend of choosing alternative ac-
commodation for vacations will persist and prove to 
be resilient during periods of economic contractions 
that are projected to persist. HomeToGo’s perfor-
mance during the Covid-19 pandemic has proven 
the resilience of our business model. We aim to fur-
ther scale our operations across geographic areas 
and replicate our proven marketing playbook in 
DACH region to drive repeat demand globally.

With the expansion of our Subscription & Services 
business, we will continue to deliver an unparalleled 
experience for users on our platform to drive repeat 
demand and brand loyalty. On the Supply side, we will 
support our Partners with growth, continuing to prove 
the integration potential of our marketplace to drive 
acceleration for both the demand and supply side. 

A key piece of fostering our path to profitability is our 
focus on delivering an incredible experience that trav-
elers want to return to, combined with an efficient 
marketing strategy to drive and scale repeat demand 
at lower costs. We have taken operating measures to 
optimize our resource allocation and pace our over-
head investments. This is combined with savings 
from lifting valuable synergy potentials with our sub-
sidiaries from our key acquisitions. At a topline level, 
we have consolidated contracts within HomeToGo 
Group plus offered new, engaging add-on services to 
drive Revenues and additional margins.

13 McKinsey & Company Germany Consumers Pulse Survey, 9/23-
10/2/2022

For the financial year 2023, the HomeToGo Group 
expects to grow Booking Revenues by 13-25% to a 
range of EUR 185-205 million. Onsite share of Book-
ing Revenues share is expected to grow by 2-7 per-
centage points to 56-61%. IFRS Revenues are expect-
ed to grow by 13-19% to EUR 165-175 million. We 
expect further economies of scale and an improved 
efficiency of our marketing activity that will enable 
us to reach Adjusted EBITDA break-even in 2023 
within a range between EUR (2.5) and 2.5 million.

Luxembourg, March 29, 2023 
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin gruber
COO

Steffen Schneider
CFO

dr. patrick andrae 
Co-founder & CEO
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Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
Years Ended December 31

(IN EUR THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND 
PER SHARE DATA)

NOTE 2022 2021* 
(ADJUSTED)

Revenues 9 146,839 94,839

Cost of Revenues 10 (12,202) (4,327)

Gross profit 134,637 90,512

Product development and operations 11 (28,678) (23,840)

Marketing and sales 12 (126,284) (95,390)

General and administrative 13 (47,851) (112,751)

Other expenses 14 (1,160) (631)

Other income 14 3,671 11,646

Loss from operations (65,666) (130,455)

Finance income 8,822 12,434

Finance expenses (1,894) (58,803)

Financial result, net 15 6,928 (46,368)

Loss before tax (58,738) (176,823)

Income taxes 16 5,239 (202)

Net loss (53,499) (177,025)

Total comprehensive loss (53,721) (177,042)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 17 (0.47) (2.22)

Weighted average ordinary shares 
outstanding (basic and diluted)

113,367,886 79,619,166

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
*) refer to note 35 for the resulting effects from a change in presentation of warrants from equity to liabilities.
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(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

NOTE 2022 2021* 
(ADJUSTED)

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 
and goodwill

19 138,404 61,360

Property, plant and 
equipment

20 15,023 15,202

Other receivables 
(non-current)

33 – 814

Income tax 
receivables 
(non-current)

95 79

Other financial 
assets (non-current)

22 5,504 8,249

Other assets 
(non-current)

23 143 258

Total non-current 
assets

159,169 85,962

Current assets

Trade and other 
receivables 
(current)

21 14,466 18,997

Income tax 
receivables 
(current)

1,622 79

Other financial 
assets (current)

22 51,778 101,960

Other assets 
(current)

23 5,533 5,341

Cash and cash 
equivalents

112,050 152,944

Total current assets 185,448 279,321

Total assets 344,618 365,284

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31

(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

NOTE 2022 2021* 
(ADJUSTED)

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Subscribed capital 2,441 2,441

Capital reserves 519,032 508,963

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

(240) (18)

Share-based 
payments reserve

85,638 68,744

Retained Earnings (343,174) (289,680)

Total shareholder´s 
equity

24 263,697 290,451

Borrowings 
(non-current)

25 5,631 9,371

Other financial 
liabilities 
(non-current)

27, 35 15,517 23,192

Provisions 
(non-current)

26 518 1,182

Other liabilities 
(non-current)

28 404 1,117

Income tax liabilities 
(non-current)

13 –

Deferred tax 
liabilities

29 7,930 3,874

Non-current 
liabilities

30,014 38,736

Borrowings 
(current)

25 2,844 3,007

Trade payables 
(current)

12,544 15,395

Other financial 
liabilities (current)

27 10,057 8,885

Provisions (current) 26 1,645 108

Other liabilities 
(current)

28 19,824 8,534

Income tax liabilities 
(current)

3,993 168

Current liabilities 50,907 36,097

Total liabilities 80,921 74,833

Total shareholder´s 
equity and liabilities

344,618 365,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
*) refer to note 35 for the resulting effects from a change in presentation of warrants from equity to liabilities.

table continues →
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Years Ended December 31*

(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

NOTE SUB­
SCRIBED 
CAPITAL 

CAPITAL 
RESERVES 

OWN 
SHARES**

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANS­
LATION 

RESERVE

SHARE­
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
RESERVE

TOTAL 
SHARE­

HOLDERS' 
EQUITY 

As of Jan 1, 2021 93 113,280 – (112,656) – 22,148 22,865

Net loss – – – (177,025) – – (177,025)

Other compre-
hensive loss

– – – – (18) (18)

Total comprehen-
sive loss

– – – (177,025) (18) (177,042)

Conversion of 
convertible loans 

6 18 146,259 – – – – 146,277

Conversion of 
earn outs 

6 1 515 – – – (515) 1

Share capital 
restructuring 

6 1,438 (1,438) – – – – –

Reverse acquisi-
tion of Lakestar 
SPAC

6 665 164,616 – – 70,437 235,718

Redemption of 
SPAC shares and 
warrants

6 – 102,692 (102,692) – – – –

Share issuance 
for PIPE financing

6 144 74,856 – – – – 75,000

Share issuance 
transaction costs 

6 – (1,818) – – – – (1,818)

Share-based 
compensation 

31 81 12,693 – – – (23,325) (10,551)

As of Dec 31, 2021 2,441 611,656 (102,692) (289,681) (18) 68,745 290,451

As of Jan 1, 2022 2,441 611,656 (102,692) (289,681) (18) 68,745 290,451

Net loss – – – (53,499) – – (53,499) 

Other compre-
hensive loss

– – – – (222) – (222) 

Total comprehen-
sive loss

– – – (53,499) (222) – (53,721)

Re-issuance of 
treasury shares as 
consideration for 
acquisitions – net 
of transaction 
costs and tax

6 – (7,701) 11,521 – – – 3,821

Share-based 
compensation

30 – (4,309) 10,556 – – 16,893 23,141

As of Dec 31, 2022 2,441 599,646 (80,615) (343,175) (240) 85,638 263,697

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
*) Refer to note 35 for the resulting effects from a change in presentation of warrants from equity to liabilities.
**) This column has been added as an adjustment to prior year to enhance transparency.
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(IN EUR THOUSANDS) Note 2022 2021*
 (ADJUSTED)

Loss before income tax (58,738) (176,823)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 12,974 4,690

Non-cash listing service expense - de-SPAC Charge – 70,437

Non-cash employee benefits expense - share-based payments 30 25,652 31,560

Fair value (gains)/losses on non-current financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss – (377)

VSOP - Exercise tax settlement charge (1,683) (30,495)

VSOP - Cash paid to beneficiaries (262) (11,616)

Finance costs - net 15 (6,928) 46,368

Net exchange differences (1,047) (972)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables 6,722 (12,496)

(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets 22 (187) (4,968)

(Increase) / Decrease in other assets 23 3,726 (4,135)

Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables (5,834) 9,742

Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 27 (4,986) 2,439

Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities 28 (4,782) (5,067)

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 26 770 (376)

Cash generated from operations (34,602) (82,088)

Interest and other finance cost paid (-) (997) (1,140)

Income taxes (paid) / received (750) (28)

Net cash used in operating activities (36,349) (83,256)

Proceeds from / (Payments for) financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss 22 50,000 (100,000)

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 6 (46,199) (16,385)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 20 (382) (324)

Payments for intangible assets 19 (187) (91)

Payments for internally generated intangible assets 19 (3,828) (1,545)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (25) 2

Net cash used in investing activities (621) (118,343)

Proceeds from borrowings and convertible loans 25/26 – 76,175

Proceeds from recapitalization, net of redemptions – 171,489

Proceeds from PIPE financing – 75,000

Transaction costs – (1,818)

Repayments of borrowings 25 (4,362) (2,787)

Principal elements of lease payments (891) (966)

Net cash provided by financing activities (5,253) 317,093

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (42,223) 115,494

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 152,944 36,237

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,329 1,213

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 112,050 152,944

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
*) refer to Note 35  for the resulting effects from a change in presentation of warrants from equity to liabilities.
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On July 14, 2021, HomeToGo GmbH and Lakestar 
SPAC entered into a Business Combination Agree-
ment (“BCA”) whereby Lakestar SPAC became the 
legal parent company of HomeToGo GmbH, its di-
rect and indirect subsidiaries for a contribution and 
exchange of HomeToGo GmbH shares for new Pub-
lic Shares (the “Business Combination” or “Transac-
tion”). On September 21, 2021 the Transaction was 
closed (the “Closing”) and Lakestar SPAC changed 
its name to HomeToGo SE. 

HomeToGo GmbH was deemed to be both the ac-
counting acquirer and the predecessor entity in the 
subsequent fillings of the combined company. 
Please refer to Note 6 - Business Combinations and 
other Acquisitions in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for 2021 for further explanations 
on the Transaction.

2 . basis of preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the interpre-
tations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Standards Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) as 
adopted by and to be applied in the European Union.

The official version of the accounts is the ESEF ver-
sion available at the Officially Appointed Mechanism 
(OAM) of Luxembourg under https://www.bourse.lu/
issuer/HomeToGo/102802. 

The accounting principles set out below, unless stated 
otherwise, have been applied consistently for all peri-
ods presented in the consolidated financial statements. 
We refer to note 35 - Change in accounting policy – 
Classification of warrants for the change in presenting 
warrants in accounting for the de-SPAC transaction. 

1. Corporate information
The HomeToGo Group (“HomeToGo” or “Group”), com-
prises the parent entity HomeToGo SE (“HomeToGo SE”), 
Luxembourg, Luxembourg (the “Company”), and its 
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The Company is reg-
istered in the commercial register of the Registre de 
commerce et des sociétés in Luxembourg under 
number B249273. The Company’s address is Rue de 
Bitbourg 9, 1273, Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

The business activities of HomeToGo include the op-
eration of an international marketplace for alternative 
accommodations that connects millions of users 
searching for a place to stay with thousands of inven-
tory suppliers across the globe, resulting in the world’s 
most comprehensive inventory coverage in the alter-
native accommodation space. At the time of the re-
port, HomeToGo’s portfolio comprised more than 15 
million aggregated accommodation offers provided 
by over 60,000 online travel agencies, tour operators, 
property managers and other inventory suppliers 
(“Partners”) worldwide. HomeToGo operates its busi-
ness through localized websites and apps in 25 coun-
tries. The marketplace seamlessly integrates a vast 
inventory in one simple search and enables users to 
book accommodations from diverse Partners, either 
on the Partner’s external accommodation websites or 
directly on the HomeToGo marketplace platform. The 
consolidated financial statements of HomeToGo were 
initially authorized for issue by the Management 
Board on March 29, 2022.

HomeToGo SE was originally known as Lakestar 
SPAC I SE (“Lakestar SPAC”) a Special Purpose Acqui-
sition Company with the objective of acquiring a 
European late-stage growth company in the technol-
ogy sector with the funds raised from private place-
ments. Lakestar SPAC became listed on the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange on February 22, 2021.

Hometogo Se, luxembourg
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Amounts in EUR thousands, except stated otherwise)
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HomeToGo has also decided to change the pres-
entation of treasury shares in its Statement of chang-
es in equity by introducing a separate column on 
treasury shares, which shows the deduction from 
equity. HTG determined that such change would im-
prove the transparency about the development of 
treasury shares, which will be reissued through 
transactions or as settlement of claims resulting 
from share-based compensation.

HomeToGo’s financial year ends December 31. All in-
tercompany transactions are eliminated during the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, unless otherwise 
stated. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Euro (“EUR”), which is the functional 
currency of the Company and all subsidiaries of 
HomeToGo. All values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand, except when otherwise indicated. Due to 
rounding, differences may arise when individual 
amounts or percentages are added together.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
under the assumption that the Group will continue 
as a going concern. Management believes that 
HomeToGo has adequate resources to continue op-
erations for the foreseeable future.

3. Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the 
balances and results of the Company and its whol-
ly-owned subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities di-
rectly or indirectly controlled by the Company. The 
Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has the right to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those re-
turns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries 
are consolidated from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases.

Besides the Company, the following subsidiaries are 
included in the scope of consolidation as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022:

Please refer to Note 6 - Business Combinations and 
other acquisitions for additions to the scope of con-
solidation during the year 2022 . 

Effective January 1, 2022, LS I Advisors Ver-
waltungs-GmbH, Munich, Germany, HS Holiday 
Search GmbH, Berlin, Germany, Mertus 288. GmbH, 
Berlin, Germany, and Mapify UG (haftungsbes-
chränkt), Kassel, Germany were merged onto Home-
ToGo GmbH, all four entities ceased to exist. Fur-
thermore, effective March 29, 2022 LS I Advisors 
GmbH & Co. KG, Munich, Germany was merged 
onto HomeToGo SE and also ceased to exist.

SUBSIDIARY LOCATION PERCENTAGE OF 
OWNERSHIP

HomeToGo 
GmbH

Berlin,
 Germany

100%

Casamundo 
GmbH

Berlin, 
Germany

100%

Smoobu GmbH Berlin, Germany 100%

Atraveo GmbH Düsseldorf, 
Germany

100%

e-domizil GmbH Frankfurt, 
Germany

100%

SECRA GmbH Sierksdorf, 
Germany

100%

SECRA Bookings 
GmbH

Sierksdorf, 
Germany

100%

e-domizil AG Zurich, 
Switzerland

100%

Feries S.r.l. Milan, Italy 100%

Escapada 
Rural S.L.

Barcelona, 
Spain

100%

AMIVAC SAS Paris, France 100%

Adrialin d.o.o. Rijeka, Croatia 100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies

Kaunas, 
Lithuania

100%

UAB HomeToGo 
Technologies 
Vilnius

Vilnius, 
Lithuania

100%

HOMETOGO 
INTERNATIONAL, 
INC.

Wilmington, 
Delaware, USA

100%
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flationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are trans-
lated into the reporting currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet 
presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that balance sheet
income and expenses for each statement of 
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates 
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation of 
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on 
the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the dates of the trans-
actions), and 
all resulting exchange differences are recogni-
zed in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from 
the translation of any net investment in foreign enti-
ties, and of borrowings are recognized in other com-
prehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold 
or any borrowings forming part of the net invest-
ment are repaid, the associated exchange differenc-
es are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain 
or loss on sale.

c) Profit or loss structure
HomeToGo uses a cost of revenue structure to pres-
ent its expenses by function. See Note 9 and the 
following paragraph for further explanations about 
the content in the different profit or loss line items.

d) Revenue recognition
HomeToGo applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with customers. The standard establishes principles 
for reporting information to users of financial state-
ments, about the nature, amount, timing and uncer-
tainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s 
contracts with customers. Management applies the 

On July 4, 2022, HomeToGo GmbH entered into a 
sale and purchase agreement for 100% of the shares 
in Adrialin d.o.o for a total preliminary cash consider-
ation of EUR 0.7 million. The entity is based in Croatia 
with its principal business being the activity of an 
online travel agency (OTA).

In accordance with provisions of section 264 para-
graph 3 of German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch), Casamundo GmbH, e-domizil GmbH, 
Atraveo GmbH, are exempt from the requirement to 
prepare notes the financial statements and a man-
agement report (where applicable) as well as to pub-
lish their financial statements and management re-
ports (where applicable).

4. Summary of significant 
accounting policies
a) Current versus non-current classification
HomeToGo classifies assets and liabilities by maturi-
ty. They are classified as current in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if they mature or are 
otherwise settled or realized within one year. De-
ferred tax assets and liabilities are consistently pre-
sented as non-current in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

b) Foreign currency translation
HomeToGo’s consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Euro, which is the functional and pres-
entation currency of the Company and its subsidiar-
ies. For each entity, the Group determines the func-
tional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency. Functional currency is defined 
as the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which each entity operates.

Any transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on the 
date of transaction. Balance sheet items denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate 
for each reporting period, with resulting translation dif-
ferences recognized within the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of foreign opera-
tions (none of which has the currency of a hyperin-
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five-step model according to IFRS 15 when determin-
ing the timing and amount of revenue recognition. 

HomeToGo operates a marketplace for alternative 
accommodations that connects millions of travelers 
searching for a perfect place to stay with thousands 
of inventory suppliers across the globe. HomeToGo 
generates revenue through the following main reve-
nue types:

Cost per Action (“CPA”): CPA is the largest 
revenue stream, whereby HomeToGo receives a 
percentage-based commission for successful 
onsite- or offsite booking referrals, which 
facilitate a stay. Depending on the contractual 
terms with the respective partner, the revenue 
for HomeToGo is either calculated as percentage 
of the commission or as percentage of the 
booking value (sometimes called revenue share).
Cost per Click (“CPC”) HomeToGo receives a 
fixed commission based on every successful 
referral click.
Cost per Lead (“CPL”): HomeToGo receives a 
fixed commission based on every successful 
referral inquiry (lead).
Subscriptions & Services are related to subscrip-
tion-based revenue from Partners who can use 
the platform for listing of their rental objects 
over a determined period.

CPA transactions are commission-based revenues 
where the Partner compensates HomeToGo for facil-
itating bookings that resulted in a stay of the traveler. 
HomeToGo is acting as an agent in either scenario as 
described above. The Company considers its Part-
ners, in particular online travel agencies (“OTAs”), or 
the rental property owners and managers to be its 
customers. Only the CPA contracts and the specific 
bookings taken together would constitute a contract 
under IFRS 15. Typically, these bookings are cancella-
ble at any time. The contracts with the OTA partners 
stipulate that HomeToGo only earns CPA for book-
ings that facilitate a stay. Furthermore, for the major-
ity of contracts the payment claim of HomeToGo 
only comes into existence once the check-in of the 
traveler has occurred. HomeToGo also engages in a 
multitude of post-booking activities that facilitate 
the check-in (hence the stay of the traveler), e.g. 
customer support for the traveler. These activities 
are not distinct from each other and are not separate 
performance obligations. It is therefore manage-

ment’s judgement to define the single performance 
obligation of the Group’s CPA transactions as ‘suc-
cessful booking’ which facilitates a stay. Therefore, 
the revenues for CPA transactions are recognized at 
the same point in time as the check-in date of the 
traveler when HomeToGo’s performance obligation 
is satisfied. Payments received from Partners for 
bookings where check-in has not occurred yet are 
recognized as contract liabilities.

For CPC or CPL transactions, HomeToGo receives a 
fixed commission based on every successful inquiry 
or referral click. As opposed to CPA transactions, 
each click or inquiry initiated by the traveler through 
the HomeToGo platform with referral to the partner 
website is considered a distinct promised service. 
HomeToGo has an enforceable payment claim based 
on the monthly click volume and is not subject to 
cancellation or similar risks. Therefore, the ‘simple 
referral’ through CPC meets the criteria of a perfor-
mance obligation which is satisfied at a point in time 
i.e. with the click through the partner website. 
HomeToGo recognizes the revenue for CPC at the 
corresponding click date.

In HomeToGo’s subscription contracts, property 
managers or owners pay in advance for Software as 
a Service (“SaaS”) and online advertising services re-
lated to the listing of their properties for rent over a 
fixed period, which is usually one year. As the perfor-
mance obligation is the SaaS or listing service and is 
provided to the property manager/owner over time 
of use (SaaS) or the life of the listing period, the Sub-
scriptions & Services IFRS Revenues are recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the time of use (SaaS) or 
listing period respectively. Amounts received as pre-
payment are recognized as contract liabilities.

Variable consideration might occur in the form of 
performance-based bonuses with respect to reve-
nue based on bonus agreements that can be agreed 
for CPL and CPA transactions. HomeToGo includes 
variable consideration estimated in the transaction 
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that 
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncer-
tainty associated with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved.
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e) Intangible assets and goodwill
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The use-
ful life of intangible assets is assessed as either finite 
or indefinite. Refer to Note 19 - Intangible assets and 
goodwill for further details regarding the carrying 
amount of HomeToGo’s intangible asset balances 
and to Note 6 - Business Combinations and other 
acquisitions with respect to information on goodwill 
and intangible assets resulting from business combi-
nations.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life
Intangible assets with a finite useful life consist of li-
censes, trademarks and domains, customer relation-
ships, order backlog and internally generated software. 

In accordance with IAS 38, development costs that 
are directly attributable to the design, coding and 
testing of identifiable software modules controlled 
by the Group are recognized as intangible assets 
where the following criteria are met: 1) It is technical-
ly feasible to complete the software so that it will be 
available for use, 2) management intends to com-
plete the software and use or sell it, 3) there is an 
ability to use or sell the software, 4) it can be demon-
strated how the software will generate probable fu-
ture economic benefits, 5) adequate technical, finan-
cial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the software are available, 6) and the 
expenditure attributable to the software during its 
development can be reliably measured. Directly at-
tributable costs that are capitalized as part of the soft-
ware include employee costs and other directly at-
tributable costs. Software maintenance costs are 
recognized as an expense incurred. 

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over 
their estimated useful life on a straight-line basis and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indi-
cation that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortization period and the amortization meth-
od of intangible assets with a finite useful life are re-
viewed at least annually, with any changes treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of con-
sumption of the assets’ future economic benefits 
are considered when assessing the amortization 
method and useful life of the asset.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Intangible assets and goodwill
HomeToGo’s goodwill originated from the acquisi-
tions of subsidiaries and is included in intangible as-
sets and goodwill. Goodwill represents the differ-
ence between the purchase price and the net 
identifiable assets acquired at fair value. Refer to 
Note 6 for further details on Business Combinations.
Goodwill is not subject to amortization but tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Refer to accounting policy on 
business combination and goodwill in section p).

f) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical 
cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumu-
lated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost in-
cludes any expenditures that are directly attributa-
ble to the acquisition of the asset, including costs 
incurred to prepare the asset for its intended use.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over each asset’s expected useful 
life. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

HomeToGo applies the following useful lives when 
estimating depreciation of property and equipment:

ASSET TYPE ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Software and licenses 3 to 5 years

Trademarks 3 to 15 years

Customer relationship up to 10 years

Order backlog 1 year

Internally generated 
software

3 to 7 years

Goodwill indefinite

ASSET TYPE ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Leasehold improvements 2 to 15 years

Other equipment and 
office equipment

2 to 13 years
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the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar 
value to the right-of-use asset as the underlying 
lease agreement in a similar economic environment. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost at the date 
of commencement of the lease. The cost is com-
prised of the initial lease liability measurement and 
any lease payments made before the commence-
ment date, less any lease incentives received and 
estimated cost of dismantling and removing the un-
derlying asset incurred by the lessee.

Right-of-use assets are presented in the balance 
sheet as part of property, plant and equipment.

After the commencement date, HomeToGo meas-
ures right-of-use assets at cost less accumulated de-
preciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

For subsequent measurement, the carrying amount 
of the lease liability is increased to reflect the interest 
on the lease liability and reduced to reflect the lease 
payments made. The finance expenses associated 
with the lease term are recognized in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss and other comprehen-
sive income over the lease term.

No impairment losses have been identified on 
HomeToGo’s right-of-use assets in 2022 and 2021.

HomeToGo elected to apply an exemption for low 
value leases and short-term leases in accordance 
with IFRS 16. Low value leases are leases with con-
tract amounts below EUR 5 thousand. Short-term 
leases relate to lease agreements with a lease term 
of less than 12 months. Lease payments associated 
with low value leases and short-term leases are ex-
pensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Accordingly, no right-of-use assets or lease liabilities 
are recognized for low value and short-term leases.

h) Impairment of non-financial assets
HomeToGo assesses whether an asset may be im-
paired at each reporting date. If any indication of im-
pairment exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for such an asset is required, HomeToGo estimates 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recovera-
ble amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generat-
ing unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal or its 
value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not gen-

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
shorter of the underlying lease or the expected use-
ful life of the asset.

All repair and maintenance costs are expensed when 
incurred.

HomeToGo assesses property, plant and equipment 
for impairment whenever there is an indication of 
potential impairment.

g) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception. The arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease if fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the as-
set or assets, even if that right is not explicitly speci-
fied in an arrangement. HomeToGo assesses at the 
inception of the contract whether the contract is or 
contains a lease.

HomeToGo’s leases consist of real estate, car leas-
ing and distinct server leases. Lease terms are ne-
gotiated on an individual basis and may contain a 
range of different terms and conditions. Lease con-
tracts may be negotiated for fixed period or include 
extension options.

To determine the lease terms, all facts and circum-
stances which offer economic incentives to exercise 
extension options are included. If it is reasonably 
certain that a lease term will be extended, the relat-
ed extension option is included. The lease terms in-
clude fixed payments as well as variable payments 
that depend on an index or rate.

Management of HomeToGo reviews the contractual 
and current market conditions individually when de-
termining whether an extension option is reasonably 
certain to be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at the date of com-
mencement of the lease as the present value of the 
expected lease payments. To determine the present 
value, HomeToGo discounts the remaining lease 
payments with the incremental borrowing rate of 
the lessee. The incremental borrowing rate is the in-
terest rate that HomeToGo would have to pay to bor-
row over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
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profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables 
that do not contain a significant financing compo-
nent or for which HomeToGo has applied the practi-
cal expedient are measured at the transaction price. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and 
measured at amortized cost or fair value through 
OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the 
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is 
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an 
instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows 
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the busi-
ness model. 

HomeToGo’s business model for managing financial 
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model 
determines whether cash flows will result from col-
lecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial 
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and meas-
ured at amortized cost are held within a business 
model with the objective to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows while financial 
assets classified and measured at fair value through 
OCI are held within a business model with the objec-
tive of both holding to collect contractual cash flows 
and selling.

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

Financial assets at amortized cost  
(debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with 
recycling of cumulative gains and losses  
(debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through 
OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 
losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (equity instruments, money market funds)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST 
(DEBT INSTRUMENTS)
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognized, modified or impaired. 

erate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assess-
ments of the time value of money and the risks spe-
cific to the asset. HomeToGo does not use the fair 
value less costs of disposal method when assessing 
the recoverable amount of its non-financial assets.

HomeToGo bases its impairment calculation on de-
tailed budgets and forecasted cash flows. Impair-
ment losses are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in expense categories consistent with the 
function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is 
made at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is an indication that previously recognized im-
pairment losses no longer exist or has decreased. 

If such indication exists, HomeToGo estimates the 
asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount.

Financial instruments - Initial recognition and
subsequent events
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 
to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liabil-
ity or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as 
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair 
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recogni-
tion depends on the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics and HomeToGo’s business 
model for managing them. With the exception of 
trade receivables that do not contain a significant fi-
nancing component or for which the Group has ap-
plied the practical expedient, HomeToGo initially 
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
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In the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL), financial assets are measured 
at amortized cost and include trade and other re-
ceivables and other financial assets.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS (EQUITY INSTRUMENTS)
The group subsequently measures all equity invest-
ments at fair value. Changes in the fair value of finan-
cial assets at FVTPL, in particular to investments in 
money market funds, are recognized in profit or loss 
in the period in which it arises.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a finan-
cial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognized (i.e., removed from HomeToGo’s con-
solidated statement of financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired

or
HomeToGo has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 
HomeToGo has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) HomeToGo 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When HomeToGo has transferred its rights to re-
ceive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to 
what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor re-
tained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, HomeTo-
Go continues to recognize the transferred asset to 
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, 
HomeToGo also recognizes an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obli-
gations that HomeToGo has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the as-
set and the maximum amount of consideration that 
HomeToGo could be required to repay.

Impairment 
HomeToGo recognizes an allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held 
at fair value through profit or loss, if the exposure is 
material, presented under General and administrative 
expenses. For trade receivables, HomeToGo applies a 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, 
HomeToGo does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date if the exposure is materi-
al. HomeToGo has established a provision matrix that 
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjust-
ed for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors 
and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default 
when contractual payments are 365 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, HomeToGo may also con-
sider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that HomeToGo is 
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by HomeToGo. A financial asset 
is written off when there is no reasonable expecta-
tion of recovering the contractual cash flows.

HomeToGo holds trade receivables from contracts 
with partners as of December 31, 2022 of EUR 13.5 
million, as of December 31, 2021 of EUR 9.8 million. 
These have been impaired by EUR 1.7 million, 2021: 
EUR 0.8 million.

Financial liabilities
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
either as financial liabilities at fair value through prof-
it or loss or as financial liabilities at amortized cost. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair 
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
other payables, net of directly attributable transac-
tion costs.

HomeToGo’s financial liabilities include trade and 
other payables, as well as loans and borrowings in-
cluding bank overdrafts as well as financial liabilities 
from warrants.
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Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount is reported in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if there is a currently en-
forceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants as of the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which HomeToGo 
has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk.

HomeToGo measures the fair value of an instrument 
using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument, if such price is available. A market is re-
garded as ‘‘active’’ if transactions for the asset or lia-
bility take place with sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then 
HomeToGo uses valuation techniques that maximize 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valua-
tion technique incorporates all factors that market 
participants would take into account in pricing a 
transaction.

In determining the appropriate fair value measure-
ment for financial assets and liabilities, the Group 
involves an independent external valuation expert, 
who uses appropriate valuation techniques. 

Based on the input parameters used for measuring 
the fair values are assigned to one of the following 
levels of the fair value hierarchy for purposes of dis-
closure:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities,
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices inclu-
ded within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) 
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are 
not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs).

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
liabilities are classified in two categories:

Financial liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and finan-
cial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as 
at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if 
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in 
the near term.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are rec-
ognized in the statement of profit or loss. The Group 
has classified the Class A Warrants and Class B War-
rants as financial liabilities as at fair value through 
profit or loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST
This is the category in accounting for loans and bor-
rowings, except for Class A and Class B Warrants de-
scribed above. After initial recognition, interest-bear-
ing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as 
through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 
amortization is included as finance costs in the state-
ment of profit or loss. 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obliga-
tion under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is re-
placed by another from the same lender on substan-
tially different terms, or the terms of an existing lia-
bility are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
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i) Treasury Shares
Treasury shares of HomeToGo SE are recognized 
with their acquisition costs paid to repurchase its 
own shares. They result from the redemption pro-
cess as part of the de-SPAC transaction on Septem-
ber 21, 2021. The acquisition costs for the own shares 
are deducted from equity. All shares redeemed are 
Class A Shares. Management may use treasury 
shares to settle share-based payment obligations, 
service warrant exercises and as part of considera-
tion in case of business combinations. No gain or 
loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the own shares. 

j) Provisions
HomeToGo recognizes provisions when it has a pres-
ent obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resourc-
es embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
measured at the present value of management´s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the end of the reporting 
period. The increase in provision due to the passage 
of time and unwinding of the discount rate is recog-
nized as finance expenses.

k) Income taxes
Current income taxes
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or re-
ceivable based on the taxable income or loss for the 
period and the tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted as of the reporting date. Man-
agement periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establish-
es provisions where appropriate based on amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities. In case of 
uncertainties related to income taxes, they are ac-
counted for in accordance with IFRIC 23 and IAS 12 
based on the best estimate of those uncertainties.

HomeToGo establishes tax liabilities based on ex-
pected tax payments. Liabilities for trade taxes, cor-
porate taxes and similar taxes on income are deter-
mined based on the taxable income of the 
consolidated entities less any prepayments made. 
Calculation of tax liabilities is based on the recent tax 
rates applicable in the tax jurisdiction of HomeToGo.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized on temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corre-
sponding tax bases used in the computation of taxa-
ble income and are accounted for using the balance 
sheet-liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax as-
sets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable income will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill. Fur-
thermore, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabil-
ities are not recognized if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither taxable income, 
nor the accounting profit.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and oth-
er comprehensive income, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the current or deferred tax is also recognized 
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated us-
ing tax rates expected to be in place in the period of 
realization of the associated asset or liability, based 
on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period in the respective jurisdiction.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is re-
viewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable income will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

l) Earnings (Loss) per share
HomeToGo presents earnings (loss) per share data 
for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings (loss) per share 
is calculated by dividing the net income of the peri-
od attributable to the owners of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. HomeToGo only is-
sued ordinary shares according to IAS 33, all of which 
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od. Service and non-market performance conditions 
are not taken into account when determining the 
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of 
the conditions being met is assessed as part of 
HomeToGo’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market perfor-
mance conditions are reflected within the grant date 
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, 
but without an associated service requirement, are 
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vest-
ing conditions are reflected in the fair value of an 
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an 
award unless there are also service and/or perfor-
mance conditions. No expense is recognized for 
awards that do not ultimately vest because non-mar-
ket performance and/or service conditions have not 
been met. Where awards include a market or 
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated 
as vested irrespective of whether the market or 
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all 
other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied. When the terms of an equity-settled award 
are modified, the minimum expense recognized is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, 
provided the original vesting terms of the award are 
met. An additional expense, measured as at the date 
of modification, is recognized for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the 
entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element 
of the grant date fair value of the award is credited 
immediately through profit or loss.

The Group sometimes engages in share-based pay-
ment transactions to acquire goods or services from 
parties other than employees, e.g. as part of busi-
ness combinations. The goods or services received 
in exchange for shares should be measured at the 
fair value of those goods or services. It is presumed 
that the fair value of goods or services can be meas-
ured reliably in the case of transactions with parties 
other than employees. If this presumption is re-
butted, the fair value is measured indirectly by refer-
ence to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted as consideration. Employee services or uni-
dentifiable goods or services are measured indirect-
ly at the date on which the equity instruments are 
granted. The fair value is not subsequently re-meas-
ured after the grant date.

are outstanding, because all share classes are sub-
ject to the same dividend entitlement with regard to 
the earnings for the period. The potential ordinary 
shares were not taken into account, because the ef-
fect on loss per share would have been antidilutive. 
The weighted average number of shares is calculat-
ed from the number of shares in circulation at the 
beginning of the period adjusted by the number of 
shares issued during the period and multiplied by a 
time-weighting factor. The time-weighting factor re-
flects the ratio of the number of days on which 
shares were issued and the total number of days of 
the period.

m) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of HomeTo-
Go that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn Revenues and incur expenses and for 
which discrete financial information is available and 
used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(“CODM”) to make decisions around resource alloca-
tion and review operating results of HomeToGo. 
HomeToGo identified the CEO of the Company as 
the CODM and operates under only one operating 
segment and therefore the consolidated financial 
information represents the segment reporting.

n) Share-based compensation and other 
employee benefits
The Group granted remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby management and employ-
ees render services as consideration for equity instru-
ments of the Group (equity-settled transactions).

The measurement of equity-settled transactions is 
determined by the fair value at the date when the 
grant is made using an appropriate valuation model 
in accordance with IFRS 2. Costs are recognized 
within profit or loss together with a corresponding 
increase in equity (share-based payment reserves), 
over the period in which the service and, where ap-
plicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled 
(the vesting period). The cumulative expense recog-
nized for equity-settled transactions at each report-
ing date until the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the 
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity in-
struments that will ultimately vest. The expense or 
credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognized as at the beginning and end of that peri-
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Employee Benefits
The Group also has liabilities for long service leave and 
annual leave that are not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service. These obli-
gations are therefore measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period, using the projected unit credit meth-
od. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the re-
porting period of high-quality corporate bonds with 
terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in 
the balance sheet if the entity does not have an un-
conditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the reporting period, regardless of 
when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

Termination benefits are payable when employment 
is terminated by the group before the normal retire-
ment date, or when an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 
group recognizes termination benefits at the earlier 
of the following dates: (a) when the group can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) 
when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring 
that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the pay-
ment of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termi-
nation benefits are measured based on the number 
of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period are discounted to present value.

The Group has long-term incentive plans for two 
managing directors as a result of a business combi-
nation. The managing directors will be entitled to a 
payment of up to EUR 2.0 million each after fulfilling 
a service period of 30 months after acquisition and 
meeting related sales-based performance goals. 
The liability is presented under long-term financial 
liabilities and subjected to linear vesting over the 
service period. If one of the managing directors is 
leaving before the end of the service period the re-
spective claim is forfeited while the other managing 
directors claim is not.

o) Government grants
Government grants are recognized where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions will be complied with. 
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is rec-
ognized as income on a systematic basis over the 
periods that the related costs, for which it is intend-
ed to compensate, are expensed. The Group has 
chosen to present grants related to an expense item 
as other operating income in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

p) Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. The cost of an acquisition is meas-
ured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
which is measured at acquisition date fair value. Acqui-
sition-related costs are expensed as incurred and in-
cluded in General and administrative expenses.

The Group determines if a transaction is to be ac-
counted for as a business combination, using the 
concentration test and by determining that it has 
acquired a business when the acquired set of activi-
ties and assets include an input and a substantive 
process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs. The acquired process is 
considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to 
continue producing outputs, and the inputs ac-
quired include an organized workforce with the nec-
essary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform 
that process or it significantly contributes to the abil-
ity to continue producing outputs and is considered 
unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without sig-
nificant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue 
producing outputs. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified 
as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument 
and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
is measured at fair value with the changes in fair val-
ue recognized in the statement of profit or loss in 
accordance with IFRS 9.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the ex-
cess of the aggregate of the consideration trans-
ferred and any previous interest held over the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). 
If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess 
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From the standards listed above the only amend-
ments expected to have an impact on the reported 
assets and liabilities and net income of HomeToGo 
are the one listed below. 

The IAS 12 (A) will have an impact on the recognition 
of deferred tax liabilities and assets from rights of use 
assets and lease liabilities in the future. So far, the ex-
emption for the initial recognition of a deferred tax 
resulting from the recognition of a rights of use asset 
and lease liability according to IAS 12.15 has been 
availed, which will not be possible anymore.

The impact on the consolidated financial statements 
from the amendments to IAS 1 is not considered to 
be material.

of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group 
reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of 
the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed 
and reviews the procedures used to measure the 
amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If 
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair 
value of net assets acquired over the aggregate con-
sideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in 
profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to the group of CGUs. The allocation is 
made to those groups of CGUs that are expected to 
benefit from the business combination in which the 
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are iden-
tified at the lowest level at which goodwill is moni-
tored for internal management purposes, being the 
one operating segment. HomeToGo Group operates 
under one segment that comprises seven CGUs. Be-
sides the CGU HomeToGo that comprises the oper-
ating entities HomeToGo and Casamundo Manage-
ment identifies the acquired businesses Feries, 
Escapada Rural, Smoobu, AMIVAC, e-domizil and 
SECRA as separate CGUs for the purpose of testing 
assets, other than goodwill, for impairment. Good-
will is tested for impairment on the basis of the sev-
en combined CGUs as the synergies from the busi-
ness combinations are benefiting the business of 
the whole Group. The Group level is the lowest at 
which management captures information for inter-
nal management reporting purposes about the ben-
efits of goodwill.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be re-
versed in future periods.
 

5. new and revised standards

New and revised standards issued, but not yet effective
At the date of authorization of these financial state-
ments, HomeToGo has not early applied the follow-
ing new and revised IFRS standards that have been 
issued, but are not yet effective:

NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS – 
ENDORSEMENT COMPLETED

EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023

IFRS 17 (A) Insurance Contracts: 
Initial Application of IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9 – Comparative Information

January 1, 2023

IAS 12 (A) Income Taxes: Deferred 
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction

January 1, 2023

IAS 1 (A) Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2: Disclosure of 
Accounting policies

January 1, 2023

IAS 8 (A) Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors: Definition of Accounting 
Estimates

January 1, 2023

NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS – 
ENDORSEMENT OUTSTANDING

EFFECTIVE DATE

IAS 1 (A) Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (2020)

January 1, 2024

IAS 1 (A) Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants (2022)

January 1, 2024

IFRS 16 (A) Leases: Lease Liability 
in a Sale and Leaseback

January 1, 2024

(A) Amendment

(A) Amendment



6. Business Combinations 
and other acquisitions
AMIVAC
On August 29, 2021, HS Holiday Search GmbH en-
tered into a share transfer agreement for AMIVAC SAS 
(“AMIVAC”) whereby the sole shareholder had to sell 
all shares in AMIVAC if the French workers council 
agreed to the transaction. With the fulfillment of the 
condition, HS Holiday Search GmbH entered into a 
share purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the 
shares in AMIVAC for EUR 4.2 million with a holdback 
amount of EUR 1.0 million on October 27, 2021, with 
the agreed closing date being January 1, 2022.

As part of the agreement, the seller carved out all 
assets related to its vacation business unit and trans-
ferred those to AMIVAC until January 1, 2022. As a 
result, AMIVAC holds three complementary plat-
forms offering vacation rental listings and an IT plat-
form. In addition, the seller provided operational 
support through a service agreement to run AMI-
VAC’s vacation rental business as usual during 2022.
 
Given that HomeToGo had no controlling rights as of 
December 31, 2021, the first-time consolidation of 
AMIVAC only took place on January 1, 2022. Apart 
from the holdback amount of EUR 1.0 million, which 
was shown within other financial liabilities, EUR 3.2 
million were fully paid as of December 31, 2021.

The final allocation of the consideration to assets and 
liabilities assumed as of January 1, 2022, as part of the 
business combination is shown in the following table:

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) FAIR VALUE

Cash 150

Intangible assets: trademarks 570

Intangible assets: customer relationships 1,391

Intangible assets: software 117

Contract liabilities (1,132)

Net deferred tax liability (155)

Net identifiable assets acquired 941

Add: goodwill 3,209

Net assets acquired 4,150

A total deferred tax liability of EUR 155 thousand was 
recognized based on the local tax rate of 25%.

The goodwill recognized as part of the business 
combination relates to synergy effects with Home-
ToGo’s marketplace and AMIVAC’s market position 
within the subscription business. It will not be de-
ductible for tax purposes. The goodwill is allocated 
to the CGU HomeToGo due to the expected synergy 
effects with the HomeToGo platform through the 
access to additional inventory and further traffic.

Acquisition related costs of EUR 52 thousand are in-
cluded in General and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive  income.

The acquired business contributed Revenues of 
EUR 2.3 million and a net loss of EUR 0.5 thousand to 
HomeToGo during the financial year 2022.

The composition of the cash consideration, includ-
ing partial payments of the holdback, and the im-
pact on the consolidated statements of cash flows 
during the reporting period can be derived from the 
following table:

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) FAIR VALUE

Cash paid 702

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 150

Net cash paid for AMIVAC 552

EUR 298 thousand of the total consideration are still 
held back as of December 31, 2022.

e-domizil
With signing on March 31, 2022, HomeToGo GmbH 
and e-vacation Group Holding GmbH (the former 
shareholder) entered into a sale and purchase agree-
ment (‘SPA’) for 100% of the shares in e-domizil GmbH 
located in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, for a total pre-
liminary consideration of EUR 44.7 million. The total 
preliminary consideration is composed of a prelimi-
nary cash portion in the amount of EUR 42.8 million 
including a working capital adjustment in the amount 
of EUR 0.4 million and shares of HomeToGo SE equiv-
alent to the amount of EUR 1.9 million based on the 
agreed share price at closing date. EUR 4.0 million of 
the preliminary cash consideration was paid to an es-
crow account and will be transferred to the former 
shareholder in November 2023.
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e-domizil has two subsidiaries that were included in 
the acquisition: e-domizil AG (located in Zurich, Swit-
zerland) and Atraveo GmbH (located in Düsseldorf, 
Germany).

e-domizil is a marketplace in the industry for alternative 
accommodations and is focused on the homeowner 
as a customer. e-domizil simplifies the rental process 
including the collection process for the homeowner 
and offers interfaces to third-party systems as well as 
e-domizil’s own websites. For its services, the subgroup 
is entitled to commission depending on the rental 
price. e-domizil was acquired to strengthen the Group’s 
position in the alternative accommodation industry, 
further increasing its inventory reach.

The closing accounts and thus the purchase price 
determination have not been finalized as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022 due to unforeseen delays in support 
from seller side. Therefore, the purchase price allo-
cation is subject to changes that might affect the 
acquired goodwill. The preliminary allocation of the 
consideration to assets and liabilities assumed as of 
April 1, 2022, as part of the business combination is 
shown in the following table:

A total deferred tax liability of EUR 9.0 million was 
recognized, based on the local tax rate of 30.2%. 
There were no tax losses carried forward to be con-
sidered as deferred tax asset.

The goodwill recognized as part of the business 
combination relates to synergy effects with Home-
ToGo’s marketplace and e-domizil’s market position 
within the vacation rental business. It will not be de-
ductible for tax purposes. The goodwill is allocated 
to the CGU HomeToGo due to the expected synergy 
effects with the HomeToGo platform through the 
access to additional inventory and further traffic.

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is EUR 397 
thousand and equals the gross contractual amount 
for trade receivables less loss allowances.

Acquisition-related costs of EUR 588 thousand are in-
cluded in General and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive  income.

The acquired business contributed Revenues of 
EUR 25.2 million and a net income of EUR 4.0 million 
to HomeToGo for the period from April 1, 2022, to 
December 31, 2022. The Revenues vary during the 
financial year due to the seasonality of the business, 
with a peak during the summer. If the acquisition 
had occurred on January 1, 2022, consolidated 
pro-forma Revenues and net loss for the combined 
entity (Group + e-domizil) for the financial year 2022 
would have been EUR 149.5 million and EUR (56.3) 
million respectively. These amounts have been cal-
culated using the subsidiaries’ results and adjusting 
them for

differences in the accounting policies between 
the group and the subsidiaries,
and the additional depreciation and amortiza-
tion that would have been charged assuming 
the fair value adjustments to intangible assets 
had applied from January 1, 2022, together with 
the consequential tax effects.

The composition of the cash consideration and the 
impact on the statements of cash flows during the 

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) FAIR VALUE

Cash 13,311

Intangible assets: trademarks 4,873

Intangible assets: customer relationships 16,765

Intangible assets: software 2,149

Intangible assets: order backlog 6,345

Trade receivables 397

Property plant and equipment 349

Other assets 4,537

Trade payables (2,427)

Traveler advance payments (7,878)

Contract liabilities (9,251)

Other financial liabilities (529)

Other liabilities (3,295)

Provisions (103)

Income tax liabilities (1,075)

Net deferred tax liability (9,028)

Net identifiable assets acquired 15,140

Add: goodwill 29,537

Net assets acquired 44,677
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tion. The resulting liability is measured at fair value 
(Level 3) through profit and loss. Management ex-
pects the earn-out thresholds to be reached in full in 
both years. For derivation of the fair value an interest 
rate of 3.3% has been used. The earn-out is consid-
ered as part of the consideration transferred increas-
ing the Goodwill by the fair value assumed as of ac-
quisition date of EUR 2.6 million. From the purchase 
price, an amount of EUR 4.0 million was transferred 
to an escrow account and will be payable after De-
cember 31, 2024, only if both former shareholders 
who continue to work for HTG as managing direc-
tors do not forfeit their entitlement as a result of  
specified leaver clauses before that date. In case one 
of the two managing directors is leaving prior to the 
end of the respective service period the respective 
claim of up to EUR 2.0 million per managing director 
expires. The agreement includes a service compo-
nent and is accounted for as a separate transaction 
in accordance with IAS 19. The claims for these es-
crow amounts are recognized in General and admin-
istrative expenses over the vesting period until De-
cember 31, 2024 using linear vesting.

The object of business of each of the legal entities is 
the planning, development, provision, and operation 
of websites including its own listing/online booking 
portal Ostsee-Ferienwohnungen.de as well as the 
planning, development, provision, and operation of 
software solutions for the management of vacation 
rentals and their marketing via channel manage-
ment technology. For their services, both the SECRA 
Bookings GmbH and the SECRA GmbH are entitled 
to either a subscription fee or a service fee for book-
ing services, depending on the rental price. Thus, 
Revenues from SECRA are shown under Revenues 
from Subscriptions & Services. SECRA GmbH and 
SECRA Bookings were acquired to further strength-
en the Group’s position in the SaaS and Services sec-
tor of the alternative accommodation industry and 
increasing its inventory reach for the HomeToGo 
marketplace. 

reporting period can be derived from the following 
table:

SECRA
After the purchase of a 19% stake in SECRA GmbH 
(“SECRA GmbH”) and SECRA Bookings GmbH (“SE-
CRA Bookings”) both located in Sierksdorf, Germany 
on August 23, 2021 HomeToGo acquired the remain-
ing 81% of the shares of both entities from SECRA 
Holding GmbH that is owned by the managing di-
rectors of both acquired legal entities on May 31, 
2022 leading to a business combination that was 
achieved in stages.

The transaction is accounted for as a step acquisi-
tion. Before the business combination both SECRA 
investments were accounted for under IFRS 9 as in-
vestments at fair value through profit and loss. The 
fair value of the SECRA investments immediately 
before the business combination accounted for EUR 
3.4 million in total leading to a loss of EUR (0.2) mil-
lion from the fair value revaluation incurred for the 
period January 1 until May 31, 2022 that is presented 
under finance expenses.

Besides the fair value of EUR 3.4 million of the invest-
ments already held, the consideration totaling EUR 
14.6 million comprises of a cash portion in the 
amount of EUR 10.0 million, shares of HomeToGo SE 
equivalent to the amount of EUR 2.0 million and an 
earn-out liability of 2.6 million. In the event that cer-
tain pre-determined revenue targets are achieved by 
the subsidiaries for the years ending December 31, 
2022 and December 31, 2023, an additional contin-
gent consideration of up to EUR 2.7 million may be 
payable in cash up to three months after the end of 
each relevant financial year, i.e. 2022 and 2023. 
HomeToGo recognized a financial liability in the 
amount of EUR 2.6 million as of the acquisition date. 
The expectation compared to the preliminary PPA is 
higher due to better information on the business 
plan that was not available for the preliminary PPA 
leading to an adjusting effect to the date of acquisi-
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(IN EUR THOUSANDS)

Cash paid 42,584

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 13,311

Net cash paid for e-domizil 29,273



net loss for the combined entity (Group + SECRA) for 
the financial year 2022 would have been EUR 148.9 
million and EUR (53.8) million respectively. These 
amounts have been calculated using the subsidiar-
ies results and adjusting them for

differences in the accounting policies between 
the group and the subsidiary, and
the additional depreciation and amortization 
that would have been charged assuming the fair 
value adjustments to intangible assets had 
applied from January 1, 2022, together with the 
consequential tax effects.

The composition of the consideration and the im-
pact on the statements of cash flows during the re-
porting period can be derived from the following 
table:

(IN EUR THOUSANDS)

Cash paid 10,040

Cash acquired 2,048

Net cash paid for SECRA 7,992

The goodwill recognized as part of the business 
combination relates to synergy effects with Home-
ToGo’s marketplace and the SECRA’s market position 
within the SaaS and Services sector. It will not be 
deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill is allocat-
ed to the CGU HomeToGo due to the expected syn-
ergy effects with the HomeToGo platform through 
the access to additional inventory and further traffic.

Acquisition-related costs of EUR 115 thousand are in-
cluded in General and administrative expenses in 
the consolidated statement of or loss and other 
comprehensive loss.

The acquired business contributed Revenues of EUR 
8.9 million and a net loss of EUR 1.2 million to HomeTo-
Go for the period from June 1, 2022, to Decem-
ber 31, 2022. If the acquisition had occurred on Janu-
ary 1, 2022, consolidated pro-forma Revenues and 

7. Critical accounting 
 judgments, key estimates 
and assumptions
The preparation of HomeToGo’s consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with IFRS requires Man-
agement to make judgments, estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompany-
ing notes disclosures and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that require a ma-
terial adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future  periods.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are subject 
to continuous review.

Below is a summary of the critical measurement and 
accounting judgements, including disclosure of the 
key assumptions used by Management in applying 
accounting policies based on future developments, 
and which could have significant effects on carrying 

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) FAIR VALUE

Cash 2,048

Intangible assets: trademarks 2,861

Intangible assets: customer relationships 4,557

Intangible assets: software 1,580

Property plant and equipment 147

Trade receivables 1,027

Income Tax Receivables 80

Other assets 553

Trade payables (89)

Other financial liabilities (141)

Other liabilities (1,437)

Income tax liabilities (218)

Deferred tax liability (2,857)

Net identifiable assets acquired 8,110

Less: previously held investment of 19% (3,430)

Add: goodwill 9,945

Consideration transferred for 81% of 
SECRA acquired on May 31, 2022

14,625

Thereof: contingent consideration 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss

2,626

The allocation of the consideration to assets and 
 liabilities assumed as of May 31, 2022, as part of the 
business combination is shown in the following  table. 
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amounts stated in the consolidated financial state-
ments, or for which there is a risk that significant 
adjustments may need to be made to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in subsequent years.

a) Critical accounting judgements
Classification of Class A and B Warrants
As of September 21, 2021 HomeToGo consummated 
the de-SPAC transaction. As part of this de-SPAC 
transaction HomeToGo took over public and non -
public warrants, which had been issued by Lakestar 
SPAC prior to the Transaction and accounted for the 
assumption of the warrants initially as an equity-set-
tled share-based payment arrangement under IFRS 
2, rather than as financial liabilities under IFRS 9. As a 
result of the IFRS IC agenda decision on Special Pur-
pose Acquisition Companies (SPAC): Accounting for 
Warrants at Acquisition issued on October 24, 2022), 
the Group reassessed its accounting for the war-
rants acquired through the business combination 
with Lakestar SPAC and recorded such warrants as a 
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 
For further details regarding the change in account-
ing policy refer to Note 35 - Change in accounting 
policy - Classification of warrants. Prior year financial 
statements including all related notes have been ad-
justed for that change.

Internally generated intangible assets
For individual software modules, Management 
sometimes applies judgement to determine the 
point in time where research can be separated from 
development activities. In connection with manage-
ment judgement about the future economic benefit 
of software modules, the Group uses assumptions 
regarding the future performance of the software 
modules concerned and their implications on the 
Group’s business activities to distinguish between 
substantial enhancements and maintenance/bug 
fixing. While development expenses for substantial 
enhancements are capitalized, efforts for mainte-
nance/bug fixing are operating expenses. 

In 2022 HomeToGo capitalized EUR 3.8 million 
(2021: 1.5 million) as internally generated software.

Government Grants
In 2020, HomeToGo received governments grants 
recognized as income for investment in new em-
ployments. The granting of subsidies is subject to 

the condition that investments are made in perma-
nent jobs and that the payroll exceeds a certain 
amount in the grant period from August 19, 2019 to 
February 18, 2023. The management of HomeToGo 
assumed that the conditions of reaching a certain 
level of personnel-related expenses are and will be 
met with reasonable assurance. Therefore, HomeTo-
Go initially recognized the full receivable amounting 
to EUR 1.9 million under the grant in 2020 from which 
EUR 0.5 million have already been received in 2021 and 
further EUR 0.5 million were received in January 2023.

As of December 31, 2022 management of HomeTo-
Go has re-estimated the maximum amounts for the 
payroll and investments that could be reached until 
the end of the grant period and determined that the 
maximum amount that could be received under the 
grant agreement will amount to EUR 1.3 million. Thus, 
the receivable for the outstanding grant had to be 
reduced to EUR 0.9 million as of December 31, 2022. 
Until December 31, 2022 EUR 1.2 million were ac-
crued as other income out of which EUR 0.1 million 
relate to the fiscal year 2022.

b) Key estimates and assumptions
Incremental borrowing rate
The incremental borrowing rate for lease accounting 
is determined based on interest rates from various 
external financial data adjusted to reflect the terms 
of the lease and the nature of the leased asset. For 
additional information with respect to extension op-
tions refer to Note 4.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks
At least annually, or when circumstances indicate a 
potential impairment event may have occurred, 
HomeToGo assesses whether goodwill and trade-
marks acquired in business combinations are im-
paired. The CGUs which resulted from the business 
combinations were tested for impairment as part of 
the annual goodwill impairment test. Key assump-
tions used in HomeToGo’s impairment assessments 
of these assets include forecasted cash flows of the 
business, estimated discount rate, and future growth 
rates. Management uses internal and external data 
to develop these key assumptions. This includes 
consideration of any impact of the Covid-19 pan-
demic, inflationary pressure including rising interest 
rates with negative impact on consumers discre-
tionary  income, fears in regard to a broader war in 
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Europe and of any impact of the ongoing discussion 
about climate change. Refer to Note 19 - Intangible 
assets and goodwill. 

Litigation
HomeToGo Group has set up provisions for litiga-
tions that could not be settled by the date the con-
solidated financial statements of HomeToGo were 
authorized for issue. The provisions are measured 
with the best estimate of the amount to be paid. 
Due to the inherent uncertainty of a litigation the 
possible financial risk might even be higher than the 
estimated amount. Refer to Note 26 – Provisions 
(current and non-current).

Fair value determination for share-based payment 
arrangements and derivative financial liabilities
Share-based payment arrangements
The Group operates equity-settled share-based 
compensation plans, pursuant to which certain par-
ticipants are granted virtual shares or stock options 
of the Company. Prior to the de-SPAC transaction, 
due to the lack of quoted market prices prior, the 
Group determined the grant date fair value for the 
measurement of the equity-settled transactions at 
the grant date with the assistance of an external ap-
praiser, considering certain assumptions relating to 
the volatility of stock price, the determination of an 
appropriate risk-free interest rate and expected divi-
dends. The share price input is based on the compa-
ny’s valuation. See Note 30 – Share-based payments 
for details on the plan.

In past settlements the beneficiaries’ claim was set-
tled partially in equity and cash to fulfill the tax with-
holding obligations of the Company and transfer the 
tax payable to the tax authority. In the process an 
excess amount between the general tax rate applied 
and the actual personal tax rate was transferred di-
rectly to the beneficiary. For future settlements the 
expected amounts in excess of the employee’s tax 
obligation associated with the share-based payment 
are accounted for as a cash-settled share-based pay-
ment plan. The resulting liability is remeasured at 
each reporting date.

8. segment and geographic 
information
In line with the management approach, the operat-
ing segment was identified on the basis of HomeTo-
Go’s internal reporting and how the CODM assesses 
the performance of the business. On this basis, 
HomeToGo identifies as a single operating and 
therefore the consolidated financial information rep-
resents the segment reporting.

In the reporting period two single customers ac-
counted for more than 10% of HomeToGo’s  Revenues:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Customer 1 28,053 19,114

Customer 2 25,838 30,534

53,891 49,648

Revenues from customers can be attributed to the 
entity’s country of domicile in the amount of EUR 78.0 
million, 2021: EUR 30.9 million, the United States of 
America in an amount of EUR 19.2 million, 2021: 
EUR 25.7 million and to the rest of world in total 
EUR 49.6 million, 2021: EUR 38.2 million. Due to the 
reverse acquisition of HomeToGo SE (formerly Lake-
star SPAC) by HomeToGo GmbH in 2021, Germany is 
still treated as the entity’s country of domicile, be-
cause the Group’s main operations sit here.

Non-current assets located in the entity's country of 
domicile amounting to EUR 119.3 million (2021: 
EUR 50.5 million) and in all foreign countries amount-
ing to EUR 39.9 million (2021: EUR 34.6 million).
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9. Revenues
HomeToGo recognizes its Revenues as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Revenues recognized 
at a point in time

CPA 92,593 65,650

thereof

CPA Onsite 66,877 31,523

CPA Offsite 25,716 34,127

CPC and CPL 30,587 20,401

Revenues recognized 
over time

Subscriptions & Services 23,660 8,788

146,839 94,839

all performance obligations are originally expected 
to be satisfied within one year or less, as allowed by 
IFRS 15.121. 

10. Cost of Revenues

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Depreciation and 
amortization

6,975 866

Hosting and domains 4,363 3,003

Other 863 467

12,202 4,336

CPA Onsite reflect Revenues from bookings made 
directly on HomeToGo platforms while CPA Offsite 
Revenues are generated on Partner’s platforms.

For CPA and CPC Revenues, typically the payment 
occurs shortly after the performance obligation is 
satisfied. However, for certain agreements, custom-
ers pay in advance leading to a certain amount of 
fees which are presented under contract liabilities. 
Subscription & Services Revenues are generally col-
lected before the performance obligation is satisfied 
over time leading to a high balance of contract liabil-
ities, which is subsequently released over the perfor-
mance period.

The 2022 increase in Revenues is explained by the 
expansion of the Group’s business activities, a fur-
ther increase in travel activity as well as additional 
Revenues from acquisitions.

Revenues recognized in the financial years 2022 and 
2021 from contract liabilities were EUR 3.9 million and 
EUR 2.9 million respectively. All amounts recognized 
from contract liabilities are recognized as Revenues 
within the subsequent year. Refer to Note 28 - Other 
liabilities (current and non-current) for further infor-
mation on contract liabilities. No information is pro-
vided about remaining performance obligations as 
of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 since 

Hosting and domains comprise the expenses for 
server hosting services and the expenses for domain 
subscriptions. Depreciation and amortization also 
contains the amortization of the internally generated 
intangible assets.

Overall increase in Cost of Revenues compared to 
the prior year is mainly due to the amortization of 
order backlog acquired with e-domizil and increased 
expenses for hosting and domains due to a higher 
amount of traffic on the Group’s platforms.

11. Product development and 
operations

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Personnel-related 
expenses

15,854 9,435

Share-based 
 compensation

4,951 8,260

Software expenses 4,651 4,223

Licence expenses 2,024 878

Depreciation and 
amortization

526 785

Other 671 145

28,678 23,726
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Personnel-related expenses for product develop-
ment and operations comprise expenses for the 
workforce for development and maintenance of the 
platform and system infrastructure as well as cus-
tomer service. Depreciation and amortization relate 
to the respective assets attributed to this workforce.

Other includes overhead costs directly attributable to 
the product development and operations  function.

12. marketing and sales 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Performance marketing 108,404 81,173

Personnel-related 
expenses

10,080 5,289

Depreciation and 
amortization

4,902 2,559

Share-based 
 compensation

1,671 5,700

Other 1,227 774

126,284 95,495

13. General and 
 administrative

The increase in personnel-related expenses is in line 
with the growth of the Group’s number of employ-
ees, see Note 18 – Personnel expenses for further 
details. 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Share-based 
 compensation

19,030 88,038

  thereof: Non-cash 
listing service expense 
(de-SPAC Charge)

– 70,437

Personnel-related 
expenses

12,935 6,803

Consulting expenses 7,346 13,079

Expenses for third-party 
services

3,131 1,829

Expected credit loss and 
write-offs

1,499 776

License expenses 753 553

Depreciation and 
amortization

571 480

Other 2,586 1,193

47,851 112,751

Performance marketing relates to paid marketing ser-
vices, search engine marketing (“SEM”), content mar-
keting and other forms of inbound marketing as well 
as on- and off-site search engine optimization. Perfor-
mance marketing activities are scaled to bringing de-
mand to the Group’s booking platforms and convert-
ing website visitors to users who make bookings. The 
increase in 2022 performance marketing expenses 
results from the Group’s increased customer acquisi-
tion and retention investments. Personnel-related ex-
penses increased due to  acquisitions.

The increase in expenses for third-party services is 
related to the Group’s increased expenses as a pub-
lic company. 

Other have mainly increased due to a donation of 
EUR 0.5 million.

In 2021 expenses for share-based compensation 
contained a non-cash expense for the listing service 
of EUR 70.4 million incurred as part of the account-
ing for the de-SPAC transaction.

Consulting expenses are significantly down com-
pared to the prior year due to the Group’s increased 
expenses incurred in the prior year as part of the 
Transaction. 
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14. other income and 
 expenses
Other income includes foreign exchange gains of 
EUR 1.6 million (2021: EUR 1.6 million) and govern-
ment grant related income in 2022 of EUR 0.3 million 
(2021: EUR 9.3 million). Furthermore, other income 
includes income from the release of a provision in 
the amount of EUR 0.8 million in 2022 due to the 
successful conclusion of a legal dispute in favor of 
the Group in the current year.

There are future conditions or other contingencies 
attached to the expense related grants. HomeToGo 
did not benefit directly from any other forms of gov-
ernment assistance in 2022. Income from govern-
ment grants in 2022 is significantly lower than in 2021 
due to Covid-19 state aid granted in the prior year.

Other expenses include foreign exchange losses of 
EUR 0.5 million (2021: EUR 0.6 million).

15. Financial result, net

Income from remeasurement to fair value in the 
amount of EUR 8.8 million in 2022 (2021: expenses of 
EUR 12.4 million) relates to the remeasurement of 
warrants, see Note 35 - Change in accounting poli-
cy – Classification of warrants for further details. Ex-
penses from remeasurement to fair value include 
the revaluation of a money market fund in the 
amount of EUR 0.5 million (2021: EUR 0.0 million) and 
in the amount of EUR 0.8 million (2021: income from 
remeasurement to fair value in the amount of 
EUR 0.4 million) relate to the revaluation of the 19% 
investment stake in SECRA held immediately before 
the acquisition of the remaining shares on May 31, 
2022, see Note 6 - Business Combinations and other 
acquisitions for further details. In 2021, expenses 
from remeasurement to fair value also relate to the 
remeasurement of embedded derivatives resulting 
from convertible loans that were fully converted into 
shares of the Company in the prior year.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021
(ADJUSTED)

Finance income

Interest income 5 1

Other 4 18

Income from remeas-
urement to fair value

8,813 12,415

Finance expenses

Interest expenses 521 3,644

Expenses from 
remeasurement to fair 
value

757 54,512

Interest expenses on 
leases

517 517

Other 98 130

Financial result, net 6,928 (46,369)
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16. income taxes
The HomeToGo SE is subject to taxation under the 
laws of Luxembourg. In 2022, the overall tax rate is 
24.94% (2021: 24.94%), consisting of corporate tax 
rate of 17%, a 7% solidary surcharge on the corporate 
tax rate and a municipal business tax rate of 6.75%.  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Current tax (2,567) (207)

Deferred tax 7,806 5

Income tax 5,239 (202)

Current taxes in 2022 comprise an amount of 
EUR 0.2 million related to prior year income taxes 
(2021: nil).

The following table shows the reconciliation between 
the expected and the reported income tax expense:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021* 
(ADJUSTED)

Loss before tax (58,738) (176,823)

Tax at the expected 
group tax rate (24.94%, 
2021: 24.94%)

14,649 44,100

Tax effects of:

Deviations from 
group tax rate (24.94%, 
2021: 24.94%)

4,198 7,957

Tax effect due to 
changes of tax rate

326 –

Taxes relating to other 
periods

(240) –

Share-based compensa-
tion programs

(6,657) 17,498

Listing service fee 
de-SPAC transaction

– (21,083)

Permanent differences (321) (3)

Non-deductible 
expenses

(63) (366)

Non-recognition of DTA 
on current year tax losses

(8,560) (38,887)

Non-recognition of DTA 
on temporary differences

2,056 (9,378)

IRE Leasing and 
dismantling obligation

(28) (125)

Other tax effects (122) 86

Total income tax expense 5,239 (202)

Effective total income 
tax rate (%)

(8.92)% 0.12%
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18. Personnel expenses
The average number of employees is presented below:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(NUMBER OF 
 EMPLOYEES)

2022 2021

female 256 161

male 325 211

Total 581 372

Employee benefits expense are composed of the 
items as shown in the following table:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Wages and salaries 23,220 14,258

Social security expenses 7,015 4,964

thereof: Retirement 
benefit costs

38 6

17. earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings per share:

For details on the composition of equity refer to note 
24 - Shareholder’s equity.

For the calculation of diluted earnings per share, the 
share-based payment programs were considered. In 
accordance with IAS 33.58, settlement in ordinary 
shares was assumed for contracts where the Company 
has the option to settle in cash or in ordinary shares. 
These potential ordinary shares were not taken into ac-
count, because the effect on loss per share would have 
been antidilutive. As a result, basic earnings per share 
corresponds to diluted earnings per share.

Number of potential ordinary shares:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2022 2021*
(ADJUSTED)

Net income (loss) for the 
period (in EUR thou-
sands)

(53,499) (177,042)

Weighted average 
number of ordinary 
shares issued

113,367,886 79,619,166

Total basic and diluted 
earnings per share 
attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders 
of the Company (in EUR)

(0.47) (2.22)

AS OF DECEMBER 31

2022 2021

Share-based payment 
programs

11,130 33,868

11,130 33,868
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19. intangible assets and goodwill

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) GOODWILL

TRADE-
MARKS 

AND 
DOMAINS

SOFTWARE 
AND 

LICENSES

INTER NALLY 
GENER ATED 
SOFTWARE

CUSTOMER 
RELATION- 

SHIPS
ORDER 

BACKLOG
INTAN GIBLE 

ASSETS

Cost

As of January 1, 2021 25,654 7,033 548 4,300 10,105 1,249 48,890

Additions – – 1 – – – 1

Additions from 
business combinations

14,664 1,849 2,475 – 2,328 – 21,317

Additions from internal 
development

– – – 1,545 – – 1,545

As of December 31, 2021 40,318 8,882 3,024 5,845 12,433 1,249 71,752

Accumulated amortization and impairment

As of January 1, 2021 – 1,675 109 2,306 1,980 1,249 7,319

Amortization charge of 
the year

– 828 193 867 1,184 – 3,072

As of December 31, 2021 – 2,503 302 3,173 3,164 1,249 10,391

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2021 26 5 439 2 8 – 42

As of December 31, 2021 40,318 6,379 2,722 2,672 9,270 – 61,361

Cost

As of January 1, 2022 40,318 8,882 3,024 5,845 12,433 1,249 71,752

Additions – 1 187 – – – 188

Additions from internal 
development

– – 3,828 – – 3,828

Additions from 
business combinations

43,381 8,423 3,731 – 22,728 6,345 84,607

Disposals – (184) (27) – – – (211)

Reclassifications – (361) (414) 571 (163) – (367)

As of December 31, 2022 83,699 16,761 6,502 10,244 34,998 7,594 159,798

Accumulated amortization and impairment

As of January 1, 2022 – 2,503 302 3,173 3,164 1,249 10,391

Amortization charge of 
the year

– 1,321 1,111 1,139 3,040 4,759 11,370

Disposals – – (1) – – – (1)

Reclassifications – (545) 559 (218) (163) – (367)

As of December 31, 2022 – 3,279 1,971 4,095 6,040 6,008 21,393

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2022 40,318 6,379 2,722 2,672 9,270 – 61,361

As of December 31, 2022 83,699 13,482 4,530 6,150 28,958 1,586 138,405
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Amortization in relation to trademarks and domains 
and customer relationships are presented within 
marketing sales expenses, while order backlog and 

internally generated software amortization is pre-
sented within cost of revenues.
Material intangible assets comprise of the following:

The intangible assets were identified as part of the 
business combination in the corresponding period. 
Refer to Note 6 - Business Combinations and other 
acquisitions for further information.

Goodwill impairment test
The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is de-
termined based on the value in use. The key as-
sumptions for determining the value in use are those 
regarding the cash flows, discount rates and growth 
rates. The values assigned to the key assumptions 
represent management’s assessment of future 
trends in the relevant industry and have been based 
on historical data from both external and internal 
sources. 

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021
REMAINING USEFUL LIFE  

AS OF DEC 31, 2022

Trademarks 13,481 6,564

e-domizil GmbH 3,783 – 9 years

SECRA Bookings 
GmbH

2,694 – 9 years

Casamundo GmbH 2,135 2,492 6 years

Smoobu GmbH 1,510 1,695 8 years

Feries Srl 1,076 1,265 6 years

Customer 
 relationships

28,958 9,270

e-domizil GmbH 15,507 – 9 years

SECRA Bookings 
GmbH

4,291 – 9 years

Escapada Rural S.L. 2,725 3,115 7 years

Feries Srl 2,196 2,584 6 years

Smoobu 1,901 2,134 8 years

The future cash flows were estimated with the un-
derlying assumption that the Covid-19 pandemic 
opened up an increased market potential for vaca-
tion rentals as more traveler used vacation rental for 
the first time to avoid hotel accommodations. These 
travelers saw the benefits of vacation rentals and 
thus, there is the assumption for a sustainable posi-
tive trend in the upcoming years. In addition, the 
pandemic has provided an additional market poten-
tial for remote working while traveling, or “worka-
tion”. Travelers are enabled by their employers to 
extend their holidays and to work for example a 
week ahead of the actual holidays or a week after at 
the destination of their travel. Thus, travelers are 
staying in a holiday area for three weeks instead of 
two weeks. Further, the Management Board sees 
travelers becoming longer term rental customers, 
for example staying over the winter abroad instead 
of for example in Germany. Before the pandemic this 
was not an option for the majority of employees. 
These effects, combined with the Group’s ambitious 
measures to grow the business as an OTA, are driv-
ing a more optimistic business plan post COVID-19 
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and therefore higher Revenues and EBITDA. Moreo-
ver, the increasing awareness in respect of the eco-
logical impact of air travel contributes to the general 
trend to prefer domestic or nearby vacation destina-
tions. With its innovative platforms and an increasing 
number of users and website visitors, the Manage-
ment Board believes that HomeToGo is well placed 
with its offerings to meet that expected change in 
travelling behavior and therefore expects that it will 
be able to achieve its growth ambition. On that ba-
sis, the Group expects significant double-digit 
growth over the next years. Hence, significant pro-
gress is already expected for 2023. The cash flow 
projections are based on a detailed business plan for 
5 years. Due to the high growth stage of HomeToGo, 
the business plan was prolonged by four further 
planning years (based on yearly assumptions regard-
ing the net sales and margin development) to reflect 
a step-by-step declining growth of the Group until 
the terminal value.

Management estimates discount rates as a pre-tax 
measure derived from the historical industry aver-
age weighted-average cost of capital. The WACC 
takes into account cost of equity and cost of debt, 
weighted according to the portion of debt and equi-
ty in the Group’s target capital structure. The cost of 
equity and cost of debt are derived from the expect-
ed return an investor would require for an equity in-
vestment or debt investment with similar risk. Seg-
ment-specific risks of the travel market are 
incorporated by applying a beta factor. The beta 
factor is evaluated annually based on publicly availa-
ble market data of comparable companies. Adjust-
ments to the discount rate are made to reflect a pre-
tax discount rate. The additional basis was a market 
risk premium and the risk-free interest rate.

The growth rates are based on industry growth fore-
casts. For 2022, Management has considered the 
lower end of commonly applied growth rates to be 
appropriate as the planned growth for the coming 
years is expected to exceed industry growth but will 
level out the long-term.

FINANCIAL YEAR

2022 2021

Discount rate (pre-tax) 18.4% 14.9%

Growth rate 1.0% 2.0%

During the periods presented, no impairment was 
recognized. No change in a key assumption consid-
ered possible by management would cause the car-
rying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. 
Even if the free cash flows decreased by 50 % or the 
terminal growth rate was 0%, this would not result in 
any impairment.
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20. Property, plant and equipment

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) RIGHT-OF-USE 
REAL ESTATE

RIGHT-OF-USE 
ASSET CAR 

LEASING

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

OTHER EQUIP-
MENT, FACTORY 

AND OFFICE 

TOTAL PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

Cost

As of January 1, 2021 16,512 18 2,104 649 19,284

Additions 19 – 54 324 396

Additions from business 
 combinations

– 27 – 10 37

Disposals (32) – – (23) (55)

As of December 31, 2021 16,499 45 2,158 960 19,662

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

As of January 1, 2021 2,221 18 232 399 2,870

Depreciation charge of 
the year

1,304 6 138 170 1,618

Disposals – – – (22) (22)

As of December 31, 2021 3,525 24 370 547 4,466

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2021 14,291 – 1,872 250 16,413

As of December 31, 2021 12,974 22 1,788 412 15,197

Cost

As of January 1, 2022 16,499 45 2,158 960 19,662

Additions 537 – 35 354 926

Additions from business 
combinations

470 – – 32 503

Disposals – – – (110) (110)

As of December 31, 
2022

17,506 45 2,193 1,237 20,982

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

As of January 1, 2022 3,525 24 370 547 4,466

Depreciation charge of 
the year

1,232 12 135 225 1,605

Disposals – – – (109) (109)

As of December 31, 
2022

4,757 36 505 664 5,962

Carrying amount

As of January 1, 2022 12,974 22 1,788 412 15,197

As of December 31, 
2022

12,749 10 1,687 573 15,022
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Leasing activity during the reporting periods pre-
sented is comprised of office buildings and cars. 
The most significant contract, which commenced in 
2020, is the office building in Berlin, also resulting in 
significant dismantling obligations.

Expenses related to low value leases and short-term 
leases amounted to EUR 15 thousand in the financial 
year 2022 (2021: EUR 8 thousand) and to EUR 100 
thousand in the financial year 2022 (2021: EUR 270 
thousand), respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases amounted to EUR 
1,507 thousand in 2022 (2021: EUR 1,512 thousand). It 
includes the payment of the principal amounts, in-
terest and short-term and low value leases.

Extension options are assumed to be reasonably cer-
tain to be exercised for all leases and are therefore 
considered within the calculation of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities.

Lease liabilities are included in Other liabilities. See 
Note 27 - Other financial liabilities (current and 
non-current). For the interest expense related to 
leases refer to Note 15.

21. trade and other 
 receivables (current and 
 non-current)
Current trade and other receivables consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Trade receivables 13,544 9,755

Other receivables 921 9,237

14,464 18,992

The increase in trade receivable is related to the 
growth in business activity and corresponds to the 
increase in revenues in 2022. 

Other receivables declined as of December 31, 2022, 
compared to the prior year due to a government 
grant paid in 2022.

22. other financial assets 
(current and non-current)
Other current financial assets consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Money market fund 49,507 99,965

Deposits 2,270 1,995

51,777 101,960

The current portion of other financial assets con-
tains an investment into a short-term money market 
fund accounted for at fair value through profit and 
loss, from which a portion amounting to EUR 50.0 mil-
lion was sold during 2022.

Other non-current financial assets consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Deposits 5,504 1,502

Financial asset at fair 
value through profit or 
loss

– 3,597

Payments in advance for 
business combination

– 3,150

5,504 8,249

Refer to section 6 - Business Combinations and oth-
er acquisitions on the details relating to the derecog-
nition of Financial asset at fair value through profit or 
loss for the 19% acquired in 2021 for both SECRA 
Bookings GmbH and SECRA GmbH. Payments in ad-
vance for business combination represent payment 
in advance for the acquisition of AMIVAC made in 
the prior year.

The increase in deposits is mainly explained by the 
acquisition of SECRA. As agreed in that acquisition 
EUR 4.0 million have been transferred to an escrow 
account. This deposit will be used to settle the liability 
to the former shareholders building up until 2024 in 
other financial liabilities, refer to note 6 - Business Com-
binations and other acquisitions for further  details.



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

162 Consolidated FinanCial statements

Prepaid expenses have increased following the closing 
of new IT infrastructure agreements with  prepayments.

Other non-current assets consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Other tax receivables 28 187

Prepaid expenses 58 65

Other non-financial 
assets

57 6

143 258

24. shareholder’s equity
The different shareholder classes can be summarized as follows:

HOMETOGO GMBH SHARES (1 EUR NOMINAL VALUE) HOMETOGO SE SHARES (0.0192 EUR NOMINAL VALUE)

COMMON 
SHARES

SERIES A 
SHARES

SERIES B 
SHARES

SERIES C 
SHARES

SERIES C1 
SHARES

SERIES C2 
SHARES

SERIES C3 
SHARES

SERIES C3/FALL 
2018

SERIES C4 CLASS A SHARES CLASS B2 SHARES CLASS B3 SHARES

As of January 1, 2021 36,736 15,488 13,618 10,030 645 5,160 7,837 3,709

Conversion of converti-
ble loans

18,438

Conversion of earn outs 1,290

Capital reorganization (36,736) (15,488) (13,618) (10,030) (645) (5,160) (7,837) (4,999) (18,438) 80,793,077

Shares issued in 
recapitalization, net of 
redemptions

30,051,667 2,291,667 2,291,666

Shares issuance for PIPE 
financing

7,500,000

Share-based compensa-
tion

4,210,905

As of December 31, 2021 – – – – – – – – – 122,555,649 2,291,667 2,291,666

Share-based compensa-
tion

1,055,640

Distribution of treasury 
shares as consideration 
transferred in business 
combinations

1,152,148

As of December 31, 2022 – – – – – – – – – 123,707,797 2,291,667 2,291,666

23. other assets  
(current and non-current)
Other current assets consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Other non-financial 
assets

466 1,695

Other tax receivables 774 1,253

Prepaid expenses 3,659 2,399

Advance payments 
made

633 –

5,533 5,347
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24. shareholder’s equity
The different shareholder classes can be summarized as follows:

HOMETOGO GMBH SHARES (1 EUR NOMINAL VALUE) HOMETOGO SE SHARES (0.0192 EUR NOMINAL VALUE)

COMMON 
SHARES

SERIES A 
SHARES

SERIES B 
SHARES

SERIES C 
SHARES

SERIES C1 
SHARES

SERIES C2 
SHARES

SERIES C3 
SHARES

SERIES C3/FALL 
2018

SERIES C4 CLASS A SHARES CLASS B2 SHARES CLASS B3 SHARES

As of January 1, 2021 36,736 15,488 13,618 10,030 645 5,160 7,837 3,709

Conversion of converti-
ble loans

18,438

Conversion of earn outs 1,290

Capital reorganization (36,736) (15,488) (13,618) (10,030) (645) (5,160) (7,837) (4,999) (18,438) 80,793,077

Shares issued in 
recapitalization, net of 
redemptions

30,051,667 2,291,667 2,291,666

Shares issuance for PIPE 
financing

7,500,000

Share-based compensa-
tion

4,210,905

As of December 31, 2021 – – – – – – – – – 122,555,649 2,291,667 2,291,666

Share-based compensa-
tion

1,055,640

Distribution of treasury 
shares as consideration 
transferred in business 
combinations

1,152,148

As of December 31, 2022 – – – – – – – – – 123,707,797 2,291,667 2,291,666
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On September 21, 2021 HomeToGo GmbH and Lake-
star SPAC (now HomeToGo SE) consummated the 
BCA which led to the listing on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange and a capital reorganization of the Group.  

The Company's Class A through Class B3 Shares in 
HomeToGo SE are non-par value shares and have 
been fully paid. Class A Shares are publicly traded. 
As part of the de-SPAC transaction in September 
2021 a total of 10.1 million Class A Shares were re-
deemed against capital reserves. Regarding the cur-
rent stock of these treasury shares, reference is 
made to the following paragraph under "Treasury 
Shares".  Class B1 to B3 Shares are neither redeema-
ble nor transferable, assignable or sellable other 
than to the members of the Management or Super-
visory Board. Holders of Class A to B3 Shares are en-
titled to the same dividend and liquidation rights 
and have one vote per share at general meetings.

As part of the consummation of the de-SPAC trans-
action all Class B1 shares were automatically convert-
ed into Class A Shares at a ratio one for one. As at 
December 2022 and 2021, 4,583,333 Class B shares 
are issued and outstanding. All Class B2 Shares will 
automatically convert into Class A Shares at a ratio 
one for one, once the closing price of the Class A 
Shares for any ten trading days within a thirty trading 
day period exceeds EUR 12. Similarly, all Class B3 
Shares will automatically convert into Class A Shares 
at a ratio one for one, once the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any ten trading days within a thirty 
trading day period exceeds EUR 14. There is no expi-
ry date for the conversion of Class B2 Shares or Class 
B3 Shares into Class A Shares.

Capital reserves

Subscribed capital and capital reserves include re-
ceived capital through the issuance of shares for 
cash or premium in kind. See above for share issu-
ances during the presented periods. 

Retained earnings
Retained earnings include the accumulated losses 
attributable to the shareholders.

Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are shares in HomeToGo SE that are 
held by the Company as a result of the redemption 
process as part of the de-SPAC transaction in Sep-
tember 2021. Shares redeemed in 2021 were recog-
nized at their redemption price of EUR 10.00 per 
share and deducted from equity attributable to the 
owners as treasury shares until the shares are can-
celled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are 
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, 
net of any directly attributable incremental transac-
tion costs and the related income tax effects, is in-
cluded in equity attributable to the owners of the 
Company. As of the reporting the number of treas-
ury shares held is 8.1 million (2021: 10.1 million).
 

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the 
foreign controlled entity are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, as described in Note 4 b), 
and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. 
The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or 
loss when the net investment is disposed of.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to cap-
ture the effect of share-based payment transactions. 
The Group operates share-based payment plans, 
see Note 30 - Share-based payments for details of 
these plans. The Company does not reclassify 
amounts for vested awards to other equity items.
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25. Borrowings
The following table provides an overview on the outstanding loans within the Group as of December 31, 2022:

DEBTOR

LOAN AMOUNT
(IN EUR 

 THOUSANDS PAYOUT DATE MATURITY
NOMINAL 

INTEREST RATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

(IN EUR 

HomeToGo GmbH 6,000 February 2020 December 2023 4.35% 1,500

HomeToGo GmbH 10,000 February 2021 September 2025 2.12% 6,333

Feries S.r.l. 400 August 2020 August 2025 1.50% 278

Escapada Rural S.L. 500 May 2020 June 2023 2.50% 85

Escapada Rural S.L. 300 May 2020 June 2025 1.55% 177

Adrialin d.o.o 100 February 2022 September 2027 0.25% 100

The following table provides an overview on the outstanding loans within the Group as of December 31, 2021:

DEBTOR

LOAN AMOUNT
(IN EUR 

 THOUSANDS PAYOUT DATE MATURITY
NOMINAL 

INTEREST RATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

(IN EUR 

HomeToGo GmbH 6,000 February 2020 December 2023 4.35% 3,000

HomeToGo GmbH 10,000 February 2021 September 2025 2.12% 8,414

Feries S.r.l. 400 August 2020 August 2025 1.50% 376

Escapada Rural S.L. 500 May 2020 June 2023 2.50% 337

Escapada Rural S.L. 300 May 2020 June 2025 1.55% 252
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26. Provisions (current and non-current)
Provisions consist of:

2022

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) DISMANTLING OTHER TOTAL

Beginning of 
financial year

483 807 1,290

Additions – 1,683 1,683

Acquired through 
business combination

– 103 103

Releases – (837) (837)

End of financial year 483 1,680 2,163

Thereof: non-current 483 35 518

Thereof: current – 1,645 1,645

2021

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) DISMANTLING OTHER TOTAL

Beginning of financial 
year

483 1,175 1,658

Additions – 83 83

Utilizations – (451) (451)

End of financial year 483 807 1,290

Thereof: non-current 431 751 1,182

Other provisions include provisions with regard to 
employment lawsuits, which were not decided in or 
out of court at the time this annual report was pre-
pared. The prospects of success are uncertain at the 
time of writing due to the lack of a supreme court 
ruling in similar cases. The total amount of the provi-

sion for litigation amounts to EUR 1.3 million and re-
flects the Managements’ best estimate of the 
amount probable to be paid resulting from the suits.

The provision for dismantling relates to HomeToGo’s 
dismantling provisions for leasehold improvements. 
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27. other financial liabilities 
(current and non-current)
Other current financial liabilities consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Lease liabilities 1,512 1,228

Other financial liabilities 3,064 7,657

Traveler advance 
payments owed to 
Homeowners

5,480 –

10,057 8,885

Other financial liabilities included a liability for the 
holdback as part of the acquisition of Smoobu in the 
amount of EUR 5.0 million as of the prior year that 
was paid in 2022 and explains the decrease in carry-
ing amount during the reporting period. 

Current other financial liabilities contain traveler ad-
vance payments collected in the amount of EUR 5.5 
million as of December 31, 2022 (2021: nil). These ad-
vance payments mainly relate to the newly acquired 
entity e-domizil that provides collection services for 
their home owners. As part of these payment servic-
es, e-domizil collects travelers’ advance payments as 
well as advance payments for the booking services 
prior to the traveler’s check-in at the booked accom-
modation. The travelers’ advance payments that 
e-domizil needs to transfer to the homeowners right 
before check-in of the traveler are shown here under 
Other financial liabilities, while the advance pay-
ments received for booking services are presented 
under Contract liabilities as part of Other liabilities 
(current). Refer to the table under Note 28 - Other li-
abilities (current and non-current). The amount of 
traveler advance payments as a portion of cash and 
cash equivalents with an amount of EUR 2.3 million 
as of December 31, 2022 (2021: nil) is subject to stat-
utory restrictions and not available for general use 
by the Group.

Other non-current financial liabilities consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021* 
(ADJUSTED)

Lease liabilities 12,787 12,949

Class A and Class B 
Warrants

1,425 10,238

Other financial liabilities 1,305 5

15,517 23,192

Other financial liabilities include a liability  arising 
from a service component as part of the SECRA 
business combination leading to a payable of up to 
EUR  4.0 million until December 31, 2024, refer to 6 - 
Business Combinations and other acquisitions for 
further information. Class A and Class B Warrants in-
clude public and non-public warrants, which had 
been issued by Lakestar SPAC prior to the de-SPAC 
transaction in September 2021 of EUR 1.4 million. On 
February 19, 2021, the Company issued 9,166,666 Class 
A Warrants for a price of EUR 10.00 per unit. Class A 
Warrants are publicly traded under ISIN of 
LU2290524383. Each Class A Warrants entitles its 
holder to subscribe for one Class A Share, with a stat-
ed exercise price of EUR 11.50 subject to customary 
anti-dilution adjustments. Holders of Class A Warrants 
can exercise the warrants on a cashless basis unless 
the Company elects to require exercise against pay-
ment in cash of the exercise price. Class A Warrants 
may only be exercised for a whole number of shares.  
Class A Warrants expire five years from the date of 
the consummation of the de-SPAC transaction, con-
summated on September 21, 2021, or earlier upon re-
demption or liquidation. The Company may redeem 
Class A Warrants upon at least 30 days’ notice at a re-
demption price of EUR 0.01 per Class A Warrant (i) if 
the closing price of its Class A Shares for any 20 out of 
the 30 consecutive trading days following the con-
summation of the Business Combination equals or 
exceeds EUR 18.00 or (ii) if the closing price of its Class 
A Shares for any 20 out of the 30 consecutive trading 
days following the consummation of the Business 
Combination equals or exceeds EUR 10.00 but is be-
low EUR 18.00, adjusted for adjustments to the num-
ber of Class A Shares issuable upon exercise or the 
exercise price of Class A Share as described in the 
prospectus. Holders of Class A Warrants may exer-
cise them after the redemption notice is given.
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On February 18, 2021, the Company issued 5,333,333 
Class B Warrants at a price of EUR 1.50 per warrant. 
Class B Warrants are identical to the Class A War-
rants underlying the Units sold in the private place-
ment, except that the Class B Warrants are not re-
deemable and may always be exercised on a cashless 
basis while held by the SPAC Founders or their Per-
mitted Transferees (defined in the prospectus). 
Class B Warrants are not part of the private place-
ment and are not listed on a stock exchange.

Please refer to note 35 – Change in accounting poli-
cy – Classification of warrants for further information 
on presentation and valuation of warrants.

28. other liabilities  
(current and non-current)
Other current liabilities consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Personnel-related 
liabilities

3,883 1,652

Other tax liabilities 637 570

Other non-financial 
liabilities

3,394 2,450

Contract liabilities 11,909 3,864

19,824 8,535

29. deferred taxes
The change in deferred tax liabilities (DTLs), net was 
recognized as income tax expense (income) or 
through acquisition of subsidiaries during 2021 and 
2022. The unrecognized deferred tax assets (DTAs) 
amount to EUR 63.0 million (2021: EUR 59.8 million) 
and are mainly attributable to EUR 430 million (2021: 
EUR 381 million) for unused tax losses and EUR 22.1 
million (2021: EUR 10.2 million) unrecognized tempo-
rary differences.
The tax losses only incurred in Germany and Luxem-
bourg. EUR 205 million (2021: EUR 182 million) of the 
tax losses are attributable to German corporate in-
come tax and EUR 203 million (2021: EUR 180 million) 
to German trade tax. There is no expiry date for the 
cumulative tax losses except for tax losses in the 
amount of EUR 281 million (2021: EUR 19 million) in 
Luxembourg, which will expire after 17 years accord-
ing to local tax regulations.
The Group has recognized a DTA on tax losses that 
arose in Luxembourg for HomeToGo SE of EUR 64 
million, mainly explained by the impairment of the 
investment in HomeToGo GmbH, netted by a DTL 
arising from temporary difference on the investment 
held in the subsidiary of EUR 64 million.
The Group has further unused tax losses that arose 
in Luxembourg of EUR 22 million (2021: EUR 18 mil-
lion) that is available for 17 years, following the year in 
which incurred, for offsetting against future taxable 
profits of the Company. No DTA has been recog-
nized in respect of these losses as they may not be 
used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Group. 
They have arisen in Luxembourg, where there's nei-
ther taxable income in current year nor is expected 
in the incoming years. There are no other tax plan-
ning opportunities or other evidence of recoverabil-
ity in the near future.

There are temporary differences resulting from the 
Group's share-based compensation programs due 
to different valuation methods according to IFRS and 
the tax base, leading to EUR 20.7 million deductible 
differences according to IFRS compared to the tax 
base in 2022. It is uncertain to which extent and 
when these temporary differences would reverse. 
They cannot be measured reliably as the future set-
tlements of claims resulting from exercises are de-
pendent on several external factors that cannot be 
predicted reliably, especially considering the Com-

Other non-current liabilities consist of:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Personnel-related 
liabilities

393 322

Other non-financial 
liabilities

11 795

404 1,117

Other non-financial liabilities mainly relate to the 
 deferred government grant.
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DECEMBER 31,

2022 DEFERRED TAX 2021 DEFERRED TAX

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) ASSETS LIABILITIES ASSETS LIABILITIES

Intangible assets (16,890) – (5,963)

Financial assets – (64,579) – –

Other assets 15 (176) – –

Provisions 148 – 247 (3)

Trade payables – – 47 –

Other liabilities – – 6 –

Tax losses 73,553 – 1,792 –

Total Gross 73,715 (81,645) 2,092 (5,966)

Offsetting (73,715) 73,715 (2,092) 2,092

Total after offsetting – (7,930) — (3,874)

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Beginning of fiscal year (3,874) (2,236)

Recognized through profit or loss 7,806 5

Recognized through acquisition of 
 subsidiaries

(11,863) (1,643)

End of fiscal year (7,930) (3,874)

pany's short history on the stock exchange. Thus, for 
these temporary differences no DTA was recognized 
as December 31, 2022.

For the Class A and Class B Warrants, a DTA of EUR 
0.4 million (2021: EUR 2.6 million) was not recognized 
as it has been considered not recoverable.

The total amount of temporary differences associat-
ed with investments in subsidiaries for which DTLs 
have not been recognized amount to EUR 1.3 million 
(2021: EUR 0.3 million).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the following types of temporary differences and tax 
loss carryforwards.

30. share-based payments
Virtual Option Plans prior to the 
 de-SPAC – General 

Prior to the de-SPAC, HomeToGo had implemented 
several virtual stock option programs (“VSOPs”). 
These old programs were closed or settled as part of 
the de-SPAC transaction, i.e. no new beneficiaries 

can enter these programs and no further awards are 
granted to existing beneficiaries. In the financial year 
2022, these programs were continued in an ordinary 
course considering settlements for leavers and re-
leases of the IFRS 2 reserve in case of targets not 
being met for some performance-dependent vest-
ing of options. All material terms and conditions and 
the classification remain unchanged. The number of 
virtual options of all share-based payment programs 
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other than the new long-term incentive program 
that is further described below developed as follows:

Of the outstanding 11,130 options as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022, 1,961 were vested. These options are 
exercisable at the next scheduled settlement date 
since December 31, 2022 that took place in January 
2023. The liability for cash-settled obligations result-
ing from the settlement process as of December 31, 
2022 amount to EUR 0.4 million and was measured 
at the share price as of December 31, 2022 of EUR 2.0.

New long-term incentive program – LTI

In 2022 a new long-term incentive (“LTI”) program 
was established and during the interim period, for 
the new LTI several grant agreements were made. 
The LTI comprises two different programs, the Virtu-
al Stock Option Program (VSOP 2022) and the Re-
stricted Stock Unit Program (RSUP 2022). Under 
both programs, Virtual Stock Options (VSOs) and 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) are granted to benefi-
ciaries at the same time. Both the VSOP 2022 and 
the RSUP 2022 entitle the beneficiary to receive a 
cash payment upon exercise of their VSOs / RSUs. 
The target group for the LTI are HomeToGo’s em-
ployees, advisors of the Group as well as managing 
directors of affiliated companies. For the Manage-
ment Board, a similar program was launched with 
slightly different terms to comply with rules for Man-
agement Board remuneration.

General Terms and conditions – LTI

The participants can select the allocation of their 
overall grant between VSOP 2022 and RSUP 2022. 
Both programs differ in terms of the risk profile from 

the perspective of the beneficiaries, because the 
RSUs do not have a strike price, whereas the VSOs do.

As of December 31, 2022, the aggregate maximum 
plan volume of the RSUP 2022 and VSOP 2022 was 
limited to the value of 1,225,556 Class A Shares of the 
Company. VSOs / RSUs may be granted to the par-
ticipants in one or more tranches at any time until 
the end of the year 2025. Therefore, hereinafter the 
two programs are described together as one pro-
gram and specified terms and conditions of each 
program are highlighted if necessary.

VSOs / RSUs are granted to the respective beneficiary 
based on the terms stipulated in each program by 
concluding an individual grant agreement between 
the respective beneficiary and HomeToGo. All grants 
are subject to a service condition.

The strike price for the VSOs is specified in the indi-
vidual grant agreement with the beneficiary and is 
always calculated based on the average share price of 
the last ten trading days prior to the respective grant 
date. RSUs are granted without a certain strike price.

The vesting period for the VSOs / RSUs is two years in 
total, and the vesting period shall begin following the 
grant date or another vesting start date specified in 
the grant agreement. For the first year, there is a cliff 
in the case of new hires and a quarterly vesting in the 
second year. For existing employees, the number of 
granted VSOs / RSUs shall vest, unless otherwise de-
termined in the grant agreement, in installments of 
1/8 for each full quarter on a linear basis.

After the exercise of the RSUs the beneficiary shall 
have a payment claim against the Company equal to 
HomeToGo’s share price at the time of the exercise. 
The exercise of the VSOs shall lead to a payment 
claim equal to the difference between the share price 
at the time of exercise and the individual strike price 
stipulated in the grant agreement. The beneficiary 
may exercise the VSOs / RSUs within three years fol-
lowing the vesting date. VSOs / RSUs do not need to 
be exercised collectively, i.e. some parts of the grants 
may already be exercised while others are still vesting.

HomeToGo is entitled, in its sole discretion, to fulfill 
the payment claim in whole or in part by transfer of 
shares, in lieu of paying a cash amount, based on the 
share price then applicable.

2022

NUMBER OF 
VIRTUAL 

OPTIONS

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE OF 

EXERCISE 
PRICES

Outstanding as of Jan 1 17,057 3,057

forfeited during the year 1,160 87

exercised during the 
year

4,768 2,934

Outstanding as of Dec 31 11,130 3,419
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Special Terms and conditions – 
LTI for Management Board

The terms and conditions of the LTI for the Manage-
ment Board are generally in line with the terms and 
conditions described above except for the following:

The aggregate maximum plan volume of the 
MB-RSUP 2022 and the MB-VSOP 2022 shall be 
limited to the value of 2,979,058 Class A Shares 
of the Company.
The vesting period for the VSOs / RSUs is four 
years instead of two.
There is a mandatory cliff of one year. 

Classification and accounting – LTI

The classification of the VSOP and RSUP do not dif-
fer from the classification of the previous Virtual Op-
tion Plans of the Group. Since HomeToGo has a set-
tlement choice in its sole discretion and has the 
ability to fulfill the payment claim through shares of 
the Company, based on the assessment of the 
Company’s intent and past practice in the Group’s 
other share-based compensation schemes, the LTI is 
classified as equity-settled. Hence, the fair value of 
each VSO / RSU is determined at the grant date, as 
further described below. Vesting conditions are 
treated as graded, depending on the individual 
terms and conditions summarized above.

HomeToGo recognizes personnel expenses related 
to employee services as they are received. The 
communication of the grant promise (= entitlement) 
with the amount of the grant and the other major 
terms and conditions is treated as the earlier service 
commencement date as per IFRS 2 IG4, notwith-
standing that the beneficiary may still choose from 
the allocation of VSOs / RSUs. In case a beneficiary is 
already performing his service knowingly of his fu-

ture LTI grant and a specified vesting start date, the 
vesting start date is considered the earlier service 
commencement date, and the expenses are already 
recognized as of the vesting start date. In the IFRS 2 
valuation, management estimates the grant date fair 
value for the purpose of recognizing the expense 
during the period between the earlier service com-
mencement date and the grant date. Management 
will revise the estimate in each reporting period until 
the grant date has been established.

Fair value measurement – LTI

For the RSUs the fair value at the grant date is deter-
mined by the share price at grant date since these do 
not have a certain strike price. For the VSOs the fair 
value at the grant date is determined by the Compa-
ny using the Black-Scholes-option pricing model and 
a binomial option pricing model of Cox-Ross-Rubin-
stein, as the option can only be exercised at several 
discrete points in time. 

The fair value was measured based on the following 
significant parameters: a weighted average share 
price of EUR 4.0, a volatility of 45.73%, a risk-free inter-
est rate of 0.45%, and a dividend yield of 0.0%. Due to 
the fact that there is not sufficient historical data of 
the share price of the Company available the expect-
ed volatility was derived from the historical volatility of 
peer group companies. The exercise of the VSOs may 
take place in tranches after the respective vesting 
date and up to three years afterward. The weighted 
average term of the virtual shares outstanding is 4.4 
years. The valuation resulted in a weighted average 
fair value of EUR 1.70 per virtual share.

The number of VSOs / RSUs of the new LTI program 
developed as follows during the period ending De-
cember 31, 2022:

2022 2022

NUMBER OF VSOS
WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
OF EXERCISE PRICES NUMBER OF RSUS

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
OF EXERCISE PRICES

granted during the year 11,578,406 3.50 2,033,537 –

forfeited during the 
period

82,778 3.17 14,227

Outstanding as of 
December 31

11,495,628 3.50 2,019,310 –
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The IFRS 2 reserve thus developed as follows:

this investor was also represented on the Superviso-
ry Board of HomeToGo SE until June 30, 2022, the 
investor was still assumed to have significant influ-
ence over the Group until that date, although the 
percentage share in the parent company significant-
ly reduced through the Transaction. This sharehold-
er participated in the convertible loan in March 2021 
with EUR 3.0 million.

Key management personnel of the 
Group
The Management Board as well as the Supervisory 
Board of the Group constitute the key management 
personnel and therefore related persons according 
to IAS 24 for HomeToGo.

Compensation paid and granted to the key manage-
ment personnel is summarized in the table below.

Share-based payments expenses for key manage-
ment personnel arose from the Virtual Stock Option 
Program and Long-Term Incentive Plans described 
under Note 30 - Share-based payments. 

The Group has not granted any loans, guarantees, or 
other commitments to or on behalf of any of the 
 related persons. Other than the remuneration  disclosed 
above the following transactions occurred with entities 
controlled by key management  personnel:

OneUkraine gGmbH, a German non-profit limited li-
ability company and related party to the Group due 
to its affiliation to members of the Management and 
Supervisory Board, received a donation amounting 
to EUR 500 thousand from the Group to provide sus-
tainable humanitarian relief to the Ukrainian people 
at home and abroad.

NFQ UAB Technologies (“NFQ”) a software company 
registered in the Republic of Lithuania, has been 
identified as a related party according to IAS 24. Dur-

31. Related party  transactions
HomeToGo’s related parties are comprised of a sig-
nificant shareholder of HomeToGo, the members of 
the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 
the close members of the family of these persons 
and controlled entities by these persons.

Entities with significant influence over 
the Group
Until the Transaction, the largest shareholder of the 
Group had significant influence over the Group and 
constituted a related party according to IAS 24. Since 

2022
CHANGE

2021
CHANGE

January 1 68,744 22,148

Acquisition Mapify 172

Conversion of Earn Outs — (515)

Lakestar SPAC Listing 
Service Fee

— 70,437

VSOP Exercise equity 
settlement

(6,248) (12,774)

VSOP Exercise tax 
settlement charge

(1,787) (30,495)

VSOP Exercise cash 
settlement charge not 
through Profit or loss

(423) (3,524)

Regular VSOP charge 25,350 23,296

Year end 85,636 68,744

The total expenses in relation to all existing share-
based compensation including the virtual option 
plans prior to the de-SPAC are allocated as follows:

YEAR ENDED DEC 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Product development 
and operations

4,951 8,260

Marketing and sales 1,671 5,700

General and
administrative

19,030 88,037

Total 25,652 101,997

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Short-term benefits 1,435 1,020

Share-based payments 20,667 15,660

22,102 16,680
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ing the reporting period, an agreement with NFQ 
has been in place on the provision of certain soft-
ware development services, office space and other 
services by NFQ to entities of HomeToGo for cash 
consideration. Other services mainly include the 
provision of payroll, accounting and car rental servic-
es. The business transactions under the scope of 
the agreement were made at arm’s length terms. 
Furthermore, the Group purchased services from 
NFQ X GmbH, Germany which was identified as a 
related party.

Below listed amounts resulted from related party 
transactions with NFQ and NFQ X GmbH, Germany 
during the reporting period:

32. auditor’s fees
The following expenses were incurred for services 
provided by the auditors and related companies of 
the auditors for the HomeToGo Group:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Audit fees 1,219 1,490

thereof: audit fees for 
previous fiscal year 
audits and IFRS 
Conversion in prior 
year

261 838

Other attestation 
services

– 127

Other services 35 –

Total 1,254 1,618

33. Financial instruments 
The table below shows the net gains and losses, pre-
sented as positive and negative amounts respective-
ly, of financial instruments per measurement cate-
gory as defined by IFRS 9:

Total interest expenses including amortization from 
the effective interest method on financial liabilities 
that are measured at amortized cost for the year was 
EUR 0.9 million (2021: EUR 2.0 million).

The following table shows the carrying amounts and 
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The 
table excludes fair value information for financial as-
sets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
if the carrying amount reasonably approximates fair 
value. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equiv-
alents, trade and other receivables as well as trade 
payables are approximately their fair value due to 
their short-term maturities. For all other financial as-
sets and liabilities, no changes have occurred that 
would have had a material effect on the fair value of 
these instruments since their initial recognition.

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Financial assets 
measured at Amortized 
cost (AC)

(1,623) (1,069)

Financial assets and 
financial liabilities 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

(625) 342

Financial liabilities 
measured at Amortized 
cost (AC)

(2,508) –

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

8,813 (10,031)

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Product development 
and operating expenses

8,765 5,493

Other Services 206 172

Office Rent 241 246

Payables towards NFQ 409 4
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Financial instruments as of December 31, 2022 are as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2021

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) CARRYING AMOUNT

CATEGORY IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH 

IFRS 9 FAIR VALUE FAIR VALUE LEVEL

Non-current assets

Other receivables - Amortized cost

Other financial assets 5,504

thereof deposits 5,504

Current assets

Trade and other 
receivables 14,466 Amortized cost

thereof trade 
receivables 13,544

thereof other 
receivables 921

Cash and cash 
equivalents 112,050 Amortized cost

Other financial assets 51,778

thereof deposits 2,270

thereof money market 
funds 49,507 FVTPL 49,507 Level 1

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 5,631 Amortized cost

Other financial 
liabilities 15,517

thereof lease liabilities 12,787 N/A

thereof warrants 1,425 FVTPL 1,425 Level 3

thereof other liabilities 1,305

Current liabilities

Borrowings 2,844 Amortized cost

Trade payables 12,544 Amortized cost

Other financial 
liabilities 10,057

thereof lease liabilities 1,512 N/A

thereof other liabilities 3,064 Amortized cost

Traveler advance 
payments owed to 
Homeowners

5,480 Amortized cost
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Financial instruments as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2022

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) CARRYING AMOUNT

CATEGORY IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH 

IFRS 9 FAIR VALUE FAIR VALUE LEVEL

Non-current assets

Other receivables 814 Amortized cost

Other financial assets 8,249

thereof deposits 1,502

thereof investments 3,597 FVTPL 3,597 Level 3

Current assets

Trade and other 
receivables 18,992 Amortized cost

thereof trade 
receivables 9,755

thereof other 
receivables 9,237

Cash and cash 
equivalents 152,944 Amortized cost

Other financial assets 101,960

thereof deposits 1,995

thereof money market 
funds 99,965 FVTPL 99,965 Level 1

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 9,371 Amortized cost

Other financial 
liabilities 23,187

thereof lease liabilities 12,949 N/A

thereof warrants 10,238 FVTPL 10,238 Level 3

thereof other liabilities 5

Current liabilities

Borrowings 3,007 Amortized cost

Trade payables 15,395 Amortized cost

Other financial 
liabilities 8,885

thereof lease liabilities 1,228 N/A

thereof other liabilities 7,656 Amortized cost
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The carrying amounts of the financial assets and lia-
bilities measured at amortized cost listed above and 
defined by IFRS 9 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 
were as follows: 

DECEMBER 31,

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) 2022 2021

Carrying amount

Financial assets 
measured at amortized 
cost

134,289 179,397

Financial assets 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

49,507 103,562

Financial liabilities 
measured at amortized 
cost

26,555 26,555

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

1,425 10,238

Class B warrants, which had been issued by 
Lakestar SPAC prior to the transaction. These 
warrants are in scope of IFRS 9. The valuation of 
the warrants is performed using an option 
pricing model (Black-Scholes model). 
Significant unobservable inputs: The option 
pricing model uses different inputs. The most 
significant unobservable input is the refinancing 
rate of HomeToGo. Further inputs for the 
valuation model are the Company value and the 
volatility of equity. Both inputs have a lower 
impact on the fair value of the entire embedded 
derivative. The primary inputs used in the 
valuation of the warrants are the share price of 
HomeToGo at valuation date, the risk-free 
interest rate and the volatility of the underlying 
share price as well as the term of the instru-
ments. The risk-free interest rate is based on 
yields of German sovereign bonds. The share 
price as well as the risk-free rate are observable 
in the market. The share price volatility is based 
on a peer group and is therefore not observable 
in a market. 

The following tables show a reconciliation for Level 3 
fair values:

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) WARRANTS
EMBEDDED 
DERIVATIVE

Opening balance Jan 1, 
2021

– (12,465)

Issuance of convertible 
loans and modification 
of existing contracts

– (24,961)

Acquisition of warrants (12,506) –

Transfer from Level 1 (6,472) –

Losses recognized in 
finance costs

– (2,644)

Gains recognized in 
finance income

8,740 2,436

Conversion into equity 37,634

Closing balance Dec 31, 
2021

(10,238) –

Opening balance Jan 1, 
2022

(10,238) –

Gains recognized in 
finance income

8,813 –

Closing balance Dec 31, 
2022

(1,425) –

As HomeToGo does not meet the criteria for offset-
ting, no financial instruments are netted.

Where quoted prices in an active market do not ex-
ist, HomeToGo uses valuation techniques that maxi-
mize the use of relevant observable inputs and min-
imize the use of unobservable inputs. The valuation 
technique used incorporates all factors that market 
participants would consider in pricing such a trans-
action, e.g. the fair values disclosed in the notes for 
the host contract of convertible loans are deter-
mined by using credit-risk specific discount factors.

The following paragraph shows the valuation tech-
nique used in measuring Level 3 fair values at De-
cember 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 for financial 
instruments measured at fair value in the statement 
of financial position as well as the significant unob-
servable inputs used:

Valuation techniques: The valuation of the 
embedded derivative is performed using an 
option price model. More specifically the 
valuation was performed using binomial trees 
for HomeToGo’s share price and refinancing rate 
to derive a fair value of the conversion right. As 
described in Note 36, as part of the de-SPAC 
transaction HomeToGo took over Class A and 
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In 2021 HomeToGo took over Class A and Class B 
Warrants, which were issued by Lakestar SPAC prior 
to the de-SPAC transaction. The Class A Warrants 
are public listed warrants. At the acquisition date the 
Class A Warrants constitute a level 1 instrument. The 
price for the Class A Warrants was directly observa-
ble in the market as sufficient trades were observa-
ble. As of December 31, 2021, as well as December 31, 
2022, no trades of the Class A Warrants were ob-
servable. Hence, the valuation was performed by 
using an option price model with a peer group vola-
tility as an unobservable input. As of December 31, 
2022, and December 31, 2021 the Class A public 
Warrants constitute a level 3 instrument. HomeToGo 
transferred the Class A Warrants from level 1 to level 
3 in 2021. The Class B warrants are not publicly listed. 
The valuation of the Class B Warrants was performed 
by using an option price model with a peer group 
volatility as an unobservable input. Hence, the Class 
B Warrants constitute a level 3 instrument as of the 
acquisition date, December 31, 2022 and December 
31, 2021. There was no level transfer regarding the 
Class B Warrants.

There were no further transfers between the differ-
ent levels of the fair value hierarchy during the peri-
ods presented. HomeToGo’s policy is to recognize 
transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy 
levels at the end of the reporting period.

The following tables show the impact on the fair val-
ue of the warrants, as well as the impact on the fi-
nancial result, by shifting the significant inputs in the 
valuation model of the warrants:

CLOSING BALANCE DEC 31, 2022

(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

EFFECT ON 
FINANCIAL 

RESULT (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

EFFECT ON 
FINANCIAL 

RESULT (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

Change in Share 
Price

10% (10)%

Change in 
Warrant Price

(460) 389

Change in 
Volatility

10% (10)%

Change in 
Warrant Price

(1,473) 947

CLOSING BALANCE DEC 31, 2021

(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

EFFECT ON 
FINANCIAL 

RESULT (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

EFFECT ON 
FINANCIAL 

RESULT (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

Change in 
Share Price

10% (10)%

Change in 
Warrant Price

(2,719) 2,415

Change in 
Volatility

10% (10)%

Change in 
Warrant Price

(5,933) 5,198
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34. Financial risk 
 management
HomeToGo is exposed to the following risks from 
the use of financial instruments:

a) Credit risk
b) Liquidity risk
c) Market risk, interest rate and currency risk

The Company´s Management Board have the overall 
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
HomeToGo’s risk management framework. HomeTo-
Go’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyze the risks faced by HomeToGo 
and to minimize negative impact on the financial po-
sition of HomeToGo related to those risks.

Capital risk management

HomeToGo’s objective when managing capital is to 
safeguard HomeToGo’s ability to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to re-
duce the cost of capital. Management monitors cap-
ital usage by overseeing the decrease and increase 
of cash and cash equivalents as presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. To opti-
mize interest income and to minimize negative inter-
est rates the Group invested surplus funds in highly 
liquid money market funds. The Group is subject to 
a financial covenant with regard to some loans is-
sued in 2020 for which no breach has occurred. 
HomeToGo needs to achieve an economic equity 
ratio of 50% or higher. Management expects to 
achieve the necessary equity ratio.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to HomeToGo if 
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk in-
cludes both the immediate default risk and the dan-
ger of a decline in the customer’s creditworthiness.

HomeToGo is exposed to credit risk on cash and 
cash equivalents and current other financial assets, 
which it monitors centrally. HomeToGo maintains its 
cash deposits at financial institutions with top credit 
ratings. The creditworthiness of these financial insti-
tutions is constantly monitored. HomeToGo consid-
ers that its cash and cash equivalents and current 
other financial assets have low credit risk based on 
the external credit ratings of these financial institu-
tions. 

HomeToGo is generally exposed to the credit risk 
that its partners are cash-strapped or in financial dif-
ficulties and thus, would not pass the agreed share 
of commission to HomeToGo. Overall, the credit risk 
for trade and other receivables is considered moder-
ate. The maximum risk exposure for all financial as-
sets is the carrying amount. Refer to Note 4 regard-
ing the application of the expected credit loss 
model.

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that HomeToGo will encoun-
ter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by deliver-
ing cash or another financial asset. HomeToGo’s ap-
proach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when they are due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unac-
ceptable losses or risking damage to HomeToGo’s 
reputation. In case needed, HomeToGo uses regular 
external financing options such as bank loans to 
quickly raise larger amounts of fresh capital and thus 
always ensure a certain liquidity buffer.

The following are the remaining contractual maturi-
ties of financial liabilities at the balance sheet date. 
Apart from lease liabilities, the amounts are gross 
and undiscounted and include contractual interest 
payments and exclude the impact of netting 
 agreements.
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The following table shows changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

JAN 1,
 2021

CASH 
FLOWS

CHANGES 
IN FAIR 
VALUES

NEW 
LEASES

ADDITIONS 
FROM

 BUSINESS 
COMBINATIONS

RECLASSIFICATION/
CONVERSION

MODIFICATIONS 
AND OTHER 

EFFECTS
INTER-

EST
DEC 31,

2022

Borrowings 
(non-current)

9,371 – – – – (4,024) – 285 5,631

Warrants 
(non-current)*

10,238 – (8,813) – – – – – 1,425

Lease 
liabilities 
(non-current)

12,949 – – 537 466 (1,164) – 12,787

Borrowings 
(current)

3,007 (4,187) – – – 4,024 – – 2,843

Lease 
liabilities 
(current)

1,229 (896) – 1,164 (481) 496 1,512

Total 36,792 (5,083) (8,813) 537 466 – (481) 781 24,199

DECEMBER 31, 2022

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) <1 YEAR 1–5 YEARS > 5 YEARS TOTAL
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

Trade and other 
payables

12,544 – – 12,544 12,544

Other liabilities 19,824 404 – 20,228 20,228

Other financial 
liabilities

8,545 1,305 – – 9,850

Warrants – 1,425 – 1,425 1,425

Borrowings 2,844 5,631 – 8,475 8,475

Lease liabilities 1,590 5,870 10,021 17,481 14,299

Total 45,346 14,636 10,021 60,154 66,822

DECEMBER 31, 2021

(IN EUR THOUSANDS) <1 YEAR 1 - 5 YEARS > 5 YEARS TOTAL
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

Trade and other 
payables

15,395 – – 15,395 15,395

Other liabilities 8,535 1,117 – 9,653 9,653

Other financial 
liabilities

– 10,243 – 10,243 10,243

Borrowings 3,007 9,371 – 12,378 12,378

Lease liabilities 1,228 1,632 11,318 14,178 14,178

Total 28,165 22,363 11,318 61,847 61,847



c) Market, interest rate and currency risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign exchange rates or interest rates will 
affect HomeToGo’s income or the value of its finan-
cial instruments. HomeToGo manages its market risk 
on a centralized basis with the objectives of manag-
ing and controlling market risk exposures within ac-
ceptable parameters. 

Exposure to interest rate risk normally arises from 
variable interest-bearing financial instruments. 
HomeToGo only has fixed interest loan agreements 
and therefore is not exposed to an interest rate risk.

HomeToGo is not exposed to a material transactional 
foreign currency risk. 
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(IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

JAN 1,
 2021

CASH 
FLOWS

CHANGES 
IN FAIR 
VALUES

NEW 
LEASES

ADDITIONS 
FROM BUSINESS 
COMBINATIONS

RECLASSIFICATION / 
CONVERSION

MODIFICATIONS 
AND OTHER 

EFFECTS INTEREST
DEC 31, 

2022

Borrowings 
(non-current)

3,558 9,969 – – – (3,255) (1,244) 343 9,371

Warrants 
(non-cur-
rent)*

– (9,602) – – 19,839 – – 10,238

Convertible 
loans 
(non-current)

33,132 66,206 – – – (108,626) (25,341) 34,629 –

Lease 
liabilities 
(non-current)

13,665 – – 1 10 (517) (210) – 12,949

Derivatives 
(non-current)

12,465 – 207 – – (37,633) 24,961 – –

Borrowings 
(current)

2,113 (2,362) – – – 3,255 – – 3,007

Lease 
liabilities 
(current)

1,464 (966) – 18 10 517 (332) 517 1,229

Total 66,398 72,848 (9,395) 19 19 (126,420) (2,166) 35,490 36,792



35. Change in accounting 
policy - Classification of 
 warrants
As part of the de-SPAC transaction on September 21, 
2021 HomeToGo took over public and non-public 
warrants, which had been issued by Lakestar SPAC 
prior to the Transaction. 

As a result of the IFRS IC agenda decision on Special 
Purpose Acquisition Companies (SPAC): Accounting 
for Warrants at Acquisition issued on October 24, 
2022, the Company reassessed its accounting for 
the warrants acquired with the SPAC merger and re-
corded such warrants as a financial liability at fair 
value through profit or loss. Accordingly, the Com-
pany accounted for a change in accounting policy 
and respectively adjusted its financial statements 

retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 for better 
comparison with prior year period. The Group had 
previously accounted for the Class A Warrants and 
Class B Warrants as an equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangement under IFRS 2 as they were 
considered part of the deemed issuance of equity 
instruments to acquire Lakestar SPAC. In line with 
the guidance provided in the IFRS IC agenda deci-
sion the Group considers the warrants as assumed 
and classifies the Class A Warrants and Class B War-
rants as financial liabilities by applying IAS 32 since 
the “fixed-for-fixed” condition in IAS 32.22 is not ful-
filled as warrants contain a net settlement feature. 
The warrants are no longer considered as deemed 
consideration but as part of the net assets acquired.
 
Calculation of IFRS 2 non-cash listing service expense 
(de-SPAC transaction) as of September 21, 2021:

The retrospective change in accounting policy has 
no impact on the total amount of the IFRS 2 non-
cash listing service expense of the de-SPAC transac-
tion. Following the change in the classification of 
Class A and Class B Warrants, HomeToGo GmbH’s 

shares deemed issued amount to EUR 215.9 million 
and Lakestar SPAC’s net assets amount to EUR 145.5 
million resulting in an IFRS 2 non-cash listing service 
expense of EUR 70.4 million.

FAIR VALUE IN EUR 
MILLION AS PREVIOUSLY REPORTED ADJUSTMENTS AS ADJUSTED

Class A Shares (19.8 
million shares at EUR 
8.98 per share)

177.6 – 177.6

Class A Warrants (9.2 
million warrants at 
EUR 0.80 per warrant)

7.3 (7.3) –

Class B2 Shares (2.3 
million shares at EUR 
8.45 per share)

19.4 – 19.4

Class B3 Shares (2.3 
million shares at EUR 
8.23 per share)

18.9 – 18.9

Class B Warrants (5.3 
million warrants at 
EUR 2.34 per warrant)

12.5 (12.5) –

HomeToGo GmbH’s 
shares and warrants 
deemed issued

235.7 (19.8) 215.9

Less:

Lakestar SPAC’s net 
assets

165.3 (19.8) 145.5

IFRS 2 non-cash listing 
service expense

70.4 – 70.4
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The classification of the warrants as a financial liabil-
ity requires measurement at fair value, with non-cash 
fair value adjustments recorded in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehen-
sive Income under Finance income and expenses. 

For further information regarding the valuation of war-
rants please refer to Note 34 - Financial instruments.

(IN EUR THOUSANDS)
DECEMBER 

31, 2022
DECEMBER 

31, 2021

(In EUR) per Option

Class A Warrants 0.10 0.71

Class B Warrants 0.10 0.71

(in EUR thousands)
 total value

Class A Warrants 901 6,472

Class B Warrants 524 3,766

Total Class A and 
Class B Warrants 1,425 10,238 Impact on basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS):

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2021
(IN EUR THOUSANDS)

IMPACT OF CHANGE IN 
ACCOUNTING POLICY

As previously 
reported

As adjusted

Basic and diluted 
earnings (loss) per share (2.09) (2.22)

Valuation of Class A and Class B Warrants
The classification of warrants has been changed ret-
rospectively as a change in accounting policy by 
adjusting each of the affected financial statement 
line items for the prior period, as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (extract):
DECEMBER 31, 
2022 (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

IMPACT OF CHANGE IN 
ACCOUNTING POLICY

As 
previously 
reported

Adjustments As 
adjusted

Other financial 
liabilities 
(non-current)

12,954 10,238 23,192

Deferred tax 
liabilities 3,874 – 3,874

Total liabilities 64,596 10,238 74,834

Retained 
Earnings (279,444) (10,238) (289,682)

Total equity 300,687 (10,238) 290,449

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income (extract):

FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 
2021 (IN EUR 
THOUSANDS)

IMPACT OF 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING 

POLICY

As 
previously 
reported

Adjustments As 
adjusted

Finance 
income 2,833 9,602 12,435

Finance 
expenses (38,964) (19,839) (58,803)

Income taxes (202) –

Net loss (166,789) (10,238) 177,025

The change did not have an impact on OCI for the 
prior periods presented or the Group’s operating, 
investing, or financing cash flows for the prior peri-
ods presented.
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36. subsequent events after 
the reporting period
No significant events occurred between the end of 
the reporting period and the date that the financial 
statements are authorized for issue.

Luxembourg, March 29, 2023 
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin Gruber
COO

steffen schneider
CFO

dr. Patrick andrae 
Co-founder & CEO



We, Dr. Patrick Andrae, Wolfgang Heigl, Valentin Gru-
ber and Steffen Schneider assure, to the best of our 
knowledge, that the consolidated financial state-
ments which have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union,  give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of HomeToGo SE and the undertak-

ings included in the consolidation taken as a whole 
and that the combined management report includes 
a fair review of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of HomeToGo SE 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole, together with a description of the 
material risks and opportunities associated with the 
expected development of the Group.

Responsibility statement 
of the management Board
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Luxembourg, March 29, 2023 
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin Gruber
COO

steffen schneider
CFO

dr. Patrick andrae 
Co-founder & CEO



To the Shareholders of 
HomeToGo SE 
19, rue de Bitbourg
L-1273 Luxembourg

Report on the audit of  
the consolidated financial  
statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments of HomeToGo SE and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as at December 31, 2022, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated fi-
nancial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 
December 31, 2022, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended  in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by 
the European Union. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with EU Reg-
ulation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 on the 
audit profession (“Law of July 23, 2016”) and with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the “Commission de 
Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (“CSSF”). Our re-
sponsibilities under the EU Regulation Nº 537/2014, 
the Law of July 23, 2016 and ISAs as adopted for Lux-
embourg by the CSSF are further described in the 
“Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 

for the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments” section of our report. We are also independ-
ent of the Group in accordance with the Internation-
al Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, 
including International Independence Standards, is-
sued by the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”) as adopted for Luxem-
bourg by the CSSF together with the ethical require-
ments that are relevant to our audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements, and have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities under those ethical re-
quirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our opinion.

 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Revenues

Description
Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 
were EUR 146.8 million, of which EUR 92.6 million cor-
responding to Click Per Action (“CPA”) transactions, 
where the Group receives a percentage-based com-
mission for successful onsite or offsite booking refer-
rals. CPA revenue is recognized upon check-in of the 
traveler, when the Group’s performance obligation is 
satisfied.
 
Revenue recognition for CPA is a complex matter 
due to the high number of low-value transactions 
and the variety of billing terms in the customer con-
tracts which gives rise to an elevated risk of account-
ing errors. In light of the significance and the large 
number of individual transactions recorded, we as-
sessed that revenue recognition for CPA transac-
tions is a key audit matter.

independent auditor’s report
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Auditor’s response

We have performed the following audit procedures:
We analyzed the accounting policies applied in 
the consolidated financial statements for 
revenue recognition in terms of the five-step 
model defined in IFRS 15 “Revenue form con-
tracts with customers”.
We verified the processes and internal controls 
implemented by Management for the recogni-
tion of CPA revenue.
We obtained an understanding of IT systems 
involved in revenue recognition for CPA  
transactions.
We tested the end-to-end reconciliation between 
the IT systems involved in revenue recognition 
with the general ledger and validated material 
journals processed.

Business combinations

Accounting for business combinations
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
group completed the following acquisitions as de-
tailed in Note 6: e-domizil, SECRA, and AMIVAC. Net 
assets acquired were respectively EUR 15 million, 
EUR 8 million and EUR 4 million.

The management assessed, with the assistance of 
third party valuation specialists, the fair value of 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

We considered the business combinations to be a 
key audit matter, because of the materiality of the 
amounts involved.

Auditor’s response

We have performed the following audit procedures:
we tested controls over management’s evalua-
tion of the purchase contract for terms and 
conditions that would impact the accounting 
and the identification, recognition and measure-
ment of the intangible assets, including the 
controls over the determination of the signifi-
cant assumptions used to develop estimates of 
fair value. 
We inspected the purchase agreement and 
evaluated the terms and conditions and ma-
nagement’s accounting for such terms and 
conditions in its purchase accounting.
With the support of our valuation specialists we 
tested the Company’s assumptions regarding 
the best estimate of the fair value of identified 
intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment. 
We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures 
provided by the group in the notes in relation to 
its acquisitions.

Other information

The Management  Board is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Combined Management 
Report and the corporate governance statement but 
does not include the consolidated financial state-
ments and our report of “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé” thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowl-
edge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are re-
quired to report this fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the Management 
Board and of those charged with go-
vernance for the consolidated financial 
statements
The Management Board is responsible for the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the European Union, and for such inter-
nal control as the Management Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Management Board is also responsible for pre-
senting and marking up the consolidated financial 
statements in compliance with the requirements 
set out in the Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on Eu-
ropean Single Electronic Format, as amended (“ESEF 
Regulation”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the Management Board is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless the Management Board either in-
tends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entre-
prises agréé” for the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements  

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error, and to is-
sue a report of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an au-
dit conducted in accordance with EU Regulation N° 
537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with the ISAs 
as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Mis-
statements can arise from fraud or error and are con-
sidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with EU Regulation 
N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

Identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misre-
presentations, or the override of internal control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circums-
tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accoun-
ting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Management Board. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of Manage-
ment Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are requi-
red to draw attention in our report of the 
“réviseur d’entreprises agréé” to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our report of the “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé”. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial state-
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The corporate governance statement, included in 
the combined management report, is the responsi-
bility of the Management Board. The information re-
quired by article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) 
of the law of December 19, 2022 on the commercial 
and companies register and on the accounting re-
cords and annual accounts of undertakings, as 
amended, is consistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements and has been prepared in accord-
ance with applicable legal requirements.

We have checked the compliance of the consolidat-
ed financial statements of the Group as at Decem-
ber 31, 2022 with relevant statutory requirements set 
out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to the 
financial statements. For the Group, it relates to:

Financial statements prepared in valid xHTML 
format; 
The XBRL markup of the consolidated financial 
statements using the core taxonomy and the 
common rules on markups specified in the ESEF 
Regulation.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group as at December 31, 2022, identified as 
ashtg-2022-12-31-en.zip, have been prepared, in all 
material respects, in compliance with the require-
ments laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent with 
the additional report to the audit committee or 
equivalent.

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in EU Regulation No 537/2014 were not 
provided and that we remained independent of the 
Group in conducting the audit.

Ernst & Young
Société anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

Yves Even
Luxembourg, March 29, 2023
 

ments, including the disclosures, and whether 
the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 
Assess whether the consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared, in all material 
respects, in compliance with the requirements 
laid down in the ESEF Regulation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
entities and business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the 
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govern-
ance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-
ternal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant eth-
ical requirements regarding independence, and com-
municate to them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consol-
idated financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
We have been appointed as “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé” by the General Meeting of the Shareholders 
on May 24, 2022, and the duration of our uninter-
rupted engagement, including previous renewals 
and reappointments, is 3 years.

The combined management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 
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Profit and loss Account

(IN EUR) REFERENCE(S) CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEAR

1. Net turnover

2. Variation in stocks of finished goods and in work in progress

3.  Work performed by the undertaking for its own purposes and 
capitalised

4. Other operating income

5. Raw materials and consumables and other external expenses (4,389,156.51) (16,806,386.74)

 a) Raw materials and consumables

 b) Other external expenses 7 (4,389,156.51) (16,806,386.74)

6. Staff costs

 a) Wages and salaries

 b) Social security costs

  i) relating to pensions

  ii) other social security costs

 c) Other staff costs

7. Value adjustments

 a)  in respect of formation expenses and of tangible and 
intangible fixed assets

 b) in respect of current assets

8. Other operating expenses 8 (579,787.49) (671,229.09)

9. Income from participating interests

 a) derived from affiliated undertakings

 b) other income from participating interests

10.  Income from other investments and loans forming part of 
the fixed assets

 a) derived from affiliated undertakings

 b)  other income not included under a)

11. Other interest receivable and similar income 186.92 15,860.30

 a) derived from affiliated undertakings 15,808.24

 b)  other income not included under a) 186.92 52.06

12.  Share of profit or loss of undertakings accounted for under 
the equity method

13.  Value adjustments in respect of financial assets and of 
 investments held as current assets

3,4 (320,559,746.00) –

14. Interest payable and similar expenses (15,731,266.76) (273,655.38)

 a) concerning affiliated undertakings (3,945.22)

 b) other interest and similar expenses 9 (15,731,266.76) (269,710.16)

15. Tax on profit or loss

16. Profit or loss after taxation (341,259,769.84) (17,735,410.91)

17. Other taxes not shown under items 1 to 16 (12,732.70) (4,815.00)

18. Profit or loss for the financial year (341,272,502.54) (17,740,225.91)
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Balance sheet

(IN EUR) REFERENCE(S) CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEAR

A. Subscribed capital unpaid

 I. Subscribed capital not called

 II. Subscribed capital called but unpaid

B. Formation expenses

C. Fixed assets 833,297,994.59 1,088,636,518.22

 I. Intangible Assets

  1. Costs of development

  2.  Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks and similar 
rights and assets, if they were

   a)  acquired for valuable consideration and need not be 
shown under C.I.3

   b) created by the undertaking itself

  3.  Goodwill, to the extent that it was acquired for valuable 
consideration

  4.  Payments on account and intangible assets under 
development

 II. Tangible assets

  1. Land and buildings

  2. Plant and machinery

  3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment

  4.  Payments on account and tangible assets in the course of 
construction

 III. Financial assets 3 833,297,994.59 1,088,636,518.22

  1. Shares in affiliated undertakings 833,294,994.59 1,088,636,518.22

  2. Loans to affiliated undertakings

  3. Participating interests

  4.  Loans to undertakings with which the undertaking is 
linked by virtue of participating interests

  5. Investments held as fixed assets

  6. Other loans 3,000.00

D. Current assets 19,851,525.73 105,605,861.84

 I. Stocks

  1. Raw materials and consumables

  2. Work in progress

  3.  Finished goods and goods for resale

  4. Payments on account

 II. Debtors 20,152.43 7,735.00

  1. Trade debtors

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

table continues →
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(IN EUR) REFERENCE(S) CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEAR

  3.  Amounts owed by undertakings with which the undertak-
ing is linked by virtue of participating interests

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  4. Other debtors 20,152.43 7,735.00

   a) becoming due and payable within one year 20,152.43 7,735.00

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

 III. Investments 18,218,356.53 102,692,447.53

Shares in affiliated undertakings

  2. Own shares 4 18,218,356.53 102,692,447.53

  3 Other investments

 IV. Cash at bank and in hand 1,613,016.77 2,905,679.31

E. Prepayments 719,254.96 688,981.82

Total (Assets) 853,868,775.28 1,194,931,361.88

(IN EUR) REFERENCE(S) CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEAR

A. Capital and reserves 5 851,845,687.24 1,193,118,189.78

 I. Subscribed capital 2,441,068.45 2,441,068.45

 II. Share premium account 1,097,265,857.10 1,097,265,857.10

 III. Revaluation reserve

 IV. Reserves 112,195,410.42 112,195,410.42

  1. Legal reserve

  2. Reserve for own shares 18,218,356,53 102,692,447.53

  3. Reserves provided for by the articles of association 280,065.00 280,065.00

  4. Other reserves, including the fair value reserve 93,696,988.89 9,222,897.89

   a) other available reserves 84,474,091.00

   b) other non available reserves 9,222,897.89 9,222,897.89

 V. Profit or loss brought forward (18,784,146.19) (1,043,920.28)

 VI. Profit or loss for the financial year (341,272,502.54) (17,740,225.91)

 VII. Interim dividends

 VIII. Capital investment subsidies 

B. Provisions

  1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

  2. Provisions for taxation

  3. Other provisions

C. Creditors 6 2,023,088.04 1,813,172.10

  1. Debenture loans

   a) Convertible loans

    i) becoming due and payable within one year

    ii) becoming due and payable after more than one year

table continues →
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   b) Non convertible loans

    i) becoming due and payable within one year

    ii) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  2. Amounts owed to credit institutions 6.71

   a) becoming due and payable within one year 6.71

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  3.  Payments received on account of orders in so far as they 
are not shown separately as deductions from stocks

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  4. Trade creditors 1,386,732.73 1,338,845.22

   a) becoming due and payable within one year 1,386,732.73 1,338,845.22

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  5. Bills of exchange payable

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 160,074.94 346,217.49

   a) becoming due and payable within one year 160,074.94 346,217.49

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  7.  Amounts owed to undertakings with which the undertak-
ing is linked by virtue of participating interests

   a) becoming due and payable within one year

   b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

  8. Other creditors 476,280.37 128,102.68

   a) Tax authorities 117,974.28 4,815.00

   b) Social security authorities

   c) Other creditors 358,306.09 123,287.68

    i) becoming due and payable within one year 358,306.09 123,287.68

    ii) becoming due and payable after more than one year – –

D. Deferred income

Total (CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES) 853,868,775.28 1,194,931,361.88
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1. General
HomeToGo SE (formerly known as Lakestar SPAC I 
SE) was incorporated in Luxembourg as a société eu-
ropéenne (“SE”) on November 26, 2020, subject to 
the Luxembourg law of August 10, 1915 on commer-
cial companies for an unlimited period of time. The 
Company has its registered office at 9, rue de Bitbourg, 
L-1273 Luxembourg. The Company is registered with 
the “Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés” (“RCS”) 
in Luxembourg under the number B249273 on De-
cember 4, 2020. The Company is a listed entity with 
its class A shares traded in the regulated market of 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “HTG” 
since February 22, 2021. Likewise, the Company’s class 
A Warrants are also traded on the open market of the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “HTGW”.

The Company’s purpose is the acquisition of one 
operating business with principal business opera-
tions in a member state of the European Economic 
Area or the United Kingdom or Switzerland that is 
based in the technology sector with a focus on the 
sub-sectors software as a service (SaaS), Fintech, 
transportation, and logistics, healthtech and deep 
tech through a merger, capital stock exchange, share 
purchase, asset acquisition, reorganization or similar 
transaction (the “Business Combination”). 

After the closing of the Business Combination, the 
Company’s purpose shall be as from such time, the 
creation, holding, development and realization of a 
portfolio, consisting of interests and rights of any 
kind and of any other form of investment in entities 
in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and in foreign 
entities, whether such entities exist or are to be cre-
ated, especially by the way of subscription, by pur-

chase, sale or exchange of securities or rights of any 
kind whatsoever, such as equity instruments, debt 
instruments as well as the administration and control 
of such portfolio. 

The Company may further grant any form of securi-
ty for the performance of any obligations of the 
Company or of any entity in which it holds a direct or 
indirect interest or right of any kind or in which the 
Company has invested in any other manner or which 
forms part of the same group of the entities as the 
Company and lend funds or otherwise assist any en-
tity in which it holds a direct or indirect interest or 
right of any kind or in which the Company has in-
vested in any other manner or which forms part of 
the same group of companies as the Company.  

The Company may borrow in any form and may is-
sue any kind of notes, bonds and debentures and 
generally issue any debt, equity and/or hybrid secu-
rities in accordance with Luxembourg law. 

The Company may carry out any commercial, indus-
trial, financial, real estate or intellectual property ac-
tivities which it considers useful for the accomplish-
ment of these purposes.

The Company’s financial year runs from January 1 to 
December 31.

The Company also prepares consolidated financial 
statements which are published under International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Eu-
ropean Union.

HometoGo sE 
notes to the Annual Accounts 
for the year ended  December 31, 
2022 (Expressed in EuR)
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2. summary of significant 
accounting policies
2.1. Basis of preparation
These annual accounts have been prepared in con-
formity with applicable legal and statutory require-
ments in Luxembourg under the historical cost con-
vention and on a going concern basis.

The accounting and valuation methods are deter-
mined and implemented by the Management Board, 
apart from the regulations of the law of December 
19, 2002. The preparation of these annual accounts 
requires the use of certain critical accounting esti-
mates. It also requires the Management Board to ex-
ercise significant judgment in the process of apply-
ing the accounting policies. Changes in assumptions 
may have a significant impact on the annual ac-
counts in the period in which the assumptions 
changed. The Management Board believes that the 
underlying assumptions are appropriate and that 
the annual accounts therefore present fairly the fi-
nancial position and results.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil-
ities in the next financial year. Estimates and judg-
ments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

2.2. Significant Accounting Policies 

The following are the significant accounting policies 
and valuation rules adopted by the Company in the 
preparation of these annual accounts.

2.2.1. Foreign Currency Translation
The Company maintains its books and records in 
Euro (“EUR”). The balance sheet and the profit and 
loss account are expressed in EUR.

Translation of foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
EUR using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions.

Translation of foreign currency balances as at the 
balance sheet date

Financial assets denominated in currencies other 
than EUR are translated at the historical ex-
change rates; 
Other assets denominated in currencies other 
than EUR are translated at the lower between 
the exchange rate prevailing at the balance 
sheet date and historical exchange rate;
Debts denominated in currencies other than 
EUR are translated at the higher between the 
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet 
date and historical exchange rate; and
Cash at bank and in hand denominated in curren-
cies other than EUR are translated at the exchange 
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. 

As a result, realized exchange gains and losses and 
unrealized exchange losses are recorded in the prof-
it and loss account. Unrealized exchange gains are 
only recognized if they arise from cash at bank and 
in hand.

2.2.2. Formation expenses
Formation expenses include costs and expenses in-
curred in connection with the incorporation of the 
Company and subsequent capital increases. Forma-
tion expenses are charged to the profit and loss ac-
count of the year in which they were incurred.

2.2.3. Financial assets
Shares in affiliated undertakings are valued at acqui-
sition cost including the expenses incidental there-
to. Other loans held as fixed assets are valued at 
nominal value.

In case of durable decline in value according to the 
opinion of the Management Board, impairments are 
made in respect of financial assets so that these are 
valued at the lower figure to be attributed at the bal-
ance sheet date. These impairments are reversed if 
the reasons for which the value adjustments were 
made ceased to apply.

2.2.4. Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash at banks 
and on hand and short-term highly liquid deposits 
with a maturity of three months or less, that are read-
ily convertible to a known amount of cash and sub-
ject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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2.2.5. Debtors
Debtors are recorded at their nominal value. These 
are subject to value adjustments where their recov-
ery is compromised. These value adjustments are 
not continued if the reasons for which the value ad-
justments were made ceased to apply.

2.2.6. Own shares
Own shares are valued at acquisition cost. These are 
subject to value adjustments where their recovery is 
compromised. These value adjustments are not con-
tinued if the reasons for which the value adjustments 
were made ceased to apply.

2.2.7. Prepayment 
Prepayments include expenditure items incurred 
during the financial year but relating to a subsequent 
financial year.

2.2.8. Provisions
Provisions are intended to cover losses or debts 
which originate in the financial year under review or 
in the previous financial year, the nature of which is 
clearly defined and which, at the date of the balance 
sheet, are either likely to be incurred or certain to be 
incurred but uncertain as to their amount or the date 
they will arise.

Provisions for taxation
Provisions for taxation corresponding to the tax lia-
bility estimated by the Company for the financial 
years for which the tax return has not yet been filed 
are recorded under the caption “Creditors becom-
ing due and payable within one year”. The advance 
payments are shown in the assets of the balance 
sheet under the “Debtors becoming due and paya-
ble within one year” item.

2.2.9. Creditors
Creditors are recorded at their reimbursement value. 
Where the amount repayable on account is greater 
than the amount received, the related repayment 
premium is shown in the balance sheet as an asset 
and is amortized over the period of the related debt 
on a straight-line method.

2.2.10. Operating income and expenses
Income and expenses are accounted for on an ac-
crual basis.

2.2.11. Income tax
The Company is subject to income taxes in  
Luxembourg.

2.3. Comparative figures

The figures for the year ended December 31, 2021 
related to other available reserves has been reclassi-
fied to other non-available reserves to ensure com-
parability with the figures for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2022.
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3. Financial assets

Movements in financial assets during the financial year are as follows:

(IN EUR) SHARES IN AFFILIATED 
UNDERTAKINGS 

OTHER LOANS TOTAL  

Gross book value – opening balance 1,088,636,518.22 - 1,088,636,518.22

Additions for the year 6,350,292.60 3,000.00 6,353,292.60

Merger impact (528,281.23) - (528,281.23)

Repayments for the year (3,000,000.00) - (3,000,000.00)

Gross book value – closing balance 1,091,458,529.59 3,000.00 1,091,461,529.59

Accumulated value adjustment – 
opening balance

- - -

Allocation of value adjustments 
for the year

(258,163,535.00) - (258,163,535.00)

Reversals of value adjustments 
for the year

- - -

Accumulated value adjustment – 
 closing balance

- - -

Net book value – opening balance 1,088,636,518.22 - 1,088,636,518.22

Net book value – closing balance 833,294,994.59 3,000.00 833,297,994.59

Shares in affiliated undertakings

On March 29, 2022, the Company merged with the 
subsidiary LS I Advisors GmbH & Co. KG via accre-
tion. The Company had assumed all the assets and 
liabilities LS I Advisors GmbH & Co. KG.

On March 30, 2022, HomeToGo GmbH and LS I Advi-
sors Verwaltungs GmbH entered into a merger agree-
ment, in which HomeToGo GmbH has acquired all the 
assets and liabilities effective December 31, 2021.

On March 31, 2022, the Company issued 700,000 
Class A Shares from the treasury shares as part of 
the consideration to acquire e-domizil GmbH via 
HomeToGo GmbH. The fair value of the class A 
shares issued is EUR 1,957,900.00.

On June 1, 2022, the Company issued 452,148 Class 
A Shares from the treasury shares as part of the con-
sideration to acquire SECRA GmbH and SECRA 
Booking GmbH via HomeToGo GmbH. The fair value 
of the class A shares issued is EUR 1,862,849.76.

On August 18, 2022, HomeToGo GmbH repaid 
EUR 3,000,000.00 from its capital reserves to the 
 Company.

Subsequent to the business combination complet-
ed on September 21, 2021, the claims under the vir-
tual options provided by HomeToGo GmbH to cer-
tain beneficiaries are to be settled in exchange of 
the Company’s shares.  During the year, the Compa-
ny issued 1,055,640 Class A Shares from its treasury 
shares with a value of EUR 2,529,542.84 as settlement 
of the virtual options. This resulted to a claim of the 
Company against HomeToGo GmbH equivalent to 
the value of the settlement. On December 22, 2022, 
the Company and HomeToGo GmbH entered in a 
waiver agreement to release HomeToGo GmbH from 
its debt. The waiver of debt was considered as contri-
bution to the capital reserves of HomeToGo GmbH.



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

200 AnnuAl  Accounts 

Shares in affiliated undertakings in which the Company holds at least 20% share capital are as follows:

NAME OF 
UNDER TAKINGS

REGISTERED 
OFFICE

OWNER-
SHIP % / 

CONTRI BUTION

COST OF 
ACQUISITION

LAST 
 BALANCE 

SHEET DATE

NET EQUITY AS 
AT 31/12/2022

PROFIT/(LOSS) 
AS AT 

31/12/2022
(IN EUR)

HomeToGo 
GmbH

Pappelallee 
78/79, 

10437 Berlin, 
Germany

100% 1,091,458,529.59 31.12.2022 253,921,583.50 (55,800,997.61)

*unaudited

The Management Board identified a permanent val-
ue adjustment within financial assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. Therefore, an adjustment 

The Company also transferred 1,055,640 Class A 
Shares from treasury shares at issuance cost of 
EUR 10,556,400.00 in settlement of the virtual op-
tions of HomeToGo GmbH (note 3).

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has 
EUR 80,614,567.53 in treasury represented by 
8,061,526 Class A Shares (2021: EUR 102,692,447.53; 
10,269,314 Class A Shares).

The Management Board identified a permanent val-
ue adjustment within the own shares for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. Therefore, an impairment 
of the own shares amounting to EUR 62,396,211.00 
has been recognized.

4. own shares
On September 21, 2021, the Company redeemed 
10,061,942 Class A Shares at EUR 10.00 per share as 
requested by the shareholders in connection with 
the HomeToGo Business Combination.

On the same date, the Company redeemed 207,372 
Class A Shares (formerly Class B1 Shares) with re-
spect to the Additional Sponsor Subscription for an 
amount of EUR 2,073,027.53 that was used to cover 
the negative interest on the escrow.

During the year, the Company transferred 1,152,148 
Class A Shares from the treasury shares at issuance 
cost of EUR 11,521,480.00, as part of the acquisition 
of certain companies via HomeToGo GmbH (note 3). 

impairment of the financial assets amounting to 
EUR 258,163,535.00 has been recognized.
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Subscribed Capital and Share premium
As at December 31, 2022, the subscribed capital of 
the Company amounts to EUR 2,441,068.45 repre-
sented by 122,555,649 Class A Shares, 2,291,667 Class 
B2 Shares and 2,291,666 Class B3 Shares, without 
nominal value. The authorized capital, excluding the 
issued share capital, is set at  EUR 8,811,571.55 con-
sisting of 458,996,018 class A shares.

Convertible class B shares
Upon and following the completion of the Business 
Combination, the class B shares existing at that point 
in time shall automatically be converted to Class A 
Shares, on the ratio of one to one, as follows:

i) Class B1 Shares converted into class A shares on 
the trading day following the consummation of the 
Business Combination;
ii) Class B2 Shares converted into Class A Shares on 
the date, post consummation of the Business 
Combination, on which the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any 10 trading days within a 
30 day trading period exceeds EUR 12.00 and;
iii) Class B3 Shares converted into Class A Shares on 
the date, post consummation of the Business 
Combination, on which the closing price of the 
Class A Shares for any 10 trading days within a 
30 day trading period exceeds EUR 14.00.

The Class B1 Shares were converted to Class A 
Shares during the year ended December 31, 2021. 
The Class B Shares are not listed on a stock  exchange.

Class A shares
Class A shares are listed in the Frankfurt Stock Ex-
change and has an International Securities Identifi-
cation Numbers of LU2290524383.

Share premium
During the year, no movement on the share premi-
um account occurred.

Legal reserve
In accordance with Luxembourg law, the Company 
is required to allocate a minimum of 5% of its net 
profits for each financial year to a legal reserve. This 
requirement ceases to be necessary once the bal-
ance on the legal reserve reaches 10% of the sub-
scribed capital. The legal reserve is not available for 
distribution to the shareholders.

Reserves for own shares
The Company purchased its own shares during the 
year 2021 as shown in the balance sheet as Own 
shares (note 4). Accordingly, the Company has pro-
vided a non-distributable reserve in accordance with 
the Luxembourg law for an amount equivalent to the 
acquisition cost. 

The amount of the reserve for own shares decreased 
for an amount of EUR 11,521,480.00 during the year 

(IN EUR) 
SUBSCRIBED 

CAPITAL
SHARE PREMI-
UM ACCOUNT

RESERVE FOR 
OWN SHARES

OTHER 
 RESERVES 

AVAILABLE FOR 
DISTRIBUTION

RESERVES PROVIDED 
FOR BY THE ARTICLES 

OF ASSOCIATION
OTHER NON- 

AVAILABLE RESERVES
PROFIT OR LOSS 

BROUGHT FORWARD
PROFIT OR LOSS FOR 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR TOTAL

Opening balance 2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 102,692,447.53 - 280,065.00 9,222,897.89 (1,043,920.28) (17,740,225.91) 1,193,118,189.78

Other movements* - - (84,474,091.00) 84,474,091.00 - - - - -

Allocation of previous year’s results to profit or 
loss brought forward - - - - - - (17,740,225.91) 17,740,225.91 -

Results for the financial year - - - - - - - (341,272,502.54) (341,272,502.54)

Closing balance 2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 18,218,356.53 84,474,091.00 280,065.00 9,222,897.89 (18,784,146.19) (341,272,502.54) 851,845,687.24

5. capital and reserves 
Movements during the year are as follows:

* Reserve for own shares was aligned to the value of own shares, following movements occurred during the 
period (refer to note 4 Own shares and note 3 Financial assets)
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due to the reissuance of treasury shares in order to 
allow the acquisition of e-domizil GmbH and SECRA 
GmbH and SECRA Bookings GmbH by HomeToGo 
GmbH (note 3). The amount of the reserve is also 
decreased for an amount of EUR 10,556,400.00 due 
to the settlement of virtual options (note 3). Moreo-
ver, an impairment of EUR 62,396,211 has been rec-
ognized (note 4). The reserves for own shares was 
accordingly aligned to the final value of own shares 
as of December 31, 2022, EUR 18,218,357.00. 

Reserves provided for by the articles of association – 
Warrant reserve
Pursuant to Article 31 of the Articles of Association, 
the Management Board shall create a specific reserve 
in respect of the exercise of any Class A Warrants or 
Class B Warrants issued by the Company and allocate 
and transfer sums contributed to the share premium 
and/or any other distributable reserve of the Compa-
ny to such Warrant Reserve. The Management Board 
may, at any time, fully or partially convert amounts 
contributed to such Warrant Reserve to pay for the 
subscription price of any Class A Shares to be issued 
further to an exercise of Class A Warrants or Class B 
Warrants issued by the Company. Only in case of fail-
ure by the Company to secure a Business Combina-
tion before the expiry of the imparted time, the War-
rant Reserve may be used for redemption of Class A 
Shares, in case where other available reserves are not 
sufficient. The Warrant Reserve is not distributable or 
convertible prior to the exercise, redemption or expi-
ration of all outstanding Class A Warrants and Class B 

Warrants and may only be used to pay for the Class A 
Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of such Class A 
Warrants and Class B Warrants; thereupon, the War-
rant Reserve will be a distributable reserve.

On February 15, 2021, the Management Board resolved 
to allocated EUR 280,065.00 to the warrant reserve.

Other reserves available for distribution
During the year, the amount of other reserves availa-
ble for distribution increased for an amount of 
EUR 11,521,480.00 during the year due to the reissu-
ance of treasury shares in order to allow the acquisi-
tion of e-domizil GmbH, SECRA GmbH and SECRA 
Holding GmbH by HomeToGo GmbH (note 3). The 
amount of the reserve is also decreased for an 
amount of EUR 10,556,400.00 due to the settlement 
of virtual options (note 3). 

Other reserves
Other reserves refer to the Class A and B Warrants.

Class A Warrants
On February 19, 2021, the Company issued 9,166,666 
Class A Warrants together with the redeemable 
class A shares (together, as “unit”) for an aggregate 
price of EUR 10.00 per unit. Class A Warrants has ISIN 
of LU2290524383. Each Class A Warrants entitles its 
holder to subscribe for one Class A Shares, with a 
stated exercise price of EUR 11.50, subject to cus-
tomary anti-dilution adjustments. Holders of Class A 
Warrants can exercise the Warrants on a cashless 

(IN EUR) 
SUBSCRIBED 

CAPITAL
SHARE PREMI-
UM ACCOUNT

RESERVE FOR 
OWN SHARES

OTHER 
 RESERVES 

AVAILABLE FOR 
DISTRIBUTION

RESERVES PROVIDED 
FOR BY THE ARTICLES 

OF ASSOCIATION
OTHER NON- 

AVAILABLE RESERVES
PROFIT OR LOSS 

BROUGHT FORWARD
PROFIT OR LOSS FOR 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR TOTAL

Opening balance 2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 102,692,447.53 - 280,065.00 9,222,897.89 (1,043,920.28) (17,740,225.91) 1,193,118,189.78

Other movements* - - (84,474,091.00) 84,474,091.00 - - - - -

Allocation of previous year’s results to profit or 
loss brought forward - - - - - - (17,740,225.91) 17,740,225.91 -

Results for the financial year - - - - - - - (341,272,502.54) (341,272,502.54)

Closing balance 2,441,068.45 1,097,265,857.10 18,218,356.53 84,474,091.00 280,065.00 9,222,897.89 (18,784,146.19) (341,272,502.54) 851,845,687.24
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basis unless the Company elects to require exercise 
against payment in cash of the exercise price. 

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the value of the oth-
er reserves related to Class A Warrants is EUR 91,666.66.

Class A Warrants may only be exercised for a whole 
number of shares. No fractional shares will be issued 
upon exercise of the Class A Warrants. Class A War-
rants will become exercisable 30 days after the com-
pletion of a Business Combination. Class A Warrants 
expire five years from the date of the consummation 
of the Business Combination, or earlier upon re-
demption or liquidation. The Company may redeem 
Class A Warrants upon at least 30 days’ notice at a 
redemption price of EUR 0.01 per Class A Warrant (i) 
if the closing price of its Class A Shares for any 20 
out of the 30 consecutive trading days following the 
consummation of the Business Combination equals 
or exceeds EUR 18.00 or (ii) if the closing price of its 
class A shares for any 20 out of the 30 consecutive 
trading days following the consummation of the 
Business Combination equals or exceeds EUR 10.00 
but is below EUR 18.00, adjusted for adjustments to 
the number of Class A Shares issuable upon exercise 
or the exercise price of Class A Share as described in 
the prospectus. Holders of Class A Warrants may ex-
ercise them after the redemption notice is given.

Class B Warrants
On February 18, 2021, the Company issued 5,333,333 
Class B Warrants at a price of EUR 1.50 per warrant. 
The proceeds from the Class B Warrants are used to 
finance the Company’s working capital require-

ments, private placement and listing expenses (ex-
cept for fixed deferred listing commission). The 
Founders agreed to set off EUR 1,500,000.00 of the 
shareholder loan (note 6) against the subscription 
price of the Warrants. The Founders paid an addi-
tional subscription price of EUR 3,200,000.00 to cov-
er the remuneration of the members of the Manage-
ment Board of the Company and due diligence 
costs in relation to the Business Combination. The 
excess portion of the additional subscription price 
was repaid to the Founders subsequent to the con-
summation of HomeToGo Business Combination 
amounting to EUR 2,068,944.19.

On February 19, 2021, the Company issued 260,000 
redeemable Class B1 Shares together with 86,666 
Class B Warrants, for an aggregate price of EUR 
2,600,000.00 (“Additional Sponsor Subscription”). 
The proceeds from this Additional Sponsor Subscrip-
tion is used to cover the negative interest, if any on 
the cash held in escrow. The excess portion of the 
Additional Sponsor Subscription remaining after the 
consummation of the Business Combination was re-
paid to the Founders through the redemption of the 
respective Class B1 Shares (note 4) and  Warrants.

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the value of the oth-
er reserves related to Class B Warrants is EUR 9,131,231.23.

Class B Warrants are identical to the Class A War-
rants underlying the Units sold in the private place-
ment, except that the Class B Warrants are not re-
deemable and may always be exercised on a cashless 
basis while held by the Founders or their Permitted 
Transferees (defined in the prospectus). Class B 
Warrants are not part of the private placement and is 
not listed on a stock exchange. 
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6. creditors
Creditors becoming due and payable within one 
year are composed of the following:

7. other external expenses
Other external expenses are composed of:

(IN EUR) 2022 2021

Consulting, advisory 
fees and other profes-
sional fees

1,107,335.23 1,475,398.44

Accounting and 
administration fees

1,030,349.46 1,429,923.42

Audit fees 790,138.42 1,604,657.79

Other insurance 657,933.28 273,232.28

Legal fees 587,341.78 1,845,255.76

Listing and agency fees 91,578.35 519,901.24

Travel expenses 69,077.41 -

Bank fees 34,416.27 23,176.11

Other miscellaneous 
external charges

23,463.38 -

Rent 19,513.14 5,265.00

Underwriting fees - 9,000,000.00

Negative interest on the 
bank accounts

- 629,576.70

Merger impact (note 3) (21,990.21) -

Total 4,389,156.51 16,806,386.74

(IN EUR) 2022 2021

Trade creditors and 
accruals

1,386,732.73 1,338,845.22

Other creditors 476,280.97 128,287.68

-  Payable to tax 
authorities

117,974.28 4,815.00

- Payable to directors 339,288.28 123,287.68

- Other creditors 19,018.41 -

Payable to related party 160,074.94 346,217.49

Amounts owed to credit 
institutions

- 6.71

Total 2,023,088.04 1,813,172.10

The total audit fees paid are as follows:

(IN EUR) 2022 2021

Statutory audit of the 
annual accounts

790,138.42 651,810.51

Audit-related fees - 707,147.28

Other fees - 245,700.00

Total 790,138.42 1,604,657.79

8. other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are composed of: 

(IN EUR) 2022 2021

Supervisory board fees 378,184.93 496,499.88

CSSF fees 109,999.98 161,972.52

Non-refundable VAT 91,503.98 -

Other operating 
charges, etc,

98.60 149.77

Supervisory board’s 
expenses

- 12,606.92

Total 579,787.49 671,229.09

9. other interest and similar 
expenses
Other interest and similar expenses are composed of:

(IN EUR) 2022 2021

Loss on disposal of own 
shares 

15,727,587.40 -

Negative interests 3,580.55 269,406.43

Foreign exchange losses 98.81 303.73

Total 15,731,266.76 269,710.16

As at December 31,2022, the company recognized a 
loss related the reissuance of 2,207,788 own shares. 
The Company reissued the own shares for lower 
price than the acquisition cost. This difference is rec-
ognized as a loss in the profit and loss statement. 
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As at December 31, 2022, the Company incurred 
negative interest on its bank account of EUR 3,580.55
(2021: EUR 269,406.43). The remaining amount refers 
to foreign exchange losses.

10. staff 
The Company did not employ any staff during the fi-
nancial year ended on December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

11. Emoluments granted to 
the members of the manage-
ment and supervisory bodies 
and commitments in respect 
of retirement pensions for 
former members of those 
bodies 

The Company granted EUR 378,184.93 to members 
of its Supervisory Board during the financial year 
ended on December 31, 2022 (2021: EUR 496,499.88). 
The Company did not grant any emoluments and 
has no commitments in respect of retirement pen-
sions to members of its Management Board during 
the financial year ended on December 31, 2022 
(2021: nil).

12. Advances and loans 
 granted to the members 
of the management and 
 supervisory bodies 

The Company did not grant any advances or loans to 
members of its Management Board and Supervisory 
Board during the financial year ended on December 
31, 2022 (2021: nil).

13. off-balance sheet 
 commitments
There are no off-balance sheet commitments as of 
December 31, 2022 (2021: None).

14. subsequent events

There are no significant subsequent events after the 
balance sheet date.

Luxembourg, March 29, 2023 
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin Gruber
COO

steffen schneider
CFO

Dr. Patrick Andrae
Co-founder & CEO



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

207AnnuAl  Accounts 

We, Dr. Patrick Andrae, Wolfgang Heigl, Valentin Gru-
ber and Steffen Schneider assure, to the best of our 
knowledge that the annual accounts which have 
been prepared in accordance with the legal require-
ments and generally accepted accounting principles 
applicable in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg,  give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of HomeToGo SE and that 
the combined management report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of HomeToGo SE, togeth-
er with a description of the material risks and oppor-
tunities associated with the expected development 
of the Company.

Responsibility statement 
of the Management Board

Luxembourg, March 29, 2023 
Management Board of HomeToGo SE

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & CSO

Valentin Gruber
COO

steffen schneider
CFO

Dr. Patrick Andrae
Co-founder & CEO



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

208 AnnuAl  Accounts 

To the Shareholders of 
HomeToGo SE (formerly Lakestar SPAC I SE)
19, rue de Bitbourg
L-1273 Luxembourg

Report on the audit of the 
annual accounts

Opinion

We have audited the annual accounts of HomeToGo 
SE (the “Company”), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2022, and the profit and 
loss account for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the annual accounts, including a summary of sig-
nificant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2022, and of the 
results of its operations for the year then ended in 
accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 
requirements relating to the preparation and pres-
entation of the annual accounts. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with EU Reg-
ulation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 on the 
audit profession (“Law of July 23, 2016”) and with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the “Commission de 
Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (“CSSF”). Our 
respon si bilities under the EU Regulation Nº 537/2014, 
the Law of July 23, 2016 and ISAs as adopted for Lux-
embourg by the CSSF are further described in the 
“Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 
for the audit of the annual accounts ” section of our 
report. We are also independent of the Company in 
accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, including International In-
dependence Standards, issued by the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA 
Code”) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF to-
gether with the ethical requirements that are rele-
vant to our audit of the annual accounts, and have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those 
ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evi-
dence we have obtained is sufficient and appropri-
ate to provide a basis for our opinion.

 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the annual accounts of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of the 
audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in form-
ing our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Matter

As of December 31, 2022, the shares in affiliated un-
dertakings amounted to EUR 833 million which rep-
resents 97% of Company’s total assets and an impair-
ment of EUR 258 million was recognized. As detailed 
in Note 3 of the annual accounts, the shares in affili-
ated undertakings are valued at acquisition cost in-
cluding the expenses incidental thereto and value 
adjustments are made in case of a durable deprecia-
tion in value. An Impairment test analysis is per-
formed at year end by the Management in order to 
assess whether a durable depreciation exists on the 
shares in affiliated undertakings. 

Given the materiality and the important judgment 
involved, valuation of shares in affiliated undertak-
ings is a key audit matter.

 

Independent auditor’s report
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Responsibilities of the Management 
Board and of those charged with gover-
nance for the annual accounts

The Management Board is responsible for the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of the annual accounts in 
accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 
requirements relating to the preparation and pres-
entation of the annual accounts, and for such inter-
nal control as the Management Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of annual ac-
counts that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

The Management Board is also responsible for pre-
senting the annual accounts in compliance with the 
requirements set out in the Delegated Regulation 
2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format, as 
amended (“ESEF Regulation”).

In preparing the annual accounts, the Management 
Board is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and us-
ing the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Management Board either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no real-
istic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the “réviseur d’entre-
prises agréé” for the audit of the annual 
accounts 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the annual accounts as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the “rév-
iseur d’entreprises agréé” that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-
ance with EU Regulation N° 537/2014, the Law of July 
23, 2016 and with the ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF will always detect a material misstate-
ment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individu-

Response

We have performed the following audit procedures 
over the valuation of the shares in affiliated under-
takings:

We inspected the impairment test prepared by 
the Management with the support of their 
experts.
We analyzed the methods and assumptions 
retained by Management in the impairment test 
with the support of our experts. 
We tested the valuation model for consistency 
and arithmetical accuracy.
We tested input parameters (such as the 
weighted average cost of capital and the 
long-term growth rate)
We assessed the adequacy of the Company’s 
disclosures in respect of the accounting policies 
on Amounts Owed by Affiliated Undertakings as 
disclosed in Note 3 of the annual accounts.

Other information

The Management Board is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the combined management 
report and the corporate governance statement but 
does not include the annual accounts and our report 
of “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” thereon.

Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, 
our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other infor-
mation is materially inconsistent with the annual ac-
counts or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report this fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the annual accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
Assess whether the annual accounts have been 
prepared, in all material respects, in compliance 
with the requirements laid down in the ESEF 
Regulation.

We communicate with those charged with govern-
ance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in in-
ternal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with rele-
vant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and communicate to them all relationships and oth-
er matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the annual 
accounts of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
report unless law or regulation precludes public dis-
closure about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements 
We have been appointed as “réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé” by the General Meeting of the Shareholders  
on May 24, 2022, and the duration of our uninter-
rupted engagement, including previous renewals 
and reappointments, is 3 years.

The combined management report is consistent 
with the annual accounts and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.  

The corporate governance statement, included in 
the consolidated management report, is the respon-
sibility of the Management Board. The information 
required by article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and 
d) of the law of 19 December 2002 on the commer-
cial and companies register and on the accounting 

ally or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these annual accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with EU Regulation 
N° 537/2014, the Law of July 23, 2016 and with ISAs as 
adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the annual accounts, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit proce-
dures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentio-
nal omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circums-
tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accoun-
ting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Management Board. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of Manage-
ment Board use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are requi-
red to draw attention in our report of the 
“réviseur d’entreprises agréé” to the related 
disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our report 
of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé”. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
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records and annual accounts of undertakings, as 
amended, is consistent with the annual accounts 
and has been prepared in accordance with applica-
ble legal requirements.

We have checked the compliance of the annual ac-
counts of the Company  as at December 31, 2022 
with relevant statutory requirements set out in the 
ESEF Regulation that are applicable to the annual ac-
counts. For the Company, it relates to:

Financial statements prepared in valid xHTML 
format;

In our opinion, the annual accounts of the Company  
as at December 31, 2022, identified as htg-2022-12-
31-en.zip, have been prepared, in all material re-
spects, in compliance with the requirements laid 
down in the ESEF Regulation.

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in EU Regulation No 537/2014 were not 
provided and that we remained independent of the 
Company in conducting the audit.

Ernst & Young
Société anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

Yves Even
Luxembourg, March 29, 2023
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Glossary
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Core KPIs

→ Booking Date December 3, 2022
→ Check-in Date August 10, 2023
→ Gross Booking Value EUR 3,000
→ Take Rate 10% 
→ Booking Revenues EUR 300

Booking Revenues* Booking Revenues is a non-GAAP 
operating metric to measure performance that is de-
fined as the net Euro value of bookings before cancel-
lations generated by transactions on the HomeToGo 
platforms in a reporting period (CPA, CPC, CPL and 
Subscriptions & Services). Booking Revenues do not 
correspond to, and should not be considered as alter-
native or substitute for IFRS Revenues recognized in 
accordance with IFRS. Contrary to IFRS Revenues, 
Booking Revenues are recorded at the point in time 
when the booking is made. Revenues from Subscrip-
tion & Services are considered equally for Booking 
Revenues as under IFRS to complement the view.

Onsite Booking Revenues and Onsite Share* Onsite 
Booking Revenues are a subset of Booking Reve-
nues. Onsite Bookings occur when the complete 
user journey is conducted on HomeToGo domains. 
Onsite Share is defined as ratio of Onsite CPA Book-
ing Revenues to Booking Revenues excluding Book-
ing Revenues from Subscriptions & Services that 
measures the penetration of our Partner base with 
our Onsite Product. Onsite Bookings allow the Group 
to realize a higher Take Rate and to establish a closer 
relationship with the user, which leads to lower mar-
keting expenses over time. Both effects result in a 
higher profitability of the Group.

IFRS Revenues Revenues according to IFRS account-
ing policies. CPA IFRS Revenues are recognized on 
check-in date. CPC and CPL Revenues are recognized 
on booking or click date. IFRS Revenues from Sub-
scriptions & Services are recognized over time or 
when services are provided. HomeToGo generates 
revenue through the following main revenue types:

Cost per Action (“CPA”) CPA is the largest 
revenue stream, whereby HomeToGo receives a 
percentage-based commission for successful 
onsite- or offsite booking referrals, which 
facilitate a stay. Depending on the contractual 

terms with the respective partner, the revenue 
for HomeToGo is either calculated as percentage 
of the commission or as percentage of the 
booking value (sometimes called revenue share).
Cost per Click (“CPC”) HomeToGo receives a 
fixed commission based on every successful 
referral click.
Cost per Lead (“CPL”) HomeToGo receives a 
fixed commission based on every successful 
referral inquiry (lead).
Subscriptions & Services are related to subscrip-
tion-based revenue from Partners who can use 
the platform for listing of their rental objects 
over a determined period.

Adjusted EBITDA* Net income (loss) before 
(i) income taxes; 
(ii) finance income, finance expenses; 
(iii) depreciation and amortization; 
adjusted for 
(iv) expenses for share-based compensation and 
(v) one-off items. One-off items relate to one-time 
and therefore non-recurring expenses and income 
outside the normal course of operational business. 
Among others those would include for example in-
come and expenses for business combinations and 
other merger & acquisitions (M&A) activities, litiga-
tion, restructuring, government grants and other 
items that are not recurring on a regular basis and 
thus impede comparison of the underlying opera-
tional performance between financial periods.

Further financial KPIs (Non-GAAP)

Gross Booking Value (GBV)* GBV is the gross EUR 
value of bookings on our platform in a reporting pe-
riod (including all components of the booking 
amount except for VAT). GBV is recorded at the time 
of booking and is not adjusted for cancellations or 
any other alterations after booking. For CPA transac-
tions, GBV includes the booking volume as reported 
by the Partner. For CPC, GBV is estimated by multi-
plying the total click value with the expected conver-
sion rate. The total click value is the duration of the 
search multiplied with the price per night of the 
clicked offer. This total click value is multiplied with 
the average conversion rate of that micro conversion 
source for CPA Partners in the respective month. 

Glossary



HomeToGo / Annual Report 2022

215GlossARy

CPA Take Rate* CPA Take Rate is the margin realized 
on the gross booking amount and defined as CPA 
Booking Revenues divided by GBV from CPA Book-
ing Revenues (excl. Revenues from Subscriptions & 
Services). 

Cancellation Rate Cancellation Rate reflects the share 
of Booking Revenues that are cancelled subsequent-
ly, however, before being recognized as IFRS Reve-
nues. This metric is not actively used for steering of 
the Group, but it is monitored continuously and 
used for forecasting and budget planning. 

Non-financial KPIs 

Bookings* Bookings represent the number of book-
ings generated by users of the HomeToGo platforms. 

CPA Basket Size* CPA Basket Size is defined as CPA 
Gross Booking Value per booking, before cancellations. 

Other defined terms 

AMIVAC Provides subscription listing services for 
both homeowners and professional agencies in 
France. AMIVAC SAS (Paris, France) is a direct (100%) 
subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH.

Campaign Builder One of the leading examples of 
HomeToGo’s proprietary advertising tech stack to ef-
ficiently scale marketing efforts across multiple mar-
kets and brands. Allows the automation of a large set 
of campaigns by targeting and grabbing search de- 
mand from millions of keywords, and serving highly 
tailored content to travelers on a destination basis.

e-domizil Specialist for vacation rentals, including 
brands e-domizil, e-domizil CH,  atraveo and tourist-on-
line.de. e-domizil GmbH (Frankfurt a.M., Germany) is a 
direct (100%) subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH and 
holds the two subsidiaries e-domizil AG (Zurich, Swit-
zerland) and Atraveo GmbH (Düsseldorf, Germany).

EscapadaRural ESCAPADA RURAL SERVICIOS PARA 
PROPIETARIOS SL (Barcelona, Spain) is a direct (100%) 
subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH.

Feries S.r.l Operating main websites agriturismo.it 
and casevacanza.it. Feries S.r.l (Milan, Italy) is a direct 
(100%) subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH.

HomeToGo Add-ons Additional services offered on 
our platform to offer a complete and convenient ex-

perience, such as cancellation protection and com-
prehensive insurance. 

HomeToGo Design System and White Label solution 
A proprietary modular tech platform used across 
various HomeToGo brands and external ones

HomeToGo Payments HomeToGo’s own payment 
solution developed in partnership with global mar-
ket-leading payment solutions.

NIST Cybersecurity framework that integrates indus-
try standards and best practices to help organiza-
tions manage their cybersecurity risks.

Offsite Transaction Transactions where the end 
booking happens on a Partner’s site (referral types 
could be CPA, CPC, CPL etc.).

Onsite Transaction Onsite CPA transaction, where 
complete user journey (from discovery to booking to 
payment) happens on HomeToGo domains.

Partners Contracted businesses (such as online trav-
el agencies, tour operators, property managers, oth-
er inventory suppliers, software partners) or private 
persons that distribute, manage or own accommo-
dations which they directly or indirectly list on Home-
ToGo Group platforms. 

Repeat Booking Revenues Booking Revenues com-
ing from existing customers,i.e. users of our platform 
that have placed at least one booking before.

Returning Visitor Clearly identifiable user, e.g. via 
cookie or login, returning to one of the HomeToGo 
Group websites. Hence, the user had at least one 
lifetime Visit before; data excl. Agriturismo, AMIVAC, 
e-domizil, EscapadaRural and SECRA.

SaaS Software as a service.

SECRA Offers software for hosts, rental agencies and 
destinations facilitates end-to-end management and 
marketing services for vacation rentals. SECRA GmbH 
and SECRA Bookings GmbH (both Sierksdorf, Germa-
ny) are direct (100%) subsidiaries of HomeToGo GmbH.

Smoobu All-in-one SaaS solution that connects self-ser-
vice hosts more easily to partners. Smoobu GmbH (Ber-
lin) is a direct (100%) subsidiary of HomeToGo GmbH.

*unaudited
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Financial calendar 
2023 

North Carolina (USA)
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Financial calendar
March 30, 2023

FY 2022 & Q4 2022 Financial Results and Earnings Call 

April 20, 2023

MM Warburg “Klein aber Fein” Conference 

May 3 – May 4, 2023

Goldman Sachs Small & Mid-Cap Symposium 

May 16, 2023

Q1 2023 Financial Results and Earnings Call

May 23, 2023

Annual General Meeting 2023 

June 19, 2023

Goldman Sachs Business Services, Leisure & Transport Conference

June 20 – June 21, 2023

dbAccess German Corporate Conference

August 15, 2023

Q2 2023 Financial Results and Earnings Call 

September 14, 2023

MM Warburg Small Cap Selection Conference, London 

September 18, 2023

Berenberg and Goldman Sachs German Corporate Conference

September 19, 2023

Baader Investment Conference

November 9, 2023

Q3 2023 Financial Results and Earnings Call 

November 9, 2023

Capital Markets Day 

November 27 – 29, 2023

Deutsches Eigenkapitalforum 2023 
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Imprint

HomeToGo SE
9, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg

Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register: B249273
IR@hometogo.com

Christoph Schuh
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Management Board

Dr. Patrick Andrae
Co-founder & CEO

Wolfgang Heigl
Co-founder & Chief Strategy Officer

Valentin Gruber
Chief Operating Officer

Steffen Schneider
Chief Financial Officer
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